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UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549
Form 10-K

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OHE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 28, 2013

OR

O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(df ®HE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
COMMISSION FILE NUMBER 0-19687

Syn

SYNALLOY CORPORATION
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its arart

Delaware 57-0426694
(State of incorporation) (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)
775 Spartan Blvd, Suite 102, P.O. Box 5627, Sphusn South Carolina 29304
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)
Registrant's telephone number, including area co@&4) 5853605
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(thefAct Name of each exchange on which registered:
Common Stock, $1.00 Par Value NASDAQ Global Market
(Title of Class)

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(ghefAct:
None

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a welbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405%e0B#dturities Act. YeBl No
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is notuiegd to file reports pursuant to Section 13 ortfBecl5(d) of the Act. Ye&l No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant @l filed all reports required to be filed by Seetk8 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of4L88rin¢
the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter petiatlithe registrant was required to file such reg)pand (2) has been subject to such filing nesents fc
the past 90 days. Y&l No[

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant ibsnitted electronically and posted on its corpokeb site, if any, every Interactive Data File riegd to bt
submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Réguol&-T during the preceding 12 months (or for such shigperiod that the registrant was require
submit and post such files). YB8 No[

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquilers pursuant to Item 405 of RegulatiorkSs not contained herein, and will not be contdirn® the best «
registrant's knowledge, in definitive proxy or inftation statements incorporated by reference inIRaf this Form 10-K or any amendment to thisrifol0-
K.O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant iarge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a-smcelerated filer or a smaller reporting comparse
definitions of "large accelerated filer," "acceledfiler" and “smaller reporting company” in Rdl2b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one)

Large accelerated Fil&d Accelerated fileix] Non-accelerated filell Smaller reporting compariy

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantsbell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the A¢gs] No[X]

Based on the closing price as of June 28, 2013;wivas the last business day of the registrant& recently completed second fiscal quarter, thyreagat
market value of the common stock held by rmdfiliates of the registrant was $93.0 million. Bdson the closing price as of February 24, 201d atjgrega
market value of common stock held by non-affiliatéfsthe registrant was $121.7 million. The registradid not have any noweting common equit
outstanding at either date.

The number of shares outstanding of the registranthmon stock as of February 24, 2014 was 8,685,23

Documents Incorporated By Reference
Portions of the Proxy Statement for the 2014 ansbateholders' meeting are incorporated by referemo Part 11l of this Form 10-K.
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Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K includes and incogbes by reference "forwatdeking statements” within the meaning of the fed
securities laws. All statements that are not hisébfacts are "forwardeoking statements."” The words "estimate," "prgjethtend," "expect,
"believe," "should," "anticipate,” "hope," "optintiis,” "plan,” "outlook," "should," "could,” "may" rad similar expressions identify forward-
looking statements. The forwatdeking statements are subject to certain risks wmzkrtainties, including without limitation thokentifiec
below, which could cause actual results to diffatenially from historical results or those anti¢grh Readers are cautioned not to place L
reliance on these forwatdeking statements. The following factors could smactual results to differ materially from histaliresults or tho:
anticipated: adverse economic conditions; the impacompetitive products and pricing; product dech@and acceptance risks; raw mati
and other increased costs; raw materials avaitgb#imployee relations; ability to maintain workferby hiring trained employees; custo
delays or difficulties in the production of prodsichew fracking regulations; a prolonged decreas#liprices; unforeseen delays in comple
the integrations of acquisitions; risks associatéti mergers, acquisitions, dispositions and othgransion activities; financial stability of «
customers; environmental issues; unavailabilitydebt financing on acceptable terms and exposurad®ased market interest rate r
inability to comply with covenants and ratios reqdi by our debt financing arrangements; abilityMveather an economic downturn; los:
consumer or investor confidence and other risksildet from time-totime in Synalloy Corporation's Securities and Exge Commissic
filings. Synalloy Corporation assumes no obligatiompdate any forward-looking information includedhis Annual Report on Form 10-K.

PART |

Item 1 Business

Synalloy Corporation, a Delaware corporation, wa®iporated in 1958 as the successor to a chemaalifacturing business founded in 1
Its charter is perpetual. The name was changedubn 31, 1967 from Blackman Uhler Industries, Incn Qune 3, 1988, the state
incorporation was changed from South Carolina tta®are. The Company's executive offices are locatet/'5 Spartan Boulevard, Suite 1
Spartanburg, South Carolina 29301 and 4301 DomiBmulevard, Suite 130, Glen Allen, Virginia 230&fhless indicated otherwise, the te

"Company," "we," "us," and "our" refer to Synall@prporation and our consolidated subsidiaries.

The Company's business is divided into two segmémsMetals Segment and the Specialty Chemicajsm8et. The Metals Segment oper
as Bristol Metals, LLC ("Bristol"), a wholly-ownesubsidiary of Synalloy Metals, Inc., Ram-Fab, LL&R#&m+ab") and Palmer of Tex
Tanks, Inc. ("Palmer"). Bristol manufactures stegsl steel and other alloy pipe ("BRISMET") and iigdtes piping systems ("BristolFab") fr
stainless steel, carbon steel and other alloyslewRam#¥ab fabricates piping systems from carbon, chrostanless steel and other allc
Palmer manufactures liquid storage solutions ampdusgion equipment. The Metals Segment's marketsida the chemical, petrochemi
pulp and paper, mining, power generation (includinglear), water and waste water treatment, liquatural gas ("LNG"), brewery, fo
processing, petroleum, pharmaceutical and otheustniés. The Specialty Chemicals Segment operateSlanufacturers Chemicals, LI
("MC"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Manufacturers Soap and Chen@ioahpany, located in Cleveland, Tennessee and maBeorgia, ar
CRI Tolling, LLC ("CRI Tolling"), located in Founta Inn, South Carolina. The Specialty ChemicalsrBegt produces specialty chemicals
dyes for the carpet, chemical, paper, metals, rginagricultural, fiber, paint, textile, automotivigetroleum, cosmetics, mattress, furnit
janitorial and other industrie

General

Metals Segment —This segment is comprised of three whallyned subsidiaries: Synalloy Metals, Inc., whichnewl00 percent of Brist
Metals, LLC, located in Bristol, Tennessee; RRab, LLC, located in Crossett, Arkansas; and Patmh&exas Tanks, Inc., located in Andre
Texas.

BRISMET manufactures welded pipe, primarily froraistess steel, but also from other corrosiesistant metals. Pipe is produced in ¢
from one-half inch to 120 inches in diameter and wéckness up to one and one-half inches. EigiMaeh and smaller diameter pipe is m
on equipment that forms and welds the pipe in aigoous process. Pipe larger than 18 inches in elienis formed on presses or rolls
welded on batch welding equipment. Pipe is normaltyduced in standard Z6et lengths. However, BRISMET has unusual cap@édsliin the
production of long length pipe without circumferiahtwelds. This can reduce installation cost fa tustomer. Lengths up to 60 feet ca
produced in sizes up to 18 inches in diameterailgdr sizes BRISMET has a unique ability among dim@roducers to make 48et length:
in diameters up to 36 inches. Over the past sixsyeBristol has made substantial capital improvesén both BRISMET and BristolF
expanding and improving capabilities to service katw requiring large diameter pipe and specialiyygbipe such as water and waste w
treatment, LNG, and scrubber applications for tbagr industry. These improvements include expandisg-ray facilities which allow
simultaneous




use of real time and film examination; updating enal handling equipment; expanding capabilitiesfioming large pipe on existing ba
equipment, giving BRISMET the capability to prodi8finch diameter pipe in 4®ot lengths with wall thicknesses of up to onehinadding
a shear that has the capacity of shearing staistestplate up to oniech thick; completing plant expansions that alkhv manufacture of pi
up to 42 inches in diameter utilizing more readiliailable raw materials at lower costs, provideitamithl manufacturing capacity, and prov
improved product handling and additional spacepfanned equipment additions; and installing autechdtydrotesting equipment for pipe
to 72 inches in diameter.

A portion of the pipe produced is further processed piping systems that conform to engineeredvirgs furnished by the customers. 1
allows the customer to take advantage of the higglity and efficiencies of BristolFab and Rdmab ("Synalloy Fabrication") rather tt
performing all of the welding at the constructigre sBristolFab's pipe fabrication shop can make and ondialf inch diameter cold bends
one-half inch through eight-inch stainless pipenfticknesses up through schedule 40S.

Ram+¥ab's carbon, stainless and chrome alloy pipedation enhances BristolFab's operations, givingstggnent the capability to quote or
types of pipe fabrication projects utilizing anyndoination of these three material types. Raaf, which was purchased by the Compal
2009, was established over 20 years ago in Crogg#tinsas and provides affordable, quality pig&itation in carbon and stainless steel
high chrome alloys. From power plants to refineieschemical plants, Rafab serves a broad range of customers, both damasi
international. As a carbon and stainless steelhagid chrome pipe fabrication facility, RaRab is poised to take advantage of the antici
increase in the construction of power generati@mtgl utilizing low cost natural gas, as well asleac Refinery upgrades and environme
work will also add to the requirements of qualibhop-fabricated carbon steel and high chrome systefisce BRISMET does not manufact
carbon or chrome alloy pipe these materials arelased from outside suppliers. During 2010, Reah-completed a capital project to ac
temperature and humidity controlled paint facil@mce the majority of its carbon steel fabricatsystems requires painting, this increased
production throughput and improved quality.

Palmer is an International Organization for Staddation ("ISO") 9001 certified manufacturer ofdiiglass and steel tanks for the oil and
waste water treatment and municipal water industtiecated in Andrews, Texas, Palmer is ideallyated in the heart of oil and gas produc
territory. Palmer produces madeddder fiberglass tanks, utilizing a variety of @rmat mandrels and application specific materials. if
fiberglass tanks range from two feet to 30 feetliemmeter at various heights. The majority of thises are used for oil field waste wi
capture and is an integral part of the environnmerggulatory compliance of the drilling process.ckdiberglass tank is manufacturec
American Petroleum Institute Q1 standards to enpuoeluct quality. In 2007, Palmer began investingaidedicated steel tank produc
facility. Over the past four years, Palmer hasthauril integrated production facility housing encthséeel preparation, computer assisted pl;
cutting table, automated submerged arc weldingstinig, painting and drying buildings. The facilignables efficient, environmente
compliant steel production with designedexpansion capability to support future growtmished steel tanks range in size from 50 to 1(
barrels and are used to store extracted oil.

In order to establish stronger business relatigrsshunly a few raw material suppliers are usede8euppliers furnish about 71 percent of -
dollar purchases of raw materials, with one supglienishing 24 percent of material purchases. H@axethe Company does not believe
the loss of this supplier would have a materiatlyexse effect on the Company as raw materialsemdily available from a number of differ
sources, and the Company anticipates no difficultiulfilling its requirements.

This segment's stainless steel products are usedpaily by customers requiring materials that acerosion-resistant or suitable for high
purity processes. The largest users are the chempetaochemical, pulp and paper, waste waterrimeat and LNG industries, with some ol
important industry users being mining, power getiena (including nuclear), water treatment, brewefgpd processing, petroleu
pharmaceutical and alternative fuels. The segmeattson and chrome alloy products are used prignarithe power generation and chem
industries.

Specialty Chemicals Segment Fhis segment consists of the Company's whollyred subsidiary Manufacturers Soap and Chemicalp2oy
("MS&C"). MS&C owns 100 percent of MC, which is lated in Cleveland, Tennessee and Dalton, GeongiaC&I Tolling which is located
Fountain Inn, South Carolina. Both facilities atdlyf licensed for chemical manufacture. The segnm@otduces specialty chemicals for
carpet, chemical, paper, metals, mining, agricaltuiiber, paint, textile, automotive, petroleunosmetics, mattress, furniture, janitorial

other industries.

MC, which was purchased by the Company in 1996dyres over 1,100 specialty formulations and inteliates for use in a wide variety
applications and industries. MC's primary prodiroed focus on the areas of defoamers, surfactawtdudricating agents. Over 20 years i
MC began diversifying its marketing efforts and amging beyond traditional textile chemical markdtsese three fundamental product |
find their way into a large number of manufacturtngsinesses. Over the years, the customer lisgtoasn to include end users and chen
companies that supply paper, metal working, surtaings, water treatment, paint, mining and @it applications. MC's capabilities a
include the sulfation of fats and oils. These pigiare used in




a wide variety of applications and represent awaide resource, animal and vegetable derivativesltarnatives to more expensive and nol
renewable petroleum derivatives. In its Dalton, @&ofacility, MC stores and ships chemicals anécggty chemicals manufactured in M
Cleveland, Tennessee plant to the carpet and ruketa

MC's strategy has been to focus on industries amttets that have good prospects for sustainalilithe U.S. in light of global trends. M(
marketing strategy relies on sales to end useasigffir its own sales force, but it also sells chehiidarmediates to other chemical compa
and distributors. It also has close working reladitips with a significant number of major chemicampanies that outsource their produc
for regional manufacture and distribution to conipatike MC. MC has been ISO registered since 1995.

CRI Tolling, which acquired substantially all ofettassets of Color Resources, LLC and the facititynerly used by Color Resources, LLC
August 2013, is located in Fountain Inn, South Gaao CRI Tolling has underutilized manufacturingpacity which allows the Company
expand production from MC's Cleveland, Tennesseiitfato further penetrate existing markets, adlwae develop new ones, including th
in the energy industry, and provides redundant getidn capabilities for key products. The Compalanp to invest approximately $3,500,!
in equipment at CRI Tolling during 2014. The newiggent will provide CRI Tolling with production pabilities similar to those currently
place at MC's facility and will almost double theguction capacity of the Specialty Chemicals Segme

The Specialty Chemicals Segment maintains two ktbdies for applied research and quality contraolcwlare staffed by nine employees.

Most raw materials used by the segment are geperadiilable from numerous independent suppliersadomlit 50 percent of total purchases
from its top seven suppliers. While some raw mataereeds are met by a sole supplier or only a feppléers, the Company anticipates
difficulties in fulfilling its raw material requiraents.

Please see Note 13 to the Consolidated Finan@&idents, which are included in Item 8 of this FAOK, for financial information about tl
Company's segments.

Sales and Distribution

Metals Segment —The Metals Segment utilizes separate sales orgamsafor its different product groups. Stainlesse$ pipe is sol
nationwide under the BRISMET trade name throughaniged stocking distributors at warehouse locatittmoughout the country. In additi
large quantity orders are shipped directly from 8RET's plant to endiser customers. Producing sales and providingetwoithe distributo
and enddser customers are BRISMET's President, two outsédies employees, twelve independent manufactuegeesentatives and n
inside sales employees. The Metals Segment hasdomestic customer that accounted for approximagddwen percent of the Met
Segment's revenues in 2013. These revenues wettgef@echtel nuclear project which will not recarthe future. The Company believes
it will be able to grow base stainless steel piglesto completely offset the loss of these revenu®014. A different customer amounte
ten percent of the Metals Segment's revenues ifi.ZlHere were no customers representing more #rapdrcent of the segment's revenue
2012.

Fabrication systems are sold nationwide under fheal®y Fabrication, BristolFab, Bristol Piping $¢ms and Ranfrab trade names by t
outside sales employees. They are under the direcf Synalloy Fabrications' General Manager. SggaFabrication also uses se'
independent manufacturers' representatives to readrexpand its customer base. Fabrication systemsnarketed to engineering firms
construction companies or directly to project ovenédrders are normally received as a result of etitive bids submitted in response
inquiries and bid proposals.

Palmer does not employ a dedicated external sakbsnarketing resource. However, it employs twodasiales professionals that manag:
relationships with past customers to identify arduse new sales. Additionally, the Metals SegmeasiBlent assists in account relation
management with large customers. Customer feeddrattkn-field experience generate product enhancenaer new product development.

Specialty Chemicals Segment Specialty chemicals are sold directly to varioudustries nationwide by five futime outside sales employ:
and fourteen manufacturers' representatives. Tieei&py Chemicals Segment has one domestic custtrataccounted for approximately
percent of the Segment's revenues in 2013, 28 mence2012 and 24 percent in 2011. This customea large global company, and
purchases by this customer are derived from sewiffakent business units that operate autonomofrsty each other. Even so, loss of
customer's revenues would have a material advéfieset en both the Specialty Chemicals Segment hadCtompany.

Competition

Metals Segment Welded stainless steel pipe is the largest salesneproduct of the Metals Segment. Although infation is not publicl
available regarding the sales of most other produakthis product, management believes that thag2my is
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one of the largest domestic producers of such gipes commodity product is highly competitive wighght known domestic producers
imports from many different countries. The largeates volume among the noommodity specialized products comes from fabmg
stainless, nickel alloys, chrome alloys and carpiping systems. Management believes the Companoyésof the largest producers of s
systems. There is also significant competitiorhia piping systems' markets with thirteen known detinesuppliers with similar capabilities
BristolFab and Ranfab, along with many other smaller suppliers. Dughe size of the tanks produced and shipped toussomers, tt
majority of Palmer's product is sold within a 300emradius from its plant in Andrews, Texas. Thare currently eight tank producers, v
similar capabilities, servicing that same area.

Specialty Chemicals Segment ¥he Company is the sole producer of certain spgc@iemicals manufactured for other companies t
processing agreements and also produces proprigtagialty chemicals. The Company's sales of siyegieoducts are insignificant compa
to the overall market for specialty chemicals. Tierket for most of the products is highly compeditand many competitors have substant
greater resources than does the Company.

Mergers, Acquisitions and Dispositions

The Company is committed to a lotgrm strategy of (a) reinvesting capital in ourreut business segments to foster their organic traww
(b) completing acquisitions that expand our curremsiness segments or establish new manufactutatépims. Targeted acquisitions
priced to be economically feasible and focus orieatg positive longeerm benefits. These acquisitions may be paidrfdhé form of cas
stock, debt or a combination thereof. The amoudttspe of consideration and deal charges paid coale a shorterm dilutive effect on tf
Company's earnings per share. However, such trmsa@re anticipated to provide long-term econdbpeinefit to the Company.

In August, 2013, the Company completed the purclidighe business assets of Color Resources, LLAR"Cand the building and lai
located in Fountain Inn, South Carolina where CRbkwhe sole tenant (the “CRI Facility'GRI Tolling, a South Carolina limited liabili
company and wholly-owned subsidiary of the Compamyl, continue CRI5S business as that of a toll manufacturer that igesvoutsid
manufacturing resources to global and regional étentompanies. On August 9, 2013 , Synalloy pusedathe CRI Facility for a to
purchase price of $3,450,000 . On August 26, 20t ,Company purchased certain assets and assuartath ®perating liabilities of ClI
through CRI Tolling for a total purchase price df#0,000 . The assets purchased from CRI incladedunts receivable, inventory, cer
other assets, and equipment, net of assumed payaile Company plans to use the acquisition of @il the CRI facility to expand
production capacity from its Cleveland, Tennessedity to further penetrate existing markets, asdlwas develop new ones, including thos
the energy industry. CRI Tolling operates as asitivi of Synalloys Specialty Chemicals Segment, which includes M@& Tompany viewe
both the building and operating assets of CRI togreds one business, capable of providing a retuownership by expanding the segme
production capacity. Accordingly, the acquisitioretmthe definition of a business and the transadsostructured in a way that meets
definition of a business combination under accognsitandards generally accepted in the United Stdtdmerica ("GAAP").

On August 21, 2012, the Company completed the asectof all of the outstanding shares of capitatkstf LeeVar, Inc. (now Palmer 1
Texas Tanks, Inc.), a Texas corporation doing kassiras Palmer of Texas ("Palmer"), pursuant t@ek ghurchase agreement (the "SF
among Palmer's former shareholders and the Comgatgd August 10, 2012. Palmer is a manufactureligafd storage solutions a
separation equipment for the petroleum, municipatiewy wastewater, chemical and food industries.

The purchase price for the Palmer acquisition w2 55,000 in cash, and subject to working capital fixed asset adjustments at clos
The adjustments at closing increased the purchése tp $26,951,209. In addition, the amount ofmteriance expenditures over therti8ntt
period following closing and the final cost of apbguction expansion capital project currently undgrveould also result in purchase p
adjustments. Currently, the Company does not expreaealize any material purchase price adjustmémis these two items. Paln
shareholders also have the ability to receive ogetit consideration ("eawout") payments ranging from $2,500,000 to $10,500,0 the
business unit achieves targeted levels of earrfiedsre interest, taxes, depreciation and amortinaffEBITDA") over a three year peri
following closing; and the Company will have theliépto claw-back portions of the purchase price over a two peaiod following closing
EBITDA falls below baseline levels. The Palmer femshareholders received the first year earnpayment during 2013 of $2,500,000. -
amount was partially offset by claims made agatinstsellers, as designated in the SPA, amountirg8&5,000. The net amount paid to
sellers after the first year of Synalloy ownershigs $1,615,000.

Environmental Matters

Environmental expenditures that relate to an engstiondition caused by past operations and do arttibute to future revenue generation
expensed. Liabilities are recorded when environaleassessments and/or cleanups are probable anmbste of these assessments al
cleanups can be reasonably estimated. Changewsoalad environmental issues, including climate geamre made or proposed with s
frequency and some of the proposals, if adopteghtdirectly or indirectly result in a material rexdion in the operating results of one or n
of our operating units. We are presently unabl®tesee the future well
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enough to quantify such risks. See Note 5 to thesGlidated Financial Statements, which are includdtem 8 of this Form 1@, for furthe:
discussion.

Research and Development Activities

The Company spent approximately $558,000 in 20632®00 in 2012 and $352,000 in 2011 on researdidawelopment activities that wi
expensed in its Specialty Chemicals Segment. Radividuals, all of whom are graduate chemists, emgaged primarily in research
development of new products and processes, theoiraprent of existing products and processes, anddkelopment of new applications
existing products.

Seasonal Nature of the Business

With the exception of Palmer, the Companipusinesses and products are generally not subjecty seasonal impact that results in signifi
variations in revenues from one quarter to anothaimers fourth quarter revenue and profit can be as nasc®b percent below the other tt
quarters due to vacation schedules for customier érews working at the drill sites.

Backlogs

The Specialty Chemicals Segment operates primarilhe basis of delivering products soon after irdee received. Accordingly, backl
are not a factor in this business. The same appiepmmodity pipe sales in the Metals Segment. ¢éi@r, backlogs are important in
Metals Segment's fabrication products because aheyroduced only after orders are received, gypeas the result of competitive biddir
Order backlogs for these products were $50,75220@ end of 2013. Management continues to addtaffing levels, customer requireme
and outsourcing opportunities to complete the eurbacklog profitably and on schedule. The backéigled $19,300,000 and $22,700,0C
the 2012 and 2011 respective year ends. Palmepsadsinices steel and fiberglass tanks after ordersegeived. Its backlog of open orders
$11,477,000 at the end of 2013. Management begakitig Palmer backlog during the fourth quarte2013. Therefore, backlog levels
prior periods are not available.

Employee Relations

At December 28, 2013, the Company had 670 employides Company considers relations with employedsetsatisfactory. The numbet
employees of the Company represented by uniondpedited at the Bristol, Tennessee facility, is ,2d8 37 percent of the Compar
employees. They are represented by two localdaaéfd with the AFLEIO and one local affiliated with the Teamstersli€xive bargainin
contracts will expire in January 2015 and March 20The Company is currently in negotiations witte ttnion regarding the collecti
bargaining contract that expired February 2014.

Financial Information about Geographic Areas
Information about revenues derived from domestit faneign customers is set forth in Note 13 to@uasolidated Financial Statements.
Available information

The Company electronically files with the Secustend Exchange Commission ("SEC") its annual repmmtForm 10K, its quarterly repor
on Form 10-Q, its periodic reports on FornK8amendments to those reports filed or furnishedsgant to Section 13(a) of the Secur
Exchange Act of 1934 (the "1934 Act"), and proxytemials pursuant to Section 14 of the 1934 Act. Bf#C maintains a site on the Inter
www.sec.gov, that contains reports, proxy and informationestagnts, and other information regarding issuersfileaelectronically with th
SEC. The Company also makes its filings availafskes of charge, through its Web site, www.synalioyn, as soon as reasonably prac
after the electronic filing of such material withet SEC. The information on the Company's Web siteot incorporated into this Annual Rej
on Form 10-K or any other filing the Company makéth the SEC.

Item 1A Risk Factors

There are inherent risks and uncertainties assatiadth our business that could adversely affect aperating performance and finan
condition. Set forth below are descriptions of #hagks and uncertainties that we believe to beerist but the risks and uncertain
described are not the only risks and uncertairtias could affect our business. Reference shoulthade to "Forward-ooking Statement:
above, and "Management's Discussion and Analygisnaincial Condition and Results of Operationsitém 7 below.

The cyclical nature of the industries in which austomers operate causes demand for our productsetayclical, creating uncertair
regarding future profitability.Various changes in general economic conditionscaffiee industries in which our customers operateesi
changes include decreases in the rate of consummtiose of our customers’ products due to economic
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downturns. Other factors causing fluctuation in oustomerspositions are changes in market demand, capitaldspg, lower overall pricin
due to domestic and international overcapacity,eloyriced imports, currency fluctuations, and iases in use or decreases in price
substitute materials. As a result of these factaus profitability has been and may in the futueesibject to significant fluctuation.

Domestic competition could force lower product pricand may have an adverse effect on our reveand9rofitability. From time-totime,
intense competition and excess manufacturing cgpatithe commodity stainless steel industry hagsulted in reduced selling pric
excluding raw material surcharges, for many of stainless steel products sold by the Metals Segmeirder to maintain market share,
would have to lower our prices to match the contipeti These factors have had and may continue ¥e ha adverse impact on our reven
operating results and financial condition and maptinue to do so in the future.

Our business, financial condition and results oéi@tions could be adversely affected by an increédseel of imported product®ur busines
is susceptible to the import of products from otbeuntries, particularly steel products. Importisvof various products are affected by, an
other things, overall worldvide demand, lower cost of production in other d¢das, the trade practices of foreign governmegésiernmer
subsidies to foreign producers and governmentaijyoised trade restrictions in the United StatedidAlgh imports from certain countries h
been curtailed by anti-dumping duties, importeddpiads from

other countries at significantly reduced pricesenicreased in 2013. Our average selling pricesdonmodity pipe of the Metals Segm
decreased by thirteen percent for the year endezbrbeer 28, 2013 compared to the respective prionpaoable period, reducing ¢
profitability in the current year. Increased impodf certain products, whether illegal dumping egdl imports, could reduce demand for
products in the future and adversely affect ouir®ss, financial position, results of operationsash flows.

Raw material costs relating to the Metals Segmeatsabject to volatility, and we may be unabledise the price of our products to cover
or part of the increased cost of raw materials, ethwould have an adverse effect on our resultpefations and profitabilityRapid increast
in raw material costs may adversely affect ourltesaf operations, mainly for our fabrication anded tank operations as the entire produt
and sales model for these operations is based peatucing to order. During the bidding processduor fabrication and steel tank busines
we provide a quote on the project based upon cumearket prices for stainless and carbon steeépfape and fittings. Although we are abl
mitigate some of the adverse impact of rising raatanal costs, such as passing through surchaogasstomers, rapid changes in raw mat
costs during the period of time from when we bidtba project to when the materials were orderedldvoeduce our profitability on th
project.

Although there historically has been ample avdlifgbof raw materials, there continues to be a #igant consolidation of stainless st
suppliers throughout the world, which could havdarapact on the cost and availability of stainlegsebkin the future. The ability to implem:
price increases is dependent on market conditecmomic factors, raw material costs, includingckarges on stainless steel, availabilit
raw materials, competitive factors, operating castd other factors, most of which are beyond omtroh To the extent that we have quc
prices to customers and accepted customer ordepsdducts prior to purchasing necessary raw natemr have existing contracts, we ma
unable to raise the price of products to coveorll portion of the increased cost of the raw niater

The Specialty Chemicals Segment uses significanitigies of a variety of specialty and commoditgroicals in its manufacturing proces:
which are subject to price and availability fluctiens that may have an adverse impact on our firmerformanceThe raw materials we u
are generally available from numerous independgppléers. However, some of our raw material negdswet by a sole supplier or only a-
suppliers. If any supplier that we rely on for ravaterials ceases or limits production, we may irgignificant additional costs, includi
capital costs, in order to find alternate, reliatsle material suppliers. We may also experienceifidggnt production delays while locating n
supply sources, which could result in our failwditmely deliver products to our customers. Pureh@arices and availability of these critical |
materials are subject to volatility. Some of the materials used by the Specialty Chemicals Segmentierived from petrochemidaése:
feedstock, such as crude oil and natural gas, wiisle been subject to historical periods of rapid significant movements in price. Th
fluctuations in price could be aggravated by faxtoeyond our control such as political instabiléyd supply and demand factors, inclu
Organization of the Petroleum Exporting Countri&8REC") production quotas and increased global aehfiar petroleurbased products. .
any given time we may be unable to obtain an adeqgswapply of these critical raw materials on a tymeasis, at prices and other te
acceptable, or at all. If suppliers increase theepof critical raw materials, we may not have ral#tive sources of supply. We attempt to
changes in the prices of raw materials along toaustomers. However, we cannot always do so, agdiaitation on our ability to pa:
through any price increases could have an advdieset en our financial performance. Any significarriations in the cost and availability
our specialty and commodity materials may negatiadfect our business, financial condition or réswf operations, specifically for t
Specialty Chemicals Segment.




We rely on a small number of suppliers for our nanaterials and any interruption in our supply chaiould affect our operation$n order tc
foster stronger business relationships, the M&algment uses only a few raw material suppliersinguhe year ended December 28, 2
seven suppliers furnished approximately 71 peroérgur total dollar purchases of raw materials,hwitne supplier providing 24 perce
However, these raw materials are available fronuraber of sources, and the Company anticipatesffioutlies in fulfilling its raw material
requirements for the Metals Segment. Raw materaklsd by the Specialty Chemicals Segment are génexahilable from numerol
independent suppliers and approximately 50 persktdtal purchases were made from our top sevepligup during the year ended Decen
28, 2013. Although some raw material needs arebwet single supplier or only a few suppliers, th@m@any anticipates no difficulties
fulfilling its raw material requirements for the &palty Chemicals Segment. While the Company belahat raw materials for both segm
are readily available from numerous sources, the ¢t one or more key suppliers in either segnwrany other material change in our cur
supply channels, could have an adverse effect@iCtdmpanys ability to meet the demand for its products, Wtdould impact our operatiol
revenues and financial results.

A substantial portion of our overall sales is degent upon a limited number of customers, and the & one or more of such customers w
have a material adverse effect on our businessiltesf operation and profitabilityThe products of the Specialty Chemicals Segmenseaic
to various industries nationwide. However, thatnsegt has one domestic customer that accountefwprimately 40 percent of revenue
2013, 28 percent of revenues in 2012 and 24 peofeeivenues in 2011. This customer is a largealobmpany, and its purchases are de
from several different business units that opeirsdependently of each other. Even so, the lostiefdustomer would have a material adv
effect on the revenues of the Specialty Chemicagn®&nt and the Company.

The Metals Segment has one domestic customer tcauated for approximately eleven percent of thgmemnts revenues in 2013. The
revenues were for the Bechtel nuclear project whithnot recur in the future. The Company belietieat it will be able to grow base stainl
steel pipe sales to completely offset the loshe$¢ revenues in 2014. A different domestic cust@oeounted for ten percent of the segeent
revenues in 2011. No customer accounted for mae thn percent of the segmentevenues for 2012. Palmer, which is a part ofMietals
Segment, sells much of its products to the oil gaslindustry. Any change in this industry, or ahgi@ye in this industry’s demand for Palrser’
products, would have a material adverse effecherptofits of the Metals Segment and the Company.

Our operating results are sensitive to the avaiipiand cost of energy and freight, which are impaot in the manufacture and transpor
our productsOur operating costs increase when energy or freigsts rise. During periods of increasing energy fagight costs, we might r
be able to fully recover our operating cost incesathrough price increases without reducing denfanaur products. In addition, we i
dependent on third party freight carriers to tramspnany of our products, all of which are dependsnfuel to transport our products. -
prices for and availability of electricity, naturgds, oil, diesel fuel and other energy resourcesabject to volatile market conditions. Tt
market conditions often are affected by politicatlaaconomic factors beyond our control. Disruptionghe supply of energy resources ct
temporarily impair the ability to manufacture pratkifor customers and may result in the declinfed§ht carrier capacity in our geograr
markets, or make freight carriers unavailable. lk@ntincreases in energy or freight costs that aaba passed on to customers, or chanc
costs relative to energy and freight costs paiddypetitors, has adversely affected, and may coatio adversely affect, our profitability.

Oil prices are extremely volatile. A substantialextended decline in the price of oil could advisrsdfect our financial condition and results
operations.Prices for oil can fluctuate widely. Our Palmertismirevenues are highly dependent on our customeliagadil well drilling ant
pumping locations. Should oil prices decline suddt drilling becomes unprofitable for our customersch customers will likely cap many
their current wells and cease or curtail expansitis will decrease the demand for our tanks anvesetly affect the results of our operations.

Significant changes in nickel prices could haverapact on the sales by the Metals SegniEm. Metals Segment uses nickel in a number
products. Nickel prices are currently at a reldyivew level, which reduces our manufacturing cdstscertain products. When nickel pri
increase, many of our customers increase theirsiidean attempt to avoid future price increasesulting in increased sales for the Me
Segment. Conversely, when nickel prices decreaaaymf our customers wait to place orders in aanatt to take advantage of subseq
price decreases, resulting in reduced sales fokMttals Segment. On average, the Metals Segmert itsr inventory of commodity pipe ew
four months, but the nickel surcharge on salesoafrnodity pipe is established on a weekly basis. difference, if any, between the price
nickel on the date of purchase of the raw mataal the price, as established by the surchargtheodate of sale has the potential to crea
inventory profit or loss. If the price of nickelesidily increases over time, as it did from 2002@67, the Metals Segment is the beneficia
the increase in nickel price in the form of invemtgains. Conversely, if the price of nickel stdadiecreases over time, as it has from 20(
2013, the Metals Segment suffers inventory los8esa result of decreasing nickel prices, we inaliireventory losses of $3,103,000 for
year ended December 28, 2013. We will incur addétionventory losses in the future if nickel prickescrease. Any material changes in the
of nickel could impact our sales and result intiliations in the profits for the Metals Segment.
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We encounter significant competition in all aredsoar businesses and may be unable to competeiedigc which could result in reduc
profitability and loss of market sharwWe actively compete with companies producing theesar similar products and, in some instances,
companies producing different products designedifersame uses. We encounter competition from doniestic and foreign sources in pr
delivery, service, performance, product innovatéod product recognition and quality, depending lwn groduct involved. For some of
products, our competitors are larger and have grdatancial resources than we do. As a resultsgheompetitors may be better abli
withstand a change in conditions within the indestin which we operate, a change in the priceswwfmaterials or a change in the econon
a whole. Our competitors can be expected to coattoudevelop and introduce new and enhanced produad more efficient producti
capabilities, which could cause a decline in madateptance of our products. Current and futures@atation among our competitors i
customers also may cause a loss of market shaselhas put downward pressure on pricing. Our cditgre could cause a reduction in
prices for some of our products as a result ofnisifeed price competition. Competitive pressures akso result in the loss of major custorr
If we cannot compete successfully, our businesanitial condition and profitability could be adwaysaffected.

Our lengthy sales cycle for the Specialty Chemic&dgment makes it difficult to predict quarterlwerue levels and operating rest
Purchasing the products of the Specialty ChemiSalgment is a major commitment on the part of ostauers. Before a potential custo
determines to purchase products from the Spedtigmicals Segment, the Company must produce tedupr material so that the poten
customer is satisfied that we can manufacture aymtoto their specifications. The production of lsuest materials is a timsnsumin
process. Accordingly, the sales process for pradictthe Specialty Chemicals Segment is a lengtioggss that requires a consider
investment of time and resources on our part. Assalt, the timing of our revenues is difficultpeedict, and the delay of an order could c
our quarterly revenues to fall below our expectatiand those of the public market analysts andsiove.

A significant portion of our sales results from quetitive bidding, which is a long and unpredictapl®cessin both of our business segme
many of our sales efforts are based on competitidding situations with existing and potential @msers in which we must fix a price early
the process. This is often a slow and lengthy E®dteat requires us to spend considerable timeesulirces. Moreover, it is an unpredict
process and we are not always successful in odirtgd The unpredictability of the competitive biddiprocess makes it difficult to predict
quarterly revenues with any degree of certaintythin event we do not accurately predict our costs @roject, we will not realize our pre
expectations and may in fact incur a loss on thaiqular project. Many factors which are out of eantrol may adversely affect our profit ¢
project.

Our operations expose us to the risk of environalehealth and safety liabilities and obligationghich could have a material adverse el
on our financial condition, results of operationsaash flowsWe are subject to numerous federal, state and &vatonmental protection a
health and safety laws governing, among other thing

» the generation, use, storage, treatment, trangmortaisposal and management of hazardous sulestamt] waste
* emissions or discharges of pollutants or othertsmogs into the environme

» investigation and remediation of, and damages tiagutrom, releases of hazardous substance:

» the health and safety of our employ:

Under certain environmental laws, we can be halidtlst liable for hazardous substance contaminatiérany real property we have e
owned, operated or used as a disposal site. Walsoeequired to maintain various environmentahper and licenses, many of which req
periodic modification and renewal. Our operationtaé the risk of violations of those laws and regions, and we cannot assure you tha
have been or will be at all times in compliancelwvétl of these requirements. In addition, thesaiiregnents and their enforcement may bec
more stringent in the future.

We have incurred, and expect to continue to inadditional capital expenditures in addition to aatly course costs to comply with applic:
environmental laws, such as those governing aisgnrns and wastewater discharges. Our failure ngpbowith applicable environmental la
and permit requirements could result in civil amdddminal fines or penalties, enforcement actiars] regulatory or judicial orders enjoin
or curtailing operations or requiring correctiveaseres such as the installation of pollution cdreégquipment, which could have a mate
adverse effect on our financial condition, resaftsperations or cash flows.

We are currently, and may in the future be, reguie investigate, remediate or otherwise addresdacaination at our current or forn
facilities. Many of our current and former fac#isi have a history of industrial usage for whichitiatthl investigation, remediation or ot
obligations could arise in the future and that douaterially adversely affect our business, finahcondition, results of operations or c
flows. In addition, we are currently and, couldlie future be, responsible for costs to addrestaunation identified at any real property
used as a disposal site.




Although we cannot predict the ultimate cost of ptiance with any of the requirements described abdive costs could be material. Non
compliance could subject us to material liabilitissch as government fines, third-party lawsuitthersuspension of naempliant operation
We also may be required to make significant sitemerational modifications at substantial cost.uFeitdevelopments also could restric
eliminate the use of or require us to make modifices to our products, which could have a significaegative impact on our results
operations and cash flows. At any given time, we iavolved in claims, litigation, administrativeqmeedings and investigations of vari
types involving potential environmental liabilitieiscluding cleanup costs associated with hazardeaste disposal sites at our facilities.
cannot assure you that the resolution of theser@mviental matters will not have a material advexféect on our results of operations or ¢
flows. The ultimate costs and timing of environnatniiabilities are difficult to predict. Liabilityunder environmental laws relating
contaminated sites can be imposed retroactivelyoana joint and several basis. We could incur $iggmit costs, including cleanup costs, ¢
or criminal fines and sanctions and third-partyrolg as a result of past or future violations ofli@bilities under, environmental laws.

We could be subiject to third party claims for pmtpe&lamage, personal injury, nuisance or othenasea result of violations of, or liabiliti
under, environmental, health or safety laws in emtion with releases of hazardous or other magedtlany current or former facility. \
could also be subject to environmental indemnifigatlaims in connection with assets and businettsgsve have acquired or divested.

There can be no assurance that any future capitbperating expenditures to maintain compliandé emvironmental laws, as well as cos!
address contamination or environmental claims, moll exceed any current estimates or adverselgtafier financial condition and results
operations. In addition, any unanticipated lialgtor obligations arising, for example, out ofcdigery of previously unknown conditions
changes in laws or regulations, could have an adveffect on our business, financial conditionultef operations or cash flows.

We are dependent upon the continued operation opmduction facilities, which are subject to a noen of hazardsln both of our busine
segments, but especially in the Specialty ChemiSalsment, our production facilities are subjechaaards associated with the manufac
handling, storage and transportation of chemiceknas and products, including leaks and ruptueaplosions, fires, inclement weather
natural disasters, unscheduled downtime and emmieotal hazards which could result in liability faorkplace injuries and fatalities.
addition, some of our production capabilities aighly specialized, which limits our ability to shifroduction to another facility in the even
an incident at a particular facility. If a produartifacility, or a critical portion of a productidacility, were temporarily shut down, we lik
would incur higher costs for alternate sources ugpdy for our products. We cannot assure you thatwill not experience these types
incidents in the future or that these incidentd wit result in production delays, failure to timéulfill customer orders or otherwise hav
material adverse effect on our business, finardatition or results of operations.

Certain of our employees in the Metals Segmentcaxered by collective bargaining agreements, aredftlilure to renew these agreem
could result in labor disruptions and increased dalzosts.As of December 28, 2013, we had 249 employees septed by unions at ¢
Bristol, Tennessee facility, which is 37 percenttef aggregate number of Company employees. Thmpkygees are represented by two |
unions affiliated with the American Federation adidor and Congress of Industrial Organizations (#hEL-CIO”) and one local unic
affiliated with the International Brotherhood ofdresters (the “Teamsters Union”). The collectivegharing contracts for one of the ARCIO
unions and for the Teamsters Union will expire amudary 2015 and March 2015, respectively. The ctiMe bargaining contract for the ot
AFL-CIO union expired in February 2014. The Compangugently in negotiations with this union regardiaghew collective bargainii
agreement. Although we believe that our preserntrladiations are satisfactory, our failure to reribese agreements on reasonable terms
current agreements expire could result in labaugigons and increased labor costs, which couleesbly affect our financial performance.

Our current capital structure includes indebtedneskich is secured by all or substantially all afrcassets and which contains restric
covenants that may prevent us from obtaining adegwarking capital, making acquisitions or capitaprovements.

Our existing credit facilities contain restrictieevenants that limit our ability to, among otheings, borrow money or guarantee the deb
others, use assets as security in other transactioake investments or other restricted paymenthstributions, change our business or ¢
into new lines of business, and sell or acquiretassr merge with or into other companies. In adidjtour credit facilities require us to m
financial ratios which could limit our ability tolam for or react to market conditions or meet extiianary capital needs and could othen
restrict our financing activities. Our ability tmmply with the covenants and other terms of ouditracilities will depend on our futu
operating performance. If we fail to comply withcbucovenants and terms, we will be in default dmel rhaturity of any then outstand
related debt could be accelerated and become inatebddue and payable. In addition, in the everdumh a default, our lender may refus
advance additional funds, demand immediate repatywfeaur outstanding indebtedness, and elect tecfose on our assets that secure
credit facilities.

There were no events of default under the covenafntaur credit facilities at December 28, 2013.haligh we believe we will remain
compliance with these covenants in the foresedahlee and that our relationship with our lendesti®ng, there is
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no assurance our lender would consent to an amertdmevaiver in the event of noncompliance; or thath consent would not be conditio
upon the receipt of a cash payment, revised prah@pyout terms, increased interest rates or oéisins in the expansion of the credit facili
for the foreseeable future, or that our lender wadt exercise rights that would be available snthincluding, among other things, deman
payment of outstanding borrowings. In addition, ability to obtain additional capital or alternaitorrowing arrangements at reasonable
may be adversely affected. All or any of these aslvevents would further limit our flexibility ingnning for, or reacting to, downturns in
business.

We may need new or additional financing in theritio expand our business or refinance existinglitéddness, and our inability to obt
capital on satisfactory terms or at all may haveamverse impact on our operations and our finanogslults.If we are unable to access cay
on satisfactory terms and conditions, we may noaltle to expand our business or meet our paymemiregments under our existing cre
facilities. Our ability to obtain new or addition@hancing will depend on a variety of factors, masf which are beyond our control. We n
not be able to obtain new or additional financiregduse we may have substantial debt or becauseaywenot have sufficient cash flows
service or repay our existing or future debt. Iditidn, depending on market conditions and ourriial performance, equity financing may
be available on satisfactory terms or at all. If are unable to access capital on satisfactory temdsconditions, this could have an adv
impact on our operations and our financial results.

Our existing property and liability insurance coages contain exclusions and limitations on coveraye have maintained various forms
insurance, including insurance covering claimsteglato our properties and risks associated with @pgrations. From time-tome, ir
connection with renewals of insurance, we have ggpeed additional exclusions and limitations omerage, larger selfisured retentions a
deductibles and higher premiums, primarily from ¢iperations of the Specialty Chemicals Segment Aesult, our existing coverage may
be sufficient to cover any losses we may incur iartthe future our insurance coverage may not colams to the extent that it has in the |
and the costs that we incur to procure insurancg imerease significantly, either of which could kaan adverse effect on our result
operations or cash flows.

We may not be able to make the operational and ymbdhanges necessary to continue to be an eféectimpetitor We must continue

enhance our existing products and to develop antlfaature new products with improved capabilitieider to continue to be an effec
competitor in our business markets. In addition,muest anticipate and respond to changes in indssarydards that affect our products ant
needs of our customers. We also must continue teerimprovements in our productivity in order to mtain our competitive position. Wh
we invest in new technologies, processes or pramtuctpabilities, we face risks related to congtamcdelays, cost ovamuns and unanticipat
technical difficulties.

The success of any new or enhanced products wikr on a number of factors, such as technologicalvations, increased manufactul
and material costs, customer acceptance, and tfierpance and quality of the new or enhanced predues we introduce new products
refine existing products, we cannot predict theelexf market acceptance or the amount of marketestieese new or enhanced products
achieve. Moreover, we may experience delays inntneduction of new or enhanced products. Any maatufring delays or problems with n
or enhanced product launches will adversely affeictoperating results. In addition, the introductaf new products could result in a decrt
in revenues from existing products. Also, we magcheore capital for product development and entraroé than is available to us, wh
could adversely affect our business, financial @ or results of operations. We sell our proguat industries that are affected
technological changes, new product introductiond ehanging industry standards. If we do not respbynddeveloping new products
enhancing existing products on a timely basis, maducts will become obsolete over time and ouenees, cash flows, profitability a
competitive position will suffer.

In addition, if we fail to accurately predict fueicustomer needs and preferences, we may inveatyhigathe development of new or enhan
products that do not result in significant saled evenue. Even if we successfully innovate indaeelopment of new and enhanced prod
we may incur substantial costs in doing so, and mofitability may suffer. Our products must be keprrent to meet the needs of
customers. To remain competitive, we must devel®p and innovative products on an going basis. If we fail to make innovations, or
market does not accept our new or enhanced prqduatsales and results could suffer.

Our inability to anticipate and respond to chanigemdustry standards and the needs of our custmneerto utilize changing technologies
responding to those changes, could have a maseivalrse effect on our business and our resultpeations.

Our strategy of using acquisitions and disposititmposition our businesses may not always be sstge which may have a material adve
impact on our financial results and profitabilitt'e have historically utilized acquisitions and dispions in an effort to strategically posit
our businesses and improve our ability to comp®¥e. plan to continue to do this by seeking specialighes, acquiring busines
complementary to existing strengths and continualtgluating the performance and strategic fit of existing business units. We cons
acquisition, joint ventures and other business éoatlon opportunities as well as
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possible business unit dispositions. From timéiftee, management holds discussions with managenfeother companies to explore s
opportunities. As a result, the relative makeuphefbusinesses comprising our Company is subjedhaoge. Acquisitions, joint ventures .
other business combinations involve various inhterisks, such as: assessing accurately the vai@ngihs, weaknesses, contingent and
liabilities and potential profitability of acquigin or other transaction candidates; the poteidid of key personnel of an acquired busir
significant transaction costs that were not idédifduring due diligence; our ability to achieventified financial and operating syner
anticipated to result from an acquisition or ottemsaction; and unanticipated changes in busiaedseconomic conditions affecting
acquisition or other transaction. If acquisitiorpoptunities are not available or if one or moreuasijons are not successfully integrated
our operations, this could have a material advienpact on our financial results and profitability.

The loss of key members of our management teawmiffimulty attracting and retaining experienced b@ical personnel, could reduce «
competitiveness and have an adverse effect on wsindss and results of operatiofte successful implementation of our strategies
handling of other issues integral to our futurecess will depend, in part, on our experienced mameagt team. The loss of key membel
our management team could have an adverse effestiohusiness. Although we have entered into anlempent agreement with Craig
Bram, our President and Chief Executive Officer, Bram may resign from the Company at any time saek employment elsewhere, sut
to certain non-competition restrictions for a gmear period. Additionally, if we cannot retain ot@chnical personnel or attract additic
experienced technical personnel, our ability to peta could be harmed.

Federal, state and local legislative and regulatamiiatives relating to hydraulic fracturing, asell as governmental reviews of such activ
could result in delays or eliminate new wells frbaing started, thus reducing the demand for owrfitass and steel storage tanki/draulic
fracturing (“fracking”)is currently an essential and common practice toaekoil from dense subsurface rock formations #msl lower cos
extraction method is a significant driving forcentr the recent surge of oil exploration and drdliin several locations in the United Ste
However, the Environmental Protection Agency, WC8ngress and state legislatures have considerestiagdegislation to provide additior
regulations and disclosures surrounding this pmadasthe event that new legal restrictions surdiog the fracking process are adopted ir
areas in which our customers operate, we may straraatic decrease in Palmeprofitability which could have an adverse impantou
financial results.

Our results of operations could be adversely affedby goodwill impairmentAs a result of our acquisitions, we had approxinya$i8.:
million of goodwill on our balance sheet as of Daber 28, 2013. Goodwill must be tested at leasualfy for impairment, and ma
frequently when circumstances indicate likely impaant. Goodwill is considered impaired to the ektid¥at its carrying amount exceeds
implied fair value. An impairment of goodwill coulthve a substantial negative effect on our prafitab

Our allowance for doubtful accounts may not be amg to cover actual losseédn allowance for doubtful accounts in maintained
estimated losses resulting from the inability of customers to make required payments and for thspalaims and quality issues. T
allowance may not be adequate to cover actualdpssel future provisions for losses could matsriafid adversely affect our operating res
The allowance for doubtful accounts is based oorgkperience, as well as an evaluation of thetanting receivables and existing econc
conditions. The amount of future losses is susbkpto changes in economic, operating and othesideiforces and conditions, all of which
beyond our control, and these losses may exceednturstimates. Although management believes kieatiiowance for doubtful account:
adequate to cover current estimated losses, weotamake assurances that we will not further ineeahe allowance for doubtful accounts
significant increase in the allowance for doub#atounts could adversely affect our earnings.

We depend on third parties to distribute certainoof products and because we have no control oueh shird parties we are subject
adverse changes in such parties’ operations orrinfgions of service, each of which may have anessly effect on our operationd/e us:
third parties over which we have only limited catio distribute certain of our products. Our degemcy on these third party distributors
increased as our business has grown. Because yerrghese third parties to provide these distidmuservices, any change in our abilit
access these third party distribution servicesattalve an adverse impact on our revenues and patt acompetitive disadvantage with
competitors.

Freight costs for products produced in our Palmpemtions restrict our sales area for this faciliThe freight and other distribution costs
products sold from our Palmer facility are extreynbigh. As a result, the market area for these petslis restricted, which limits t
geographic market for Palmer’s tanks and the ghilitsignificantly increase revenues derived fraies of products from the Palmer facility.

New regulations related t‘conflict minerals” may force us to incur additional expenses, may noakesupply chain more complex and 1
result in damage to our reputation with customés. August 22, 2012, under the DoHdank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Prote
Act of 2010 (the “Dodd-Frank Act"the SEC adopted new requirements for companiesutigatertain minerals and metals, known as cao
minerals, in their products, whether or not theselpcts are manufactured by third parties.
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These requirements will require companies to condue diligence and disclose whether or not suaherais originate from the Demaocr:
Republic of Congo and adjoining countries. Tungsted tantalum are designated as conflict minenatieuthe Dodd-rank Act. These met:
are used to varying degrees in our welding matergald are also present in specialty alloy produthe implementation of these n
requirements could adversely affect the sourciagilability and pricing of minerals used in our drzts. In addition, we could incur additio
costs to comply with the disclosure requirememtsluiding costs related to determining the sourcanyf of the relevant minerals and me
used in our products. Since our supply chain ispglery we may not be able to sufficiently verify thegins for these minerals and metals 1
in our products through the due diligence proceslihbat we implement, which may harm our reputationsuch event, we may also fi
difficulties in satisfying customers who could ré&guhat all of the components of our productsameflict mineral-free.

Our inability to sufficiently or completely proteour intellectual property rights could adverseljfext our business, prospects, finan
condition and results of operation®ur ability to compete effectively in both of oundiness segments will depend on our ability to ta#i
the proprietary nature of the intellectual proparsed in our businesses. These intellectual prppigtits consist largely of tradgecrets ar
know-how. We rely on a combination of trade secagtd nondisclosure and other contractual agreements amhditssd measures to protect
rights in our intellectual property. We also depembn confidentiality agreements with our officedsrectors, employees, consultants
subcontractors, as well as collaborative partrterspaintain the proprietary nature of our inteliedtproperty. These measures may not a
us sufficient or complete protection, and othersy nradependently develop intellectual property s@mito ours, otherwise avoid ¢
confidentiality agreements or produce technologgt twould adversely affect our business, prospdatancial condition and results
operations.

Our internal controls over financial reporting calfail to prevent or detect misstatemenBecause of its inherent limitations, internal cofs
over financial reporting may not prevent or deteisstatements. Also, projections of any evaluatbreffectiveness to future periods
subject to the risk that controls may become inadegibecause of changes in conditions, or thadélgeee of compliance with the policies
procedures may deteriorate. Any failure to maingfiiective internal controls or to timely effectyanecessary improvement in our inte
control and disclosure controls could, among othergs, result in losses from fraud or error, haman reputation or cause investors to
confidence in our reported financial informatiodl, @ which could have a material adverse effect amm financial condition, results
operations and cash flows.

Cyber security risks and cyber incidents could asiely affect our business and disrupt operatiddgber incidents can result from delibel
attacks or unintentional events. These incidemsinelude, but are not limited to, gaining unauthed access to digital systems for purpos
misappropriating assets or sensitive informatianrupting data, or causing operational disruptibine result of these incidents could inclt
but are not limited to, disrupted operations, naitedd financial data, liability for stolen assetdrdormation, increased cyber security protec
costs, litigation and reputational damage adveraficting customer or investor confidence.

Iltem 1B Unresolved Staff Comments

None.
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Item 2 Properties

The Company operates the major plants and fasillisted below, all of which are in adequate cdadifor their current usage. All faciliti
throughout the Company are believed to be adequaislred. The buildings are of various types ofistauction including brick, ste
concrete, concrete block and sheet metal. All ledagjuate transportation facilities for both rawemats and finished products. The Comg
owns all of these plants and facilities, exceptwlaeehouse facilities located in Dalton, GA, and tiorporate offices located in Spartanburg

and Glen Allen, VA.

Location Principal Operations Building Square Feet Land Acres
Bristol, TN Manufacturing stainless steel pipe and stainledscarbon steel piping systel 275,000 73.1
Fountain Inn, SC Chemical manufacturing and warehousing facilities 136,834 16.9
Crossett, AR Manufacturing stainless and carbon steel and chadlog piping systems 133,000 19.8
Cleveland, TN Chemical manufacturing and warehousing facilities 118,000 10.5
Andrews, TX Manufacturing liquid storage solutions and separaéiquipment 109,432 19.6
Dalton, GA Warehouse facilitie$) 32,000 2.0

Spartanburg, SC Corporate headquartets 6,840 —

Glen Allen, VA Office space for Corporate employeés 2,869 —

Augusta, GA Chemical manufacturing — 46.0

(1) Leased facility
(2) Plant was closed in 2001 and all structures andufaaturing equipment have been remo

Item 3 Legal Proceedings

For a discussion of legal proceedings, see Notegi5l1 to the Consolidated Financial Statementaded in Item 8 of this Form 10-K.

Item 4 Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable
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PART Il

Item 5 Market for the Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases &quity Securities

The Company had 60&ommon shareholders of record at February 24, 20hd.Company's common stock trades on the NASDAGb&
Market under the trading symbol SYNL. The Compawy&dit agreement only restricts the payment ofdeinds through a minimum tangi
net worth covenant. The Company paid a $0.26 castiethd on December 3, 2013, a $0.25 cash dividen®ecember 10, 2012, and a $(
cash dividend on December 5, 2011. The prices sHzelmw are the high and low sales prices for thmroon stock for each full quarte
period in the last two fiscal years as quoted @NIASDAQ Global Market.

2013 2012
Quarter High Low High Low
1st $ 14.8¢ $ 12.5¢ $ 13.7¢  $ 10.21
2nd 16.0( 12.9¢ 13.4¢ 10.3¢
3rd 17.3¢ 14.9¢ 14.0( 10.4¢
4th 16.7¢ 13.8( 14.97 12.2¢

The information required by Item 201(d) of ReguwdatS-K is set forth in Part Ill, Iltem 12 of this Amal Report on Form 10-K.

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
Among Synalloy Corporation, the Russell 2000 Index, and the NASDAQ Non-Financial Index

$50
$0 1 . . . )
12/08 12/09 12110 12111 12112 12113
—&— Synalloy Corporation ——&— Russell 2000 ----&---- NASDAQ Non-Financial

“$100 invested on 12/31/08 in stock or index, including reinvestment of dividends.
Fiscal year ending December 31.

Copyright©@ 2014 Russell Investment Group. All rights reserved.

Comparison of 5 Year Cumulative Total Return Graph

12/08 12/09 12/10 12/11 12/12 12/13
Synalloy Corporation $ 100.0¢ $ 200.3¢ $ 27297 $ 237.0¢ $ 336.3¢ $ 366.8!
Russell 2000 100.0( 127.1% 161.3: 154.5¢ 179.8¢ 249.6¢
NASDAQ Non-Financial 100.0( 151.4¢ 177.8: 179.6¢ 209.5¢ 295.2¢
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This graph and related information shall not bendeg to be “filed” with the Securities and Exchari@@mmission or “soliciting materialér
subject to Regulation 14A, or the liabilities ofcBen 18 of the 1934 Act, except to the extent @@mpany specifically requests that s
information be treated as soliciting material oeafically incorporates it by reference into arfdi under the Securities Act of 1933 or the 1
Act.

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities

Pursuant to the compensation arrangement with tdireaiscussed under Item 12 "Security OwnershifCeftain Beneficial Owners a
Management and Related Stockholder Matters" in Basn 10K, on April 5, 2013, the Company issued an aggee@sdt9,411 shares
restricted stock to noamployee directors in lieu of $128,000 of their @alrcash retainer fees. Issuance of these shaesataegistered unc
the Securities Act of 1933 based on the exemptiowiged by Section 4(2) thereof because no pulffering was involved.

The Company also issued 8,161 shares of commoR 8102013 to management and key employees thaedgsirsuant to the 2005 St
Awards Plan. Issuance of these shares was notesgfisunder the Securities Act of 1933 based orexenption provided by Section 4
thereof because no public offering was involved.

Neither the Company, nor any affiliated purchassrdefined in Rule 1(-18(a)(3) of the 1934 Act) on behalf of the Compaggurchased ai
of the Company's securities during the fourth cprast 2013.

16




Item 6 Selected Financial Data

Selected Financial Data and Other Financial Inform&on
(Dollar amounts in thousands except for per shata)d

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
Operations
Net sales $ 220,75 $ 197,65 $ 170,57' $ 151,12 $ 103,64(
Gross profit 19,20: 21,92¢ 21,09( 15,91¢ 9,48¢
Selling, general & administrative expense 17,38¢ 14,14( 12,28¢ 9,72¢ 8,78
Operating income 1,81« 7,78¢ 8,80¢ 6,192 702
Net income continuing operations 1,761 4,23¢ 5,79 4,034 21¢
Net (loss) income discontinued operations — — — — (4)
Net income 1,761 4,23¢ 5,79i 4,03¢ 21t
Financial Position
Total assets 163,26( 148,50° 98,91¢ 81,37¢ 78,25
Working capital 74,98¢ 65,91¢ 56,34« 43,23: 44,12
Long-term debt, less current portion 20,90¢ 37,59: 8,65( 21¢ —
Shareholders' equity 106,09¢ 71,77¢ 68,61¢ 63,87¢ 62,72:
Financial Ratios
Current ratio 4.0:1 3.6:1 4.1:1 4.0:1 4.5:1
Gross profit to net sales 9% 11% 12% 11% 9%
Long-term debt to capital 16% 34% 11% 0% 0%
Return on average assets 1% 3% 6% 5% 0%
Return on average equity 2% 6% 9% 6% 0%
Per Share Data (income/(loss) — diluted)
Net income continuing operations $ 028 % 0.66 % 091 % 064 % 0.0¢
Net income (loss) discontinued operations — — — — (0.00
Net income 0.2t 0.6¢€ 0.91 0.64 0.0z
Dividends declared and paid 0.2¢ 0.2t 0.2t 0.5C 0.1C
Book value 12.21 11.2¢ 10.8¢ 10.1¢ 10.01
Other Data
Depreciation and amortization $ 511¢ % 339¢ % 2,65¢ % 264: % 2,40z
Capital expenditures $ 576¢ % 4,74C  $ 3,188 % 509 $ 1,892
Employees at year end 67C 597 441 441 46€
Shareholders of record at year end 61¢ 66¢ 687 704 79C
Average shares outstanding - diluted 6,941 6,39/ 6,362 6,30¢ 6,26¢
Stock Price
Price range of common stock
High $ 17.3¢  $ 1497 $ 155 $ 12.2t  $ 10.4¢
Low 12.5: 10.21 9.1t 7.47 3.8¢
Close 15.5: 13.4¢ 10.27 12.17 9.42

Item 7 Management's Discussion and Analysis of Fimeial Condition and Results of Operations
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financiahdtion and Results of Operations discusses thmpaoy's consolidated financ
statements, which have been prepared in accordaitbeaccounting principles generally accepted ie thnited States of America. T
preparation of these financial statements requir@sagement to make estimates and assumptiondfietttae
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reported amounts of assets and liabilities anddikelosure of contingent assets and liabilitieshat date of the financial statements anc
reported amounts of revenues and expenses durageforting period. On an amwing basis, management evaluates its estimate
judgments based on historical experience and dousother factors that are believed to be readenaider the circumstances, the resul
which form the basis for making judgments aboutdhgying value of assets and liabilities that ao¢ readily apparent from other sour
Actual results may differ from these estimates urtiferent assumptions or conditions. Managemetieles the following critical accounti
policies, among others, affect its more significartigments and estimates used in the preparatidheofCompany's consolidated finan
statements.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The Company maintained allowances for doubtful ant® of approximately $1,079,000 as of Decembe@&3, for estimated losses resul
from the inability of its customers to make reqdipayments and for disputed claims and qualityeissiihe allowance is based upon a re
of outstanding receivables, historical collectiarformation and existing economic conditions. ThemPany performs periodic cre
evaluations of its customers' financial conditiow ayenerally does not require collateral. Recemslalre generally due within 30 to 60 d
Delinquent receivables are written off based orimviddal credit evaluations and specific circumsesof the customer.

Inventory Reserves

The Company establishes a reserve for estimatenleitbsor unmarketable inventory in an amount et¢mdhe difference between the cos
inventory and the estimated market value based @ssnmptions about future demand and current madkaditions. Based on histori
results, the Company also maintains an inventosgrie to provide for the amount of estimated inegnguantity loss since the last phys
inventory. As of December 28, 2013, the Companydmsoximately $2,217,000 accrued for the variowngmtory reserves. If actual mar
conditions are less favorable than those estimtagadanagement, additional inventory reserves magteired.

Environmental Reserves

As noted in Note 5 to the Consolidated Financialte3hents included in Item 8 of this Form KQthe Company has accrued $626,000
December 28, 2013, in environmental remediatiortscadiich, in management's best estimate, are miffito satisfy anticipated costs
known remediation requirements as explained in Niot&xpenditures related to costs currently accraiednot discounted to their pres
values and are expected to be made over the nee th four years. However, as a result of the \engl nature of the environmen
regulations, the difficulty in estimating the extesnd necessary remediation of environmental coimi@ion, and the availability a
application of technology, the estimated costsfibure environmental compliance and remediation safgject to uncertainties and it is
possible to predict the amount or timing of futuwrests of environmental matters which may subsetjudrg determined. Changes
information known to management or in applicablgutations may require the Company to record aduttioemediation reserves.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company continually reviews the recoverabitifythe carrying value of long-lived assets. Ldivged assets are reviewed for impairn
when events or changes in circumstances, alsaedfés as "triggering events", indicate that theydag value of a londived asset or group
assets (the "Assets") may no longer be recoverdbiggering events include: a significant declimethe market price of the Assets
significant adverse change in the operating ugghgsical condition of the Assets; a significant@cbe change in legal factors or in the busi
climate impacting the Assets' value, including fatpry issues such as environmental actions; timemgéion by the Assets of historical ¢
flow losses combined with projected future caslflosses; or the expectation that the Assets wilbdld or disposed of significantly before
end of the useful life of the Assets. The Compaoyctuded that there were no indications of impairtmequiring further testing during 1
year ended December 28, 20

If the Company concluded that, based on its revaéwurrent facts and circumstances, there werecatidins of impairment, testing of 1
applicable Assets would be performed. The recovigsabf the Assets to be held and used is teste@dmparing the carrying amount of
Assets at the date of the test to the sum of tlima&t®d future undiscounted cash flows expectedet@enerated by those Assets ove
remaining useful life of the Assets. In estimatihg future undiscounted cash flows, the Compang msejections of cash flows direc
associated with, and which are expected to arise disect result of, the use and eventual dispwsitf the Assets. This approach reqt
significant judgments including the Company's prtge net cash flows, which are derived using thetmecent available estimate for
reporting unit containing the Assets tested. Seévieeg assumptions would include periods of operatiprojections of product pricir
production levels, product costs, market supply dachand, and inflation. If it is determined tha¢ ttarrying amount of the Assets are
recoverable, an impairment loss would be calculagdal to the excess of the carrying amount of Absets over their fair value. Ass
classified as held for sale, if
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any, would be recorded at the lower of their caigyamount or fair value less cost to sell. Assetse disposed of other than by sale, if
would be classified as held and used until the #ssae disposed or use has ceased.

Goodwill

The Company has goodwill of approximately $1,358,08corded as part of its 1996 acquisition of M@emting within the Special
Chemicals Segment, $1,000,000 recorded as par 2009 acquisition of Rarab and approximately $15,898,000 recorded asopigt 201:
acquisition of Palmer, both operating within thettde Segment. Goodwill, which represents the exoégsirchase price over fair value of
assets acquired, is tested for impairment at astn annual basis. The initial step of the goddmipairment test involves a comparison of
fair value of the reporting unit in which the godlius recorded, with its carrying amount. If theporting unit's fair value exceeds its carn
value, no impairment loss is recognized and thersstep, which is a calculation of the impairmestnot performed. However, if t
reporting unit's carrying value exceeds its faiueaan impairment charge equal to the differemcthé carrying value of the goodwill and
implied fair value of the goodwill is recorded. Ihgal fair value of goodwill is determined in thensa manner as the amount of good
recognized in a business combination. That isfalevalue of the reporting unit is allocated te thssets and liabilities of the reporting unitf
it had been acquired in a business combination. &Xuess of the fair value of the reporting unit rotree amounts allocated to assets
liabilities is the implied fair value of goodwill.

In making our determination of fair value of theoeting unit, we rely on the discounted cash flowtiod. This method uses projection
cash flows from the reporting unit. This approaeguires significant judgments including the Compsupyojected net cash flows, the weigl
average cost of capital ("WACC") used to discoum tash flows and terminal value assumptions. Wivel¢hese assumptions used in
testing from several sources. Many of these assangpare derived from our internal budgets, whichuld include existing sales data base
current product lines and assumed production levaenufacturing costs and product pricing. We Ieli¢ghat our internal forecasts

consistent with those that would be used by a piaidsuyer in valuing our reporting units.

The WACC rate is based on an average of the cagiitatture, cost of capital and inherent businéss profiles of the Company. T
assumptions used in the valuation are interrelaiédd continuing degree of interrelationship of thessumptions is, in and of itsell
significant assumption. Because of the interretesidps among the assumptions, we do not belieweoitld be meaningful to provide
sensitivity analysis on any of the individual asgtions. However, one key assumption in our valuatitodel is the WACC. If the WAC
which is used to discount the projected cash flomes,e higher, the measure of the fair value of ribe assets of the reporting unit wc
decrease. Conversely, if the WACC were lower, tleasare of the fair value of the net assets ofdperting unit would increase. Change
any of the Company's other estimates could alse hawaterial effect on the estimated future undisted cash flows expected to be genel
by the reporting unit's assets.

Based on the Company's goodwill impairment teghan fourth quarter of 2013, each reporting undis Yalue exceeded its carrying va
therefore no further testing was required and ngainment loss was recognized.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash flows used in operating activities during 2€dtaled $5,542,000 while cash flows provided froperating activities during 2012 tota
$1,635,000, a decrease in cash flows of $7,177086h flows in 2013 were generated from net inctotaing $5,798,000 before deprecia
and amortization expense of $5,114,000 and thetioreebargain purchase gain on the purchase of GRing of $1,077,000, net of defert
income taxes. Since the Company completed its aitipui of CRI on August 26, 2013, cash flows rdagltfrom changes in operating as:
and liabilities cannot be determined simply by satting 2013 balance sheet amounts from 2012 vahieacquired CRI balances repres
beginning balances for cash flow purposes. Castsflwere adversely affected by a $5,461,000 increaset inventories in 2013. Substanti
all of the increase occurred in the Metals Segnasnspecial alloy inventory increased in supporthef current special alloy backlog :
inventory at Ranfab increased to support the higher fabricatiorklogcat the end of 2013. Accounts receivable ineeea$2,288,000 in 201
net of reserves, as a result of the higher Metatgr®nt sales activity during the fourth quarteR@13 compared to the same period of 2
combined with an increase in the number of daysssautstanding for the fabrication facilities. Hégtinventory purchases made during
fourth quarter of 2013 increased the accounts gdayadlance at the end of 2013 by $1,541,000 whempeoed to the 2012 yeand balanc
Operating cash flows were unfavorably affecteddwydr accrued expenses at the end of 2013 compartée £nd of 2012 of $2,242,000,
profit based incentives decreased $1,876,000 taftetower 2013 profits, the majority of the taability associated with the Palmer acquisi
was used in 2013 and accrued interest decreadhd lse of credit was paid off during the fourthagter of 2013.

Cash flows provided by operating activities durid@12 totaled $1,635,000 and cash flows used inabipgr activities in 2011 total
$3,858,000, an improvement in cash flows of $5@03, Cash flows in 2012 were generated from nedrire totaling $7,634,000 bef
depreciation and amortization expense of $3,399,8ice the Company acquired Palmer on August R122cash flows resulting frc
changes in operating assets and liabilities cabaatetermined simply by subtracting 2012 balance
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sheet amounts from 2011 values. The net valud afaéts and liabilities acquired are shown in"fkejuisition of Palmer of Texas" line in t
investing activities section of the Consolidatedt&tents of Cash Flows. Accordingly, these indigldacquired balances represent begin
balances for Palmer cash flow purposes. Cash floei® adversely affected by a $1,422,000 increasavientories in 2012, as yeanc
balances increased, net of reserves, from $43,063#0 the end of 2011 for historical Company openat plus the $5,678,000 Palr
beginning balance to $50,163,000 at the end of 28LiBstantially all of the increase occurred in 8pecialty Chemicals Segment to sup
higher 2013 sales projections, including the addél defoamer business acquired during 2012. Adsgogyable also adversely affected
flows by $4,152,000 in 2012 as there were signifidaventory purchases in the fourth quarter of R0ilthe Metals Segment which incree
the 2011 year-end accounts payable balance combithdlower nickel surcharges included in 2012'siryend accounts payable balar
Operating cash flows were also unfavorably affettgdhigher other assets and liabilities, net. Aereable from the prior owners of Palmer
established in December 2012 for $1,494,000 whéshulted from the final working capital adjustmemgcollected accounts receivable
other items detailed in the SPA. This receivable gettled in January 2013.

In 2013, the Company's current assets increaséa8%$800 and current liabilities decreased $380,8@0n the year ended 2012 amou
which caused working capital for 2013 to increage$,069,000 to $74,988,000 from the 2012 totb@$,919,000. The current ratio for
year ended December 28, 2013, increased to 4@hitihe 2012 ye-end ratio of 3.6:1.

On August 26, 2013, the a subsidiary of the Comp@i Tolling, completed the purchase of substéigtall of the assets and assumed ce
operating liabilities of CRI. Located in Fountaim| South Carolina, CRI Tolling will continue CRbBsisiness as that of a toll manufacturer
provides outside manufacturing resources to glabdl regional chemical companies. The assets pwedhHasm CRI included equipment ¢
certain other assets and approximately $387,00thvadrinventory and accounts receivables, net stiaed payables. The total purchase |
was $1,100,000. The Company acquired the builditdyland where CRI operates in a separate but dcete@saction on August 9, 2013
approximately $3,500,000. The Company viewed ble¢ghbiuilding and operating assets of CRI togethemasbusiness, capable of providir
return to ownership by expanding the segment'symtimh capacity. Accordingly, the acquisition metite definition of a business and
transaction is structured in a way that meets #fimidion of a business combination.

Due to severe financial difficulties CRI was expeaging prior to our acquisition, the Company wake @b purchase the land, building i
equipment at below market value. As a result offdwerable purchase price, the Company recordeztgain purchase gain on this transac
in the third quarter of 2013 of $1,077,000, netleferred taxes.

The Company also used cash during 2013 for invgstativities to fund capital expenditures of $5,088. Financing activities during 2C
generated $15,682,000. On September 30, 2013, dhep&hy closed on an underwritten public offering2@d00,000 shares of its comn
stock at a price of $15.75 per share. The undeswgrilso exercised their option to purchase ansedpon an additional 300,000 share
common stock at a price of $15.75 per share. Th@paoy received net proceeds, after underwritingadists and estimated expense:
approximately $34,233,000. The Company used $18)061of the net proceeds to pay off the outstantiveyof credit balance during 20
The Company also paid a $0.26 dividend on Decerdp2013 which used $2,260,000. The Company expleatsxisting cash balances, ¢
flows from 2013 operations and available borrowingi be sufficient to make debt payments and faestimated 2014 capital expenditure
$7,800,000.

On June 30, 2010, the Company entered into a CAegldéement with a regional bank to provide a $20,000 line of credit that was to exf
on June 30, 2013. This agreement was amended Hyatiieon August 19, 2011 to extend the maturitye ddtthe Credit Agreement by ¢
additional year to June 30, 2014. In connectiorhwiite Palmer acquisition discussed in Note 16 & @onsolidated Financial Stateme
included in Item 8 of this Form 1K; on August 21, 2012, the Company modified thed@r&greement to increase the limit of the creditifity
by $5,000,000 to a maximum of $25,000,000, andreldd the maturity date to August 21, 2015. On Qat@2, 2012, the Company modif
this agreement to increase the limit by an addiié®,000,000 to a maximum of $30,000,000. Thisdase was in effect for one year anc
maximum line of credit reverted back to $25,000,0600ctober 22, 2013. None of the other provisioithe Credit Agreement were chan
as a result of this modification. In connectionhwtite CRI acquisition discussed in Note 16 to tbegblidated Financial Statements include
Item 8 of this Form 1@k, on August 26, 2013, the Company modified thed@r&greement to fund this transaction, as detaifethe followin¢
paragraph. Interest on the Credit Agreement isutaled using the One Month LIBOR (as defined in@redit Agreement), plus a pdefinec
spread, based on the Company's Total Funded D&tBIfBDA ratio (as defined in the Credit Agreemerprrowings under the line of cre
are limited to an amount equal to a borrowing beeleulation that includes eligible accounts receieainventories and other naapita
assets.

The Credit Agreement modification on August 26, 2@kovided for a new tepear term loan in the amount of $4,033,000, withnthly
principal payments customized to account for they@@r amortization of the real estate assets cadbinith a Syear amortization of tt
equipment assets purchased. In conjunction witmé#ve term loan, to mitigate the variability of irgst rate risk, the Company entered int
interest rate swap contract (the "interest ratepSvan September 3, 2013. The interest rate swéqgr ian initial notional amount of $4,033,2
with a fixed interest rate of 4.83% and runs for years to August 19, 2023,
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which equates to the due date of the term loan.ribienal amount of the interest rate swap deceeasenonthly principal payments are made

The Credit Agreement modification on August 21, 2@lso provided for a teyear term loan in the amount of $22,500,000 thatires equi
monthly payments of $187,500 plus interest. In anajion with this term loan, to mitigate the vaiidp of the interest rate risk, the Comps
entered into an interest rate swap contract on Augl, 2012 with its current bank. The interest mwap is for an initial notional amount
$22,500,000 with a fixed interest rate of 3.74 patcand runs for ten years, expiring on AugustZZP.2, which equates to the date of the
loan. The notional amount of the interest rate sdegreases as monthly principal payments are made.

Although the two swap agreements mentioned abavexected to effectively offset variable inteiasthe borrowings, hedge accounting
not be utilized. Therefore, changes in its fairueahre being recorded in current assets or liss)ias appropriate, with corresponding offse
entries to other income (expense).

Pursuant to the Credit Agreement, the Company wasired to pledge all of its tangible and intangiptoperties. Covenants under the C
Agreement include maintaining a certain total fuhdebt to EBITDA ratio (as defined in the CreditrAgment), a minimum tangible net wo
and total liabilities to tangible net worth ratithe Company will also be limited to a maximum antoofncapital expenditures per year, wt
is in line with the Company's currently projectezbds. At December 28, 2013, the Company was in kange with all debt covenants.

Results of Operations
Comparison of 2013 to 2012 - Consolidated

For the fiscal year ending December 28, 2013, the@ny generated net earnings of $1,761,000, @5%ter share, on sales of $220,750,
compared to net earnings of $4,235,000, or $0.66pare, on sales of $197,659,000 in the prior.yEae Company generated a net los
$3,078,000, or $0.36 loss per share, on sales 248,000 in the fourth quarter of 2013, compareddt earnings of $965,000, or $0.15
share, on sales of $53,138,000 in the fourth quaft2012.

Consolidated gross profit decreased twelve perter§19,202,000 in 2013, compared to $21,928,00Q002, and, as a percent of s¢
decreased to nine percent of sales in 2013 comparel@ven percent of sales in 2012. For the foqurter of 2013, consolidated gross p
showed a loss of $335,000, or one percent of sabespared to a profit of $5,893,000, or eleven @erof sales, for the fourth quarter of 2(
The decreases in dollars and in percentage of sales attributable to the Metals Segment as disclissthe Metals Segment Compariso
2013 to 2012 below. Consolidated selling, genenal administrative expense for 2013 increased bg483000 to $17,388,000, compare:
$14,140,000 for 2012, and was eight percent osdale2013, up from seven percent for 2012. Forfthueth quarter, these costs increase
$509,000 to $4,402,000, or eight percent of sd®s2013 compared to 3,893,000, or seven percersales, for 2012. Since Palmer
acquired in lateAugust of 2012, only a portion of their selling,ngeal and administrative expenses were includethénprior year. Th
accounted for approximately $2,081,000 of the iaseel costs in 2013. The remainder of the increessts for 2013 when compared to 2
resulted from the receipt of the final installmefta dumping penalty in 2012, increased sales casions, higher legal costs associated
the illegal dumping case initiated in 2013 and kigborporate travel and professional fees assaltiaith the Palmer acquisition. These ¢
were partially offset by lower incentive-based beeupense.

Comparison of 2012 to 2011 - Consolidated

For the fiscal year ending December 29, 2012, the@ny generated net earnings of $4,235,000, 663tkr share, on sales of $197,659,
compared to net earnings of $5,797,000, or $0.9Elpare, on sales of $170,575,000 in the prior.yEae Company generated net earning
$965,000, or $0.15 per share, on sales of $53,0880the fourth quarter of 2012, compared to rehiegs of $1,017,000, or $0.16 per st
on sales of $40,241,000 in the fourth quarter dfi20

Consolidated gross profit increased four perced2b,928,000 in 2012, compared to $21,090,000 irl28nd, as a percent of sales, decre
to eleven percent of sales in 2012 compared tovevpercent of sales in 2011. For the fourth quaste2012, consolidated gross profit \
$5,893,000, an increase of 23 percent from thetioguarter of 2011 of $4,783,000. Consolidated gmufit was eleven percent of sales
the fourth quarter of 2012 and twelve percent déssdor same period of 2011. The increases in dolad in percentage of sales v
attributable to the Specialty Chemicals Segmentliasussed in the Specialty Chemicals Segment Casgpaof 2012 to 2011 belo
Consolidated selling, general and administrativeease for 2012 increased by $1,856,000 to $14,080;0mpared to $12,284,000 for 2(
and was seven percent of sales for both 2012 ah#l. Zhese costs increased $355,000 during thehfaurarter of 2012 compared to the s
period of 2011 and decreased to seven percentieg fam nine percent of sales for the fourth cerarof 2012 and 2011, respectively.

dollar increase for both the year and fourth quaofe2012 when compared to the same periods of 2@%ulted primarily from high
professional fees, travel and amortization conmkwi¢h the Palmer acquisition, an increase in manant performance-based incentives,
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higher sales commissions and increased salariesvages. These costs were partially offset by aedser in bad debt expense for
Chemicals Segment. In addition, the Company incLfi881,000 on¢ime acquisition costs associated with the Palnoguisition in 2012
These costs were $252,000 for the fourth quart@0ap. All of these items will be discussed in geealetail in the respective sections below.

Metals Segment -The following table summarizes operating resultd backlogs for the three years indicated. Referashoald be made
Note 13 to the Consolidated Financial Statememisided in Item 8 of this Form -K.

2013 2012 2011

(in thousands) Amount % Amount % Amount %
Net sales $ 164,23: 100.(% $  146,28! 100.% $ 127,72 100.(%
Cost of goods sold 154,76 94.2% 132,59¢ 90.6% 112,44! 88.(%
Gross profit 9,47( 5.8% 13,68¢ 9.4% 15,28: 12.(%
Selling, general and administrative expense 10,20: 6.2% 7,551 5.2% 6,02¢ 4. 7%
Operating (loss) income $ (732 0.49% $ 6,13¢ 42% $ 9,25: 7.3%
Year-end backlogs - Piping systems $ 50,75: $ 19,25¢ $ 22,74

Tanks $ 11,47 not availabl not availabl

Comparison of 2013 to 2012 — Metals Segment

Sales for 2013 were $164,232,000, up twelve perfrent last year's results of $146,285,000. The Mefegment experienced an opere
loss of $732,000 for 2013 compared to an operatisgme of $6,138,000 for 2012. Excluding Palmedkes results, sales for the Me
Segment for 2013 would have been two percent Idham the same period of 2012 which resulted frowelounit volumes. Sales during
fourth quarter of 2013 totaled $37,355,000, a desgeof seven percent from $40,051,000 for the spmaeer last year. The Metals Segn
had an operating loss of $5,295,000 for the fogrthrter of 2013 compared to operating income o838,000 for the fourth quarter of 20
The Company purchased 100 percent of the issueduatsthnding stock of Palmer on August 21, 2012lkng Palmer's sales results, s
for the fourth quarter 2013 would have been sevanent lower than the prior year. The sales deerezmulted from a six percent decreas
average selling prices combined with a one perdentease in average unit volumes. In the fourthtquahe Metals Segment experien
commodity unit volumes increasing nine percent e/lmbneommodity unit volume decreased 13 percent. Selhinges for commaodity pig
decreased approximately eleven percent while ggfiices for norecommodity pipe increased approximately five perc8hipments of carbe
steel pipe associated with the Bechtel nucleaeptajropped significantly in the fourth quarter26fL3 as the project was completed. Shipn
of stainless steel pipe in the fourth quarter af2@ontinued to be constrained as distributorsnamtaining lean inventory levels going i
2014. Special alloy inquiries, bookings and backiemained strong in the fourth quarter of 2013 amdhave seen increased shipmen
January.

Operating income, which decreased $6,870,000 ari28,000 for the entire year and fourth quarteP@f3, respectively, when compare:
the same periods of 2012, was impacted by thevidhig factors:

a) Palmer was acquired August 21, 2012. Its fourthrtgunaand full year results were included in the 20etals Segment rest
while only 19 weeks of Palmer's results were inetlidn the prior year. Fourth quarter 2013 operatim@me was adverse
affected by a more prevalent holiday shutdown it®0rhere were approximately $700,000 of finishaks that could not |
shipped to the customers' work sites in Decemb&B2UThe unit also incurred warranty repairs of agpnately $200,000 in tt
fourth quarter of 2013. Additionally, fourth quart2013 sales and profitability were affected byesslfavorable product mix
smaller fiberglass and steel tanks were produchd.facility was nearing emission limits for thediblass shop which resultec
the production of smaller, lower priced, and lessfitable tanks.

b) Associated with the acquisition of Palmer, an igthle asset of $9,000,000 was recorded for theooust base acquired by
Company. This asset is amortized on an accelebatsid which resulted in an amortization chargelgb$0,000 for the entire ye
and $382,000 for the fourth quarter of 2013 comgace$540,000 of amortization for both the entieayand fourth quarter
2012.

c) Pricing and margins at BRISMET during the firstaeimonths of the year were negatively impacted bgigm imports. Stainle
steel pipe imports from Malaysia, Vietnam and Témadl entered the country at significantly reduceidest This factor force
BRISMET to reduce prices accordingly to retain nearkhare. On May 16, 2013, BRISMET, along with savether domest
manufacturers of stainless steel pipe, filed ardantping petition with the U.S. Department of Comoge("Commerce") and t
U.S. International Trade Commission ("USITC") allegythat
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welded stainless steel pipe imported from Malaygiatham and Thailand was being dumped in the dr8t&ates market. On Ju
28, 2013, the USITC determined there was a reasoiratication that a U.S. industry was materiafijured by reason of impo
from these three countries. All six commissionefg¢he USITC hearing the petition voted in favor tbe petitioners in tt
affirmative.

On December 31, 2013, Commerce announced its afiven preliminary determinations. Commerce deteedithat welde
stainless pressure pipe from Malaysia, Thailand ¥mednam has been sold in the United States at édmpargins and w
instruct U.S. Customs and Border Protection to iregqeash deposits based on the preliminary ratesleded from the date of t
preliminary ruling forward. In the case of Malaydiaey also imposed the effective date of the prielary rates to be 90 days p!
to the publication of the determination in the Fati®eqgister. Price increases were implementedcebgral domestic producers
late August and early September of 2013. The Compabeginning to see higher pricing across mostipct categories and
optimistic that this trend will continue into 201@ommerce is scheduled to announce its final détatons in May 2014 and t
USITC will make its final injury determination iuly 2014.

d) Profits at BRISMET were negatively impacted for ftharth quarter of 2013 by significant third padyntract services associa
with the Bechtel project, and an unfavorable saleswhich was heavily weighted toward less thanristh diameter pipe that
very low to negative gross margins. Labor costsevadso above targeted levels for the quarter aw@re slow to bring staffir
back to pre-Bechtel levels.

e) Relatively stable nickel prices during the lasff ladl2013 resulted in lower inventory losses in 20Bor 2013 and 2012, inventi
losses were approximately $3,103,000 and $4,645,688pectively. For the fourth quarter of 2013, entory losses we
approximately $581,000 compared to an inventorg tfsapproximately $1,150,000 in the fourth quaote?2012.

f)  The BristolFab unit showed a significant operalimgs for the fourth quarter and entire year of 2048this unit ramped up lak
to support the increased backlog, labor efficiendeclined by approximately 50 percent from presitavels. The large decre
in labor efficiency caused overtime to double as whit attempted to meet customer delivery schedalel outside contract
were utilized to keep projects on track. Thesetaatil expenses put further pressure on the wuss structure.

g) Throughout the Metals Segment, production manpomes higher than optimal operating levels. In latec@€nber and eal
January 2014, personnel reductions were implemesteass all three business units and we believiedinalabor efficiencie
throughout the Metals Segment will return to taggdevels in 2014.

Selling, general and administrative expense ine@&2,651,000, or 35 percent in 2013 when compar@@12. This expense category was
percent of sales for 2013 compared to five peroéstles for 2012. The increase mainly resultethftbe inclusion of Palmer expenses fot
entire year of 2013 compared to a portion of 20&2eiving the final installment of a dumping penpatt 2012 and higher legal costs associ
with the illegal dumping case initiated in 2013tfly offset by lower incentive-based bonus exmens

Comparison of 2012 to 2011 — Metals Segment

The Metals Segment sales increased 15 percenDfiz 8s compared to 2011 primarily as a result efatidition of Palmer for 19 weeks
2012 plus a 13 percent increase in unit volumesgllgroffset by an eight percent decrease in ayerselling prices. Sales for the fourth qu
of 2012 totaled $40,051,000, an increase of 34gmerover 2011 results. Excluding Palmer resultgssir the fourth quarter 2012 would h
been up six percent over the prior year. The foquirter sales increase resulted from a 13 peicergase in unit volumes partially offset k
seven percent decrease in average selling pricess@rofit for 2012 decreased ten percent to 83080, or nine percent of sales, comp
to 2011's yeaend total of $15,282,000, or twelve percent of sdi®r the fourth quarter of 2012, gross profit $8s844,000, or ten percent
sales, an increase of twelve percent over theHayuarter of 2011 of $3,435,000, or twelve peraérsales. The Segment experienced oper
income of $6,138,000, a decrease of 66 percent,$ara0,000, down four percent, for the year angttfoquarter of 2012, respective
compared to $3,774,000 and $1,863,000, respectif@lgame periods of 2011.

Excluding the effect of Palmer on 2012 sales, thetald Segment experienced a favorable product mik0il2 with higher priced non-
commodity unit volume increasing 29 percent whieneodity unit volume increased four percent. Thefable product mix also affected
fourth quarter shipments, with n@emmodity unit volumes increasing 32 percent fe guarter while commodity unit volumes increased
percent. Special alloy product shipments surpapsied year levels as a result of increased custgonejects and distributor restocking.
improved unit volumes for the year and fourth qeiagre also the result of increased market shaMoith America and strong increase
international sales.
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Operating income for the entire year and fourthrganf 2012 when compared to the same period9di 2vas impacted by the following fc
factors:

a) Palmer was acquired August 21, 2012 and accordid§lyweeks and 13 weeks of their operations wesleidied in the year ai
fourth quarter of 2012, respectively.

b) Associated with the acquisition of Palmer, an igtale asset of $9,000,000 was recognized, whichesgmts the fair value of 1
customer base that was acquired by the Companys iftengible asset will be amortized over aygar period using
accelerated amortization method. As a result of thinsaction, the year and fourth quarter of 20fthudes $540,000
amortization expense.

c) Declining nickel prices resulted in inventory losse the year and fourth quarter of 2012 of apprately $4,645,000 ai
$1,150,000, respectively. For the same periodsyleat, fluctuating nickel prices produced inventtogses of $1,637,000 &
$870,000, respectively. As nickel prices decreas#ling prices are reduced accordingly while matecbsts reflect the higt
priced inventory.

d) In the year and fourth quarter of 2011, operatmgpme for the fabrication unit of our Metals Segim&as favorably affected |
higher unit selling prices associated with the clatipn of several large scale lunspim jobs. The unit realized $4,659,000
$135,000 of additional billings during the year dadrth quarter of 2011, respectively, from thesmpleted jobs.

Demand for manufactured pipe remains relativelgrgjr while the fabrication unit continues to dei#hvexcess capacity in the industry wt
results in margin compression and impacts our saldsprofits. Margins on fabrication projects ie fourth quarter of 2012 were the lowes
the entire year.

Selling, general and administrative expense ine@&4,522,000, or 25 percent in 2012 when compar2011. This expense category was
percent of sales for both periods. The increasdtessfrom the inclusion of Palmer expenses foodipn of 2012, the amortization of Palm
intangible asset, an additional provision in 20d2the collectability of accounts receivable, iraged sales commissions, additional salarie
wages in 2012 and higher performamesed bonuses for select segment employees. Thgss kxpense categories were partially offse
increased employee procurement expenses in 20ddditional sales executives were hired for thei€aliion product line.

Specialty Chemicals Segment Fhe following tables summarize operating resultstie three years indicated. Reference should o rma
Note 13 to the Consolidated Financial Statemermisided in Item 8 of this Form -K.

2013 2012 2011
(Amounts in thousands) Amount % Amount % Amount %
Net sales $ 56,51¢ 100.% $ 51,37« 100.% $ 42,84¢ 100.(%
Cost of goods sold 46,78¢ 82.8% 43,13« 84.(% 37,04( 86.4%
Gross profit 9,73: 17.2% 8,24( 16.(% 5,80¢ 13.6%
Selling, general and administrative expense 3,98¢ 7.1% 3,391 6.6% 3,581 8.4%
Operating income $ 5,74: 10.2% $ 4,84: 9.4% $ 2,221 5.2%

Comparison of 2013 to 2012 — Specialty Chemicalsd@eent

Specialty Chemicals Segment sales for the entieg pé 2013 were $56,518,000, up $5,144,000 or tmegnt from $51,374,000 for 20
Gross profit for 2013 for the Specialty Chemicatg®ent was $9,732,000, or 17 percent of sales, amdpo $8,240,000, or 16 percen
sales, for 2012, an increase of 18 percent. Théiaal Ashland defoamer sales which began in theltquarter of 2012 contributed to

increase in gross profit for the Segment. For therth quarter of 2013, Specialty Chemicals Segmesdles were $14,888,000, wt
represented a 14 percent increase from $13,087%@0the same quarter of 2012. Overall selling widecreased 16 percent in the fo
quarter when compared to 2012 due in part to afgignt increase in usage of a lower cost raw niaténat is reflected in the selling price
MC and generally lower average selling prices al T&ling. Gross profit for the fourth quarter o023 and 2012 was $2,588,000, ol
percent of sales, and $2,049,000, or 16 percergales, respectively, an increase of 26 percent. Gffing had a positive impact

profitability during its first quarter under Companwnership. The Specialty Chemicals Segment coasirto focus on changing the proc
mix to higher priced / higher margin products andtomolling operating and support costs. At CRI gl streamlining processes and impro
production capabilities will be a major focus.
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On August 26, 2013, CRI Tolling completed the passh of substantially all of the assets and asswwsddin operating liabilities of CF
Located in Fountain Inn, South Carolina, CRI Tdlimill continue CRI's business as that of a tollnofacturer that provides outs
manufacturing resources to global and regional ét@mompanies. The assets purchased from CRIded®quipment and certain other as
and approximately $387,000 worth of inventory acdaoaints receivables, net of assumed payables. ctaepurchase price was $1,100,(
The Company acquired the building and land wheré @ferates in a separate but related transactioAumust 9, 2013 for approximatt
$3,500,000. The Company viewed both the buildind eperating assets of CRI together as one busicagsble of providing a return
ownership by expanding the segment's productioaagp Accordingly, the acquisition meets the digiim of a business and the transactic
structured in a way that meets the definition biainess combination under GAAP.

Due to severe financial difficulties CRI was expeaging prior to our acquisition, the Company wake @b purchase the land, building i
equipment at below market value. As a result offdwerable purchase price, the Company recordeztgain purchase gain on this transac
in the third quarter of 2013 of $1,077,000, neteferred taxes. The Company funded the acquisitfid®RI through a new term loan with
Company's bank, plus an increase in its line aditre

Selling, general and administrative expense ine@&592,000 or 17 percent in 2013 when compar@d1@. These costs were seven pe
of sales for both 2013 and 2012. The increase wagalhigher sales commissions and incentive-blsedses in 2013.

Comparison of 2012 to 2011 — Specialty Chemicalsddeent

Sales for the Specialty Chemicals Segment incre2€egercent for 2012, ending the year at $51,304,@8mpared to $42,848,000
2011. Pounds shipped for the year were 18 perdghehthan the prior year. For the fourth quarteR@12, sales were $13,087,000, ug
percent from 2011's fourth quarter sales of $10@®BY. Pounds shipped for the fourth quarter werp&@ent higher than the same perio
the prior year. The fourth quarter and annual selesease resulted mainly from the addition of &ddal defoamer production for a glo
chemical manufacturer which began in late May 284@ reached targeted production levels duringhivd juarter of 2012. Gross profit
the year was $8,240,000, up 42 percent from ther gear amount of $5,808,000. As a percent of s@@%2 gross profit was 16 percen
sales and 2011 gross profit was 14 percent of sBlesfourth quarter showed gross profit of $2,080, or 16 percent of sales, and $1,336
or 13 percent of sales, for 2012 and 2011, respagtiGross profit increased for the year and fouquarter as a result of higher faci
utilization associated with the additional defoarpeoduction combined with the ability to pass alaagv material price increases to
customers. Operating income for the year incredd8dpercent from the prior year. Operating incoore2012 was $4,843,000, or nine per
of sales, while 2011 recorded $2,221,000, or fieecent of sales. The segment showed operating imaun$1,102,000, or eight percen
sales, for the fourth quarter of 2012. The fouytlarter of 2011 recorded an operating loss of $,0r one percent of sales. During Decer
2011, the segment recorded an $817,000 chargseoveefor the potential uncollectable receivablarees for four customers. The bulk of
charge was for a customer who experienced finamtifitulty during the last half of 2011. Managemeaitempted to develop a longrr
payment strategy for the customer but was never tabdlevelop a plan suitable to both parties.

Selling, general and administrative expense deete$$90,000 or five percent in 2012 when compase2DiL1, and decreased to seven pe
of sales in 2012 compared to eight percent in 26bt the fourth quarter, selling, general and adstriative expense was $947,000 in 201
decrease of $485,000 when compared to the sanmlp#Er2011. The increase in the reserve for paieaticollectable receivables in Decen
2011, as explained in the prior paragraph, wasgblgroffset by higher sales commissions in 2012.

Unallocated Income and Expense

Reference should be made to Note 13 to the ComdetidFinancial Statements, included in Item 8 of florm 10K, for the schedule th
includes these items.

Comparison of 2013 to 2012 — Corporate

Corporate expenses were $3,197,000, or one peofesaéles and $3,193,000, or two percent of sales,2013 and 2012, respective
Additional costs were incurred in 2013 as the Camypstrengthened its IT support team (wages ancelyavnproved its reporting softwe
functionality, incurred legal and travel costs a$std with its followen stock offering, recorded additional stock optimmpensation exper
and increased recurring professional fees assdciaith the Palmer and CRI acquisitions. These m®es were substantially offset by lo
incentive-based bonus expense in 2013.

Acquisition related costs during 2013 reflect tloewamulation of ondime expenses associated with the acquisition of. €Br 2012, thi
category reflects one-time costs associated wittPalmer acquisition.
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Interest expense 2013 was $1,357,000 comparedOb,#® for 2012, an increase of $756,000. Hightarast expense for the year rest
from the additional borrowings associated with thechase of CRI in August 2013 and Palmer in Au@@sit2. Interest expense decre:
during the fourth quarter of 2013 as the Comparng p# the outstanding balance of the line of ctedi

Also, as mentioned in the Specialty Chemicals Seqrdiscussion for 2013, the acquisition of CRI hesliin a gain on bargain purchast
$1,077,000, net of deferred taxes.

Comparison of 2012 to 2011 — Corporate

Corporate expenses for 2012 were $3,193,000, opareent of sales, compared to $2,668,000, or svognt of sales for 2011. This repres
an increase of $525,000 or 20 percent. Directlp assult of the Palmer acquisition, the Companyirired higher corporate costs in 2012
professional fees, travel and non-income relateest@nd licenses of approximately $262,000.

The Company also incurred $881,000 of Palmer mamuring acquisition costs during 2012. These sdjares include $355,000 f
professional audit fees associated with due ditgepreparation and audit of historical financialtements and intangible asset identifice
and valuation, $337,000 related to bank fees astmmtivith the swap agreement, $93,000 of legal #5000 of travel costs and other var
charges of $71,000.

Contractual Obligations and Other Commitments

As of December 28, 2013, the Company's contractblgiations and other commitments were as follows:

(Amounts in thousands) Payment Obligations for the Year Ended
Total 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 Thereafter
Obligations:
Term loans $ 2343¢ % 253¢ $ 253¢ % 253¢ % 253¢ § 2,491 $  10,80¢
Interest payments 4,50: 871 773 67% 577 48C 1,12
Contingent consideration 6,00( 2,50(C 3,50( — — — —
Operating leases 78t 37C 22¢ 12C 60 6 —
Purchase obligations — — — — — — —
Deferred compensatidh 37¢ 51 51 51 21 21 18C
Total $ 3510 $ 6,32¢ $ 7,087 $ 3,38C % 3,192 % 3,00¢ $ 12,118

@ For a description of the deferred compensatiorgatitin, see Note 6 to the Consolidated Financatestents included in Item 8 of this
Form 10-K.

Current Conditions and Outlook

Management was disappointed in 2013's financiallt®sStarting in middecember, we have put in place a number of inigstiacross tt
Metals Segment to return it to its expected levgbrofitability. The primary focus for 2014 will b® reduce the cost structure in all of
business units, improve the product mix at both@RET and Palmer, continue to penetrate new markdtse Specialty Chemicals Segm:
and improve our bidding process for large projett8RISMET and Synalloy Fabrication, which includsstolFab and Ram-Fab.

The Metals Segment's business continues to beyhilgidendent on its customers' capital expenditWkesexpect to see gradual improvem
in 2014 with increased quoting activity and newj@cbstartups. It is too early to project whethacipg will return to the more favorable lev
of 2012, but we do expect solid improvement ovel®fricing. Stainless steel surcharges for thetfogmarter of 2013 and the first two mor
of 2014 have been fluctuating in a fairly tight gen We do not anticipate any material declinesidhal prices from their current levels. (
inventory gains and losses are determined by a surmabfactors including sales mix and the holdirerigd of particular products. As
consequence, there may not be a direct correldtgdween the direction of stainless steel surchaagesinventory profits or losses &
particular point in time. Our experience has bédwet bver the course of a business cycle, this iligfdtas tended towards zero. We believe
are the largest and most capable domestic prodificem-commodity stainless steel pipe and an effectivelpcer of commaodity stainless st
pipe. Our market position remains strong in the madity pipe market and we continue to see strordpmorctivity in special alloy
Management anticipates continued strong salesbefdlass and steel tanks at Palmer as the oilngriéxpansion continues in the Pern
Basin and Eagle Ford Shale areas of Texas. Duiig,2ve will continue to focus on gaining produntiefficiencies improving our prodt
mix.
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Total fabrication backlog was $50,752,000 at Decem#8, 2013 and $19,254,000 at December 29, 20bhalement continues to add
staffing levels, customer requirements and outsogrepportunities as we work to complete the bagkfrofitably and on schedule.

Specialty Chemicals Segment's sales are expectsidote solid growth in 2014 as both units furthengteate new end markets with exis
products. As previously discussed, the new marnkétsnclude oil and gas, agriculture and minindielexpansion of the CRI Tolling facility
on schedule with an anticipated completion datatefthird quarter 2014.

ltem 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures albut Market Risks

The Company is exposed to market risks from advelnaeges in interest rates. Changes in United Siaterest rates affect the interest ea
on the Company's cash and cash equivalents asawéfiterest paid on its indebtedness. Except azibded below, the Company does
engage in speculative or leveraged transactionsjdoes it hold or issue financial instruments fading purposes. The Company is expos:
changes in interest rates primarily as a resutsdforrowing activities used to maintain liquidand fund business operations.

Fair value of the Company's debt obligations, whipproximated the recorded value, consisted of:

At December 28, 2013
* $19,500,000 under a term loan expiring August 2222@ith a variable interest rate of 2.41 perc

» An interest rate swap contract with a notional antaf $19,500,000 which fixes the term loan interage at 3.74 percent. The !
value of the interest rate swap contract was agt &asshe Company of $301,000.

* $3,939,000 under a term loan expiring August 1932@Rh a variable interest rate of 2.17 perc

» An interest rate swap contract with a notional anmiaf $3,939,000 which fixes the term loan interas¢ at 4.83 percent. The !
value of this interest rate swap contract waslhiliig to the Company of $80,000.

At December 29, 2012
» $18,061,000 under a $30,000,000 revolving line eflitrexpiring on August 21, 2015 with a variableenest rate of 2.21 perce
» $21,750,000 under a term loan expiring August 2222@ith a variable interest rate of 2.49 perc

» An interest rate swap contract with a notional amiaf $21,750,000 which fixes the term loan interase at 3.74 percent. The
value of the interest rate swap contract was ditiabo the Company of $450,000.
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Item 8 Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The Company's consolidated financial statemeniete@ notes, report of management and report ofttependent registered public

accounting firm follow on subsequent pages of teport.

Consolidated Balance Sheets

As of December 28, 2013 and December 29, 2012

Assets
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtfebaats of $1,079,288 and $1,312,715 respectively

Inventories, net
Raw materials
Work-in-process
Finished goods
Total inventories
Deferred income taxes
Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Total current assets

Cash value of life insurance
Property, plant and equipment, net
Goodwill

Intangible asset, net

Deferred charges, net and other non-current assets

Total assets

Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity
Current liabilities

Current portion of long-term debt
Accounts payable

Accrued expenses

Current portion of environmental reserves

Total current liabilities

Long-term debt, less current portion
Long-term environmental reserves
Long-term deferred compensation
Long-term contingent consideration
Deferred income taxes

Shareholders' equity

Common stock, par value $1 per share - authori2e@D0,000 shares; issued 10,300,000 shares ar@@)00shares,

respectively
Capital in excess of par value

Retained earnings

Less cost of common stock in treasury: 1,612,2@D1a643,267 shares, respectively

Total shareholders' equity
Commitments and contingencies — See Note 11

2013 2012
1,776,76. $ 1,085,26
34,089,36. 31,177,52
16,557,35 13,975,62
20,402,03 13,773,03
18,897,42 22,414,72
55,856,80 50,163,39
3,776,64 2,981,43
4,111,77! 5,514,53
99,611,35 90,922,14
2,007,41! 2,549,22
35,883,37 28,034,93
18,252,67 18,252,67
6,930,001 8,460,00!
575,54¢ 287,56:
163,260,37 $ 148,506,54
2,533,900 $ 2,274,05
12,430,29 10,523,78
9,511,52i 12,083,49
147,50( 122,00(
24,623,22 25,003,34
20,904,70 37,593,30
478,50( 518,00(
219,79 263,87:
3,362,03: 5,708,83
7,573,99! 7,645,11
10,300,00 8,000,001
33,657,71 1,398,61.
76,337,59 76,836,76
120,295,31 86,235,37
14,197,19 14,461,30
106,098,11 71,774,06




Total liabilities and shareholders' equity $ 163,260,37 $ 148,506,54

See accompanying notes to consolidated financgsients.
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Consolidated Statements of Operations

Years ended December 28, 2013 , December 29, 2tdlPecember 31, 2011

Net sales

Cost of sales

Gross profit

Selling, general and administrative expense
Operating income
Other (income) and expense
Interest expense
Acquisition related costs
Change in fair value of interest rate swap
Gain on bargain purchase, net of taxes
Other, net
Income before income taxes
Provision for income taxes

Net income

Net income per common share:
Basic
Diluted

See accompanying notes to consolidated financssients.

2013 2012 2011
$ 220,749,55 $ 197,658,87 170,575,29
201,547,47 175,730,51 149,485,45
19,202,08 21,928,36 21,089,84
17,387,85 14,140,35 12,284,47
1,814,22 7,788,00: 8,805,36!
1,357,32 600,89 140,78
264,18 880,58 —
(740,83)) 113,64¢ —
(1,077,33) — _
(147,68) (148,029) (85,579
2,158,56. 6,340,91. 8,750,161
398,00( 2,106,00! 2,953,001
$ 1,760,56. $ 4,234,91. 5,797,161
$ 028 $ 0.67 0.9z
$ 028 $ 0.6€ 0.91
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Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equity

Capital in Excess

of Cost of Common
Common Stock Par Value Retained Earning Stock in Treasury Total
Balance at January 1, 2011 $ 8,000,000 $ 942,700 % 69,981,39 $ (15,049,00) $ 63,875,10
Net income — — 5,797,16! — 5,797,16!
Payment of dividends, $0.25 per share — — (1,580,40) — (1,580,40)
Issuance of 18,280 shares of common stock from i
treasury — (72,24°) — 160,83! 88,58¢
Stock options exercised for 18,155 shares, net — 6,87¢ — 155,02° 161,90:
Employee stock option and grant compensation — 276,55: — — 276,55:
Balance at December 31, 2011 8,000,001 1,153,88 74,198,15 (14,733,13) 68,618,90
Net income — — 4,234,91. — 4,234,91.
Payment of dividends, $0.25 per share — — (1,596,30) — (1,596,30)
Issuance of 19,089 shares of common stock from the
treasury — (113,07) — 167,99( 54,91¢
Stock options exercised for 11,800 shares, net — 20,04 — 103,84 123,88t
Employee stock option and grant compensation — 337,75l — — 337,75(
Balance at December 29, 2012 8,000,00! 1,398,61. 76,836,76 (14,461,30) 71,774,06.
Net income — — 1,760,56. — 1,760,56.
Payment of dividends, $0.26 per share — — (2,259,72) — (2,259,72)
Issuance of 17,572 shares of common stock from
the treasury — (33,54YH — 154,74 121,19¢
Stock options exercised for 13,495 shares, net — 28,66( — 109,36¢ 138,02¢
Employee stock option and grant compensation — 331,36: — — 331,36:
Issuance of 2,300,000 shares of common stock 2,300,00t 31,932,62 — — 34,232,622
Balance at December 28, 2013 $ 10,300,00 $ 3365771 $ 7633759 $ (14,197,19) $ 106,098,11

See accompanying notes to consolidated financssients.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Years ended December 28, 2013 , December 29, 2tdlPecember 31, 2011

Operating activities
Net income

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cashduis) provided by operating activities:

Depreciation expense
Amortization expense
Deferred income taxes
Bargain gain on acquisition of Color Resources, Lhét of taxes
(Reduction of) provision for losses on accounteieble
Provision for (reduction of) losses on inventories
Loss (gain) on sale of property, plant and equigmen
Cash value of life insurance
Change in fair value of interest rate swap
Environmental reserves
Issuance of treasury stock for director fees
Employee stock option and grant compensation
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Other assets and liabilities, net
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Accrued income taxes
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities
Investing activities
Purchases of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment
Acquisition of Palmer of Texas
Cash received from Palmer of Texas acquisition
Acquisition of Color Resources, LLC
Proceeds from life insurance settlement
Net cash used in investing activities
Financing activities
Net (payments on) borrowings from line of credit
Borrowings from long-term debt
Payments on long-term debt
Proceeds from notes receivable
Proceeds from sale of common stock
Proceeds from exercised stock options
Dividends paid
Net cash provided by financing activities
Increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

See accompanying notes to consolidated financssients.

2013 2012 2011
$ 176056 $ 423491 $  5797,16
3,516,37. 2,831,71L 2,631,86.
1,597,57: 567,69 26,95¢
(1,467,06) 53,69 121,19:
(1,077,33) — —
(231,230) 106,88: 792,71¢
169,81( 484,07 (599,98))
2,69t (76,189 19¢
(161,53() (190,999) (62,869
(740,83:) 113,64t —
(14,000) — (296,45()
127,98¢ 99,99t 78,70«
331,36: 337,75( 276,55!
(2,057,06) 246,89 (7,402,09)
(5,630,451 (1,906,35) (8,110,001
(315,09 (1,668,77) (973,55()
1,540,60! (4,151,83) 2,369,07!
(2,171,95) 1,195,37. 1,806,37.
(722,209) (643,630) (313,62f)
(5,541,79) 1,634,86: (3,857,78)
(5,766,09) (4,739,72) (3,185,12)
141,64¢ 153,85 31,49(
— (27,895,20) —
— 1,389,05. —
(4,527,76) — —
703,33 734,20 —
(9,448,871 (30,357,82) (3,153,63)
(18,060,89) 9,410,46: 8,431,15
4,033,25! 22,500,00 —
(2,401,10) (759,96) —
— 20,00( —
34,232,62 — —
138,02t 123,88t 161,90
(2,259,72) (1,596,30) (1,580,40)
15,682,17 29,698,08 7,012,65!
691,50: 975,12 1,23¢
1,085,26. 110,13¢ 108,90:
$ 177676 $  1,08526 $ 110,13t
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Description of Business

Synalloy Corporation, a Delaware corporation, wapiporated in 1958 as the successor to a chemaalifacturing business founded in 1¢
Its charter is perpetual. The name was changedubn 3L, 1967 from Blackman Uhler Industries, Incn Qune 3, 1988, the state
incorporation was changed from South Carolina tta@are. The Company's executive offices are locatetV5 Spartan Boulevard, Suite 1
Spartanburg, South Carolina 29301 and 4301 DomiBmulevard, Suite 130, Glen Allen, Virginia 23060.

The Company's business is divided into segments, the Metals Segment and the Specialty iCalsn$egment. The Metals Segment ope
as BRISMET, BristolFab, RarRab and Palmer. BRISMET manufactures pipe, Bristolfabricates piping systems from stainless ankloc
steel and other alloys, RaRab fabricates piping systems from chrome, stasnéesl carbon steel and other alloys, and Palmeufacture
liquid storage solutions and separation equipmEm. Specialty Chemicals Segment operates as Maouéas Chemicals and CRI Tolling ¢
produces specialty chemicals.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include tmoants of the Company and its subsidiaries, allvbich are wholly owned. The Met
Segment is comprised of three wholly-owned subsiia Synalloy Metals, Inc. which owns 100 percehBristol Metals, LLC, located
Bristol, Tennessee; Ram-Fab, LLC, located in Cribséekansas and Palmer of Texas Tanks, Inc, lacateAndrews, Texas.The Specialt
Chemicals Segment consists of two wholly-owned islidnses: Manufacturers Soap and Chemical Compahictwowns 100 perceruf
Manufacturers Chemicals, LLC, located in Clevelahednnessee and Dalton, Georgia and CRI Tolling, Llo€ated in Fountain Inn, Sot
Carolina. All significant intercompany transactidres/e been eliminated.

Accounting Period

The Company's fiscal year is the 52 or 53 weekopeeinding the Saturday nearest to December 3lalRisar 2013 ended ddecember 2!
2013, fiscal year 2012 ended on December 29, a@#iZiscal year 2011 ended on December 31, 204¢h year having 52 weeks.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investmewith a maturity of three months or less when pasgd to be cash equivalents.
Company maintains cash balances at financial urigtits with strong credit ratings.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable from the sale of products eo®rmded at net realizable value and the Compangrgly grants credit to customers or
unsecured basis. Substantially all of the Compaagtounts receivables are due from companies kbdateughout the United States. -
Company provides an allowance for doubtful collesi and for disputed claims and quality issues. dlfoevance is based upon a reviev
outstanding receivables, historical collection mfiation and existing economic conditions. The Comypaerforms periodic credit evaluatic
of its customers' financial condition and generalbes not require collateral. Receivables are gdlgedue within 30 to 6@lays. Delinquel
receivables are written off based on individuablirevaluations and specific circumstances of tngtamer.

Included in the stock purchase agreement (the "$BfAPalmer, the sellers guaranteed the colledtalaf the acquired accounts receivable.
the SPA, at 120 days after the acquisition dategllamvance for doubtful accounts was establishedafioopen, preacquisition receivables
$821,000, with an offsetting increase in the amount duenfithe sellers during the year ended December 2B2.28ubsequent collections
these accounts by the Company will be reimburselegaellers.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or eai&ost is determined by the first-in, ficat ("FIFO") method. The Company writes dowr
inventory for estimated obsolescence or unmarketaiventory equal to the difference between thé agbswentory and the estimated mau
value based upon assumptions about future demahduasrent market conditions. Based upon historiealllts, the Company also maintain:
inventory reserve to provide for the amount ofreated inventory quantity
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loss since the last physical inventory. As of Deben?8, 2013 and December 29, 2012 , inventoriee haen reduced by $2,217,080¢
$2,383,000 , respectively, for obsolescence, mahkdtphysical inventory reserves.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cagird2iation is provided on the straidime method over the estimated useful life of theeds
Land improvements and buildings are depreciated avange of ten to 40 yearand machinery, fixtures and equipment are degtediover
range of three to 20 years . The costs of softiegases are amortized over five years using tteegsttline method. The Company continui
reviews the recoverability of the carrying valueloifg-lived assets. The Company also reviews loreg assets for impairment whene
events or changes in circumstances indicate thgingramount of such assets may not be recoverdBlen the future undiscounted c
flows of the operation to which the assets relat@at exceed the carrying value of the asset, ¢beta are written down to fair value.

Goodwill, Intangible Assets and Deferred Charges

Goodwill, arising from the excess of purchase padeer fair value of net assets of businesses agdjuis not amortized but is reviewed annt

in the fourth quarter for impairment. Intangiblesets represents the fair value of intellectual,-pbysical assets resulting from a busil
acquisition. Deferred charges represent other giltde assets such as debt service costs. Intangfslets are amortized over their estinr
useful lives using an accelerated method. Defectetrges are amortized over their estimated usefes lusing the straighine methoc
Deferred charges are amortized over a period rgnfigim 3 to 10 years and intangible assets are tamadrover a period of 1ears. Deferre
charges and intangible assets totaled $9,407,00068/853,000at December 28, 2013 and December 29, 2012, résglgctAccumulate
amortization of deferred charges and intangibleetasas of December 28, 2013 and December 29, 20akd $2,203,000 and $605,000
respectively. Estimated amortization expense fernbxt five fiscal years based on existing defenlearges and intangible assets is: 2014
$1,362,000 , 2015 - $1,168,000 , 2016 - $999,02017 - $870,000 ; 2018 - $706,000 ; and thereaf$*,099,000 The Company record
amortization expense of $1,598,000, $568,000 ai@g0$® for 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue from product sales is recognized at the timnership of goods transfers to the customentlamearnings process is complete, w
is typically on the date the inventory is shippedtte customer.

Shipping Costs

Shipping costs of approximately $4,871,000 , $3,dd® and $3,088,000 in 2013 , 2012 and 20dgspectively, are recorded in cost of gc
sold.

Research and Development Expenses

The Company incurred research and development egpehapproximately $558,000 , $612,000 and $3%rj002013 , 2012 and 2011
respectively.

Earnings Per Share of Common Stock

Earnings per share of common stock are computeeldbais the weighted average number of shares odistaduring each period. See N
12.

Fair Value Disclosures

The Company makes estimates of fair value in adbogirfor certain transactions, in testing and meaguimpairment, and in providii
disclosures of fair value in its consolidated fio@h instruments. The Company determines the falues of its financial instruments
disclosure purposes by maximizing the use of olad#evinputs and minimizing the use of unobservaipats when measuring fair value. F
value disclosures for assets and liabilities aceiged in three levels. The levels prioritize theuits used to measure the fair value of the ¢
or liabilities. These levels are:

Level 1- Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active marketsdentical assets or liabilities.

Level 2- Inputs other than quoted prices that are obsesvablassets and liabilities, either directly adinectly. These inputs include quo
prices for similar assets or liabilities in actirearkets or quoted prices for identical or similasets or liabilities in markets that are
active.

Level 3- Unobservable inputs that are supported by littl@@ market activity for assets or liabilities aindludes certain pricing mode
discounted cash flow methodologies and similarrigpkes.
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Estimates of fair value using levels 2 and 3 mauire judgments as to the timing and amount of d¢kmsts, discount rates, and other fac
requiring significant judgment, and the outcomesymary widely depending on the selection of thessumptions. The Company's
significant fair value estimates in 2013 and 204l2ted to purchase accounting adjustments in thiea@& Palmer acquisitions, including
measurement of the contingent consideration, estimghe fair value of the reporting units in testigoodwill for impairment, estimating 1
fair value of the interest rate swaps, and proygdiisclosures of the fair values of financial instients.

As of December 28, 2013 and December 29, 201Z;ahrging amount for cash and cash equivalents,uatsaeceivable, accounts payable
borrowings under the Company's line of credit ardhtloan, which are based on variable interessyaigproximates their fair value.

The Company does not currently have any Level dnfimal assets or liabilities. The Company hasethuevel 2 financial assets and liabilit
Cash value of life insurance had a fair value 082,000 and $2,549,000 at December 28, 2013 andriteer 29, 2012respectively. The fe
value of the life insurance policies was determibgdthe underwriting insurance company's valuatiosdels and represents the guarar
value the Company would receive upon surrendehedd policies. Changes in the policies' fair valaee recorded in noodrrent assets wi
corresponding offsetting entries to selling, geharal administrative expense. Also, the fair vadfi¢he Palmer swap was an asse$ad1,00!
and a liability of $450,000 at December 28, 2018 Becember 29, 2012, respectively. The fair valuth® CRI swap was a liability &f80,00(
at December 28, 2013. The interest rate swaps préred using discounted cash flow techniques whighcorroborated by using nbmding
market prices. Changes in the swaps' fair valuewecorded in current assets or liabilities, ag@mate, with corresponding offsetting ent
to other income (expense). Significant inputs t® discounted cash flow model include projectedriuttash flows based on projected one
month LIBORand the average margin for companies with similadit ratings and similar maturities. These aregifeed as Level 2 as they
not actively traded and are valued using pricinglei® that use observable market inputs.

The contingent consideration payments, discussédbie 16, are classified as Level 3. The amourtheftotal earrout liability to the prio
owners was determined using management's bestagstofiPalmer's earnings before interest, taxgged@tion and amortization ("EBITDA
for the three -year eamwst period which will determine the amount of thénuate payment to be made. Factors such as voinorease:
selling price increases and inflation were usedeeelop a base projection. The Company believetiadal costs will be required to impra
employee turnover, safety, internal controls, €teese estimated costs were deducted in order éordigte projected EBITDA. The Compar
current cost of borrowing was used to determineptiesent value of these expected payments. Eacteqend, the Company evsaluates the
assumptions and adjustments to the estimated presiele of the expected payments to be made, ifired.

The following table presents a summary of changdair value of the Company's Level 3 liabilitiegasured on a recurring basis for 2013
2012:

Level 3 Inputs

Balance at December 31, 2011 $ =
Present value contingent consideration liabilityozsated with the Palmer acquisition 8,152,03.
Interest expense charged during the year 56,80(
Change in fair value of contingent consideratiaibility —
Balance at December 29, 2012 8,208,83.
Interest expense charged during the year 153,20(
Change in fair value of contingent consideratiaibility —
Payment to Palmer sellers (2,500,00i)
Balance at December 28, 2013 $ 5,862,03

There were no transfers of assets or liabilitietsvben Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 in the yearseehBDecember 28, 2013 or Decembel
2012. There have also been no changes in thedhiewmethodologies used by the Company.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial stetets in conformity with accounting principles geally accepted in the United States
America ("GAAP") requires management to make edeésiand assumptions, primarily for testing goodfeitlimpairment, determining prog
periodend balances for certain employee benefit accreatanating fair value of identifiable assets aoggiiand liabilities assumed as a re
of business acquisitions and for establishing keseon accounts receivable,
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inventories and environmental issues, that affeetamounts reported in the consolidated finant&éements and accompanying notes. A
results could differ from those estimates.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject @@mpany to significant concentrations of credik kensist principally of cash deposits, tr
accounts receivable and cash surrender valueeoingfurance. The cash surrender value of life arse is the contractual amount on poli
maintained with one insurance company. The Compgmeriorms a periodic evaluation of the relative d@rathnding of this company as
relates to the insurance industry.

Reclassifications

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassifiedonform to the current year presentation in tbeompanying consolidated financ
statements. These reclassifications had no matdfedt on previously reported results of operationshareholders' equity.

Subsequent Events

Management has evaluated subsequent events thifeeiglate of filing this Form 10-K.

Note 2 Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment consist of the foihgy

2013 2012
Land $ 912,217 $ 732,21
Land improvements 713,54! 707,28t
Buildings 21,082,45 16,225,322
Machinery, fixtures and equipment 52,381,06 47,588,23
Construction-in-progress 5,023,10! 3,748,83

80,112,38 69,001,88
Less accumulated depreciation 44,229,00 40,966,95
Property, plant and equipment, net $ 3588337 § 28,034,93

The Company recorded depreciation expense of $1626 $2,832,000 , and $2,632,000 for 2013, 202011 , respectively.

Note 3 Long-term Debt

2013 2012
$ 25,000,000 Revolving line of credit, due Augukt 2015 $ — 3 18,060,89
$ 22,500,000 Term loan, due August 21, 2022 19,500,00 21,750,00
$4,033,250 Mortgage, due August 19, 2023 3,938,61! —
Vehicle loan — 56,46¢

23,438,61 39,867,36
Less current portion 2,533,90! 2,274,05.
Long-term debt, less current portion $ 20,904,70 % 37,593,30

On June 30, 2010 , the Company entered into a Chgdeement with a regional bank to provide a $20,000line of credit that was to exp
on June 30, 2013 . This agreement was amendedeblyatik on August 19, 2011 to extend the maturitg déthe Credit Agreement hiyne
additional year to June 30, 2014 . In connectiotihwhe Palmer acquisition discussed in Note 16Aogust 21, 2012 the Company modifie
the Credit Agreement to increase the limit of thedd facility by $5,000,000 to a maximum of $25)0@00, and extended the maturity dat:
August 21, 2015 . On October 22, 2012 , the Compaagiified this agreement to increase the limit byadditional $5,000,00® a maximur
of $30,000,000 . This increase was in effect fog grar and the maximum line of credit reverted hac&25,000,000 on October 22, 2013
None of the other provisions of the Credit Agreemerre changed as a result of this modificatiorterest on the Credit Agreemen
calculated using the One Month
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LIBOR (as defined in the Credit Agreement), plupra-defined spread, based on the Company's Total Fubedd to EBITDA ratio (8
defined in the Credit Agreement). Borrowings unttex line of credit are limited to an amount equalat borrowing base calculation t
includes eligible accounts receivable, inventoard other non-capital assets.

The Credit Agreement modification on August 21, 2@lso provided for a ten -year term loan in the@ant of $22,500,00€hat requires equ
monthly payments of $187,5Q8lus interest. In conjunction with the new termrp# mitigate the variability of the interest ratsk, the
Company entered into an interest rate swap confifaet'Palmer swap") on August 21, 204Rh its current bank. The Palmer swap was fc
initial notional amount of $22,500,000 with a fixederest rate of 3.74 percent , and a term ofytars, expiring on August 21, 202%hich is
consistent with the maturity of the term loan. Timtional amount of the interest rate swap decreas@sonthly principal payments are made.

In connection with acquisition of CRI, discussedNiote 16, on August 9, 2013 the Company amende@irédit Agreement for a new teyeal
term loan in the amount of $4,033,250 , with montilincipal payments customized to account for2Begear amortization of the real est
assets combined with a $ear amortization of the equipment assets purchasembnjunction with the new term loan, to mitigahe variabilit
of interest rate risk, the Company entered intinégrest rate swap contract (the "CRI swap") ont&aper 3, 2013 The CRI swap was for
initial notional amount of $4,033,250 with a fixederest rate of 4.83 percent and runs for teny/&aAugust 19, 2023which equates to t
due date of the term loan. The notional amounhefibterest rate swap decreases as monthly primmganents are made.

Although both swap agreements are expected totefbc offset variable interest in the borrowindedge accounting will not be utiliz¢
Therefore, changes in their fair value are beirgpmded in current assets or liabilities, as appater with corresponding offsetting entrie:
other income (expense). The Company recorded a,830hksset and a $450,0@bility for the fair value of the Palmer swap @fsDecembe
28, 2013 and December 29, 2012, respectively. DU2Bi2, a portion of the initial change in fair walon the Palmer swap was deemed-
attributable to a cost of underwriting the termnazbtained for the Palmer acquisition, therefor8$8000f the total change in fair value v
classified as an acquisition cost, and the remaiadeother income (expense). As of December 283,26 Company recorded &80,00(
liability for the fair value of the CRI swap. Dugn2013, a portion of the initial change in fair walon the CRI swap was deemed t
attributable to a cost of underwriting the termragbtained for the CRI Tolling acquisition; thenef$70,0000f the total change in fair val
was classified as an acquisition cost, and the iretea as other income (expense). In future peritidschange in fair value will be charge«
credited to other income or expense.

Pursuant to the Credit Agreement, the Company e@sired to pledge all of its tangible and intangiptoperties, including the acquired as
of Palmer and CRI. Covenants under the Credit Agesd include maintaining a certain Total FundedtDelEBITDA ratio (as defined in tl
Credit Agreement), a minimum tangible net worthd datal liabilities to tangible net worth ratio. @HCompany will also be limited tc
maximum amount of capital expenditures per yeaichvis in line with the Company's currently projtttneeds. At December 28, 201t
Company was in compliance with all debt covenants.

The line of credit interest rates were 2.16 perce@t21 percent , and 1.78 percent at DecembeP@83 , December 29, 2012anc
December 31, 2011 , respectively. Additionally, @@mpany is required to pay a fee equal to 0.128goeon the average daily unused am«

of the line of credit on a quarterly basis. No amts were borrowed on the line of credit as of Dalwer 28, 2013 resulting i$25,000,00
available for borrowing under the line of credittecember 28, 2013. Average line of credit borr@sioutstanding during fiscal 2012012
and 2011 were $19,860,000 , $11,045,000 and $%663yith weighted average interest rates of 1.#4que , 1.82 percent and 1.73 percent
respectively. The average borrowings for 2013 waterthined based on the period the Company had &taoding balance on the line
credit, which was completely paid in October 2013.

The Company also had omehicle loan with a bank that was acquired withdbguisition of Palmer (Note 16) and was paid Ihduring 2013
Monthly installments of $2,039 including principadd interest were due on the loan, expiring A@il 2015 . The interest rate on the vehicle
loan was fixed at 0.90 percent . The vehicle loas secured by the vehicle.

Scheduled maturities of total long-term debt olilyzs are as follows: 2014 - $2,534,000 ; 2015,5%$2,000 ; 2016 - $2,534,000 ; 2017 -
$2,534,000 ; 2018 - $2,497,000 ; and thereaftd0;§6,000 .

The Company made interest payments on all crediiitfas of $1,202,000 in 2013, $492,000 in 2002/ $114,000 in 2011 .

36




Note 4 Accrued Expenses

Accrued expenses consist of the following:

2013 2012

Salaries, wages and commissions 1,265,17: 3,275,68!
Current portion of contingent consideration 2,500,001 2,500,001
Advances from customers 1,826,51! 2,015,24
Insurance 1,229,44i 1,008,43.
Taxes, other than income taxes 836,64( 1,600,76:
Benefit plans 530,60 260,81
Interest 31,01¢ 482,50:
Professional fees 302,30« 259,93!
Interest rate swap liability 80,49¢ 450,24
Current portion of deferred compensation 51,00( 71,00(
Other accrued items 858,34( 158,87¢

9,511,52i 12,083,49

Total accrued expenses

Note 5 Environmental Compliance Costs

At December 28, 2013 and December 29, 2012 , thep@ay had accrued $626,000 and $640,0@Spectively, for remediation costs wh
in management's best estimate, is sufficient tsfgaanticipated costs of known remediation requieats as outlined below. Expenditt
related to costs currently accrued are not disealitd their present values and are expected toduke raver the next three to foygars. As
result of the evolving nature of the environmemggjulations, the difficulty in estimating the extamd remedy of environmental contaminal
and the availability and application of technologlye estimated costs for future environmental céanpk and remediation are subjec
uncertainties and it is not possible to predict #mount or timing of future costs of environmentatters which may subsequently
determined.

Prior to 1987, the Company utilized certain produwattits chemical facilities that are currentlyssified as hazardous materials. Testing
groundwater in the areas of the former wastewagatrent impoundments at these facilities discldeedoresence of certain contaminant
addition, several solid waste management units (/&&") at the plant sites have been identified. 398, the Company completed a Resol
Conservation and Recovery Act ("RCRA") Facility é&stigation at its Spartanburg, SC plant site, aaseth on the results, complete
Corrective Measures Study in 2000 . A Correctiveablges Plan specifying remediation procedures feeblermed was submitted in 2080c¢
the Company received regulatory approval. In pyiears, remediation projects were completed to cigaall 14SWMUs on the Spartanbt
plant site at a cost of approximately $968,000 .@utober 2, 2009 the Company entered into an Asset Purchase Agmeieand sold tt
Spartanburg facilities. As part of the Agreemehé purchaser agreed to assume any and all futidentified environmental liabilities at t
site and pay all future annual monitoring and répgrcosts required by the RCRA permit coveringshie. The Company has completed a
the RCRA-Permit required cleanup projects.

At the former Augusta, GA plant site, the Compampreitted a Baseline Risk Assessment and Corredileasures Plan for regulatc
approval. A Closure and Post-Closure Care Plan sudnitted and approved in 20@dr the closure of the surface impoundment (fol
regulated unit). The Company completed and cedtifiesure of the surface impoundment during 20D8ring 2005, the Company complet
a preliminary analysis of remedial alternativegliminate direct contact with surface soils basedhe Baseline Risk Assessment. In 201He
Company identified a concentration of soil contaation. With the approval of the Georgia DepartmaniNatural Resources, Environmel
Protection Division ("EPD"), the affected soil wasmoved and the section of the property was bae#filvith clean fill material plus seleci
chemicals to clean any impurities left behind. Blaspon the soil remediation performed, the Comddeg a SiteWide Corrective Action Ple
with the EPD in December 2011 to terminate the RCRAMIt. The Company has accrued $551,000 and @365t December 28, 20HE8¢C
December 29, 2012respectively, for estimated future remedial aleducup costs. As part of the Asset Purchase Agneefoethe Spartanbu
facility, the purchaser also agreed to pay fofudlire annual monitoring and reporting costs atAhgusta facility required by the EPD.

The Company has identified and evaluated 8M8MUs at its plant in Bristol, Tennessee that réacaesidual groundwater contamination.
Interim Corrective Measures Plan to address tha &inea of contamination identified was submittedrégulatory approval and was apprc
in March 2005 . The Company had $75,000 accruddeaember 28, 2013 and December 29, 20tt?provide for estimated future reme:
and cleanup costs.

37




The Company has been designated, along with othsrs, potentially responsible party under the Ceimgmsive Environmental Respol
Compensation, and Liability Act, or comparable eststatutes, at two waste disposal sites. Notifioatifor these twsites were received by 1
Company in November 2007 and February 2008e site represented by the November 2007 natifin was settled during the current y
The Company was not named in the final settlemedtveas not required to make any payments. It i9sajble to determine the ultimate c
related to the remaining site due to several factoch as the unknown possible magnitude of passdoitamination, the unknown timing
extent of the corrective actions which may be remfjiand the determination of the Company's lighiili proportion to the other parties. At
present time, the Company does not have suffigrdotmation to form an opinion as to whether it teag/ liability, or the amount of su
liability, if any. However, it is reasonably posisitthat some liability exists.

The Company was also named as one of many potgnésiponsible parties in a Superfund Site broumhthe United States Environmer
Protection Agency. Notification for this site wasceived on September 13, 2010 . The Company cedhlffor a speciale minimisparty
settlement at this site and upon payment of appratély $2,000 , was able to be released from fudbesideration.

The Company does not anticipate any insurance egi@s/to offset the environmental remediation castas incurred. Due to the uncerta
regarding court and regulatory decisions, and ptesduture legislation or rulings regarding the omment, many insurers will not co
environmental impairment risks, particularly in tobemical industry. Hence, the Company has beebl@rta obtain this coverage at
affordable price.

Note 6 Deferred Compensation

The Company has deferred compensation agreemethteeviain former officers providing for payments the longer of ten yea life from
age 65 . The present value of such vested futuyengats, $271,000 at December 28, 2013 and $3350@Ekcember 29, 2012has bee
accrued.
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Note 7 Stock Options, Stock Grants and New Stockdses

A summary of activity in the Company's stock optans is as follows:

Weighted
Weighted Average
Average Contractual Intrinsic
Exercise Options Term Value of Options
Price Outstanding (in years) Options Available
At January 1, 2011 $ 9.1: 44,00( 3.6 $ 131,67( —
2011 option plan 350,00t
Granted January 24, 2011 $ 11.5¢ 100,00( (100,000
Exercised $ 9.1t (19,200
Canceled / Expired $ 9.9¢ (4,000 —
At December 31, 2011 $ 11.2¢ 120,80( 8.0 $ 6,44¢ 250,00(
Granted February 9, 2012 $ 11.3¢ 36,74( (36,740
Granted August 21, 2012 $ 12.7:% 75,00( (75,000
Exercised $ 10.5( (11,800
Canceled / Expired $ — — —
At December 29, 2012 $ 11.82 220,74 8.4 $ 367,93 138,26(
Granted February 7, 2013 $ 13.7( 40,59¢ (40,59
Exercised $ 10.6¢ (15,247
Canceled / Expired $ 12.7C (83,35) 83,35:
At December 28, 2013 $ 11.9¢ 162,73t 7.5 582,89: 181,01°
Exercisable options $ 11.2¢ 40,59: 6.8 $ 173,51
Grant Date Fair
Options expected to vest: Value
At December 31, 2011 $ 11.5¢ 100,00( 9.1 $ 7.92
Granted February 9, 2012 $ 11.3¢ 36,74( $ 5.0z
Granted August 21, 2012 $ 12.7: 75,00( $ 5.44
Vested $ 11.5¢ (20,000
At December 29, 2012 $ 11.97 191,74( 8.9 $ 6.4C
Granted February 7, 2013 $ 13.7( 40,59 $ 6.3C
Vested $ 11.4¢ (27,347
Forfeited unvested options $ 12.71 (82,847
At December 28, 2013 $ 12.1¢ 122,14 7.8 $ 7.1¢
The following table summarizes information abowick&toptions outstanding at December 28, 2013 :
Outstanding Stock Options Exercisable Stock Options
Weighted Average
Remaining
Range of Exercise Contractual Life in Weighted Average
Prices Shares Exercise Price Years Shares Exercise Price
$ 9.9¢ 5,000 $ 9.9¢ 1.09 5,000 $ 9.9¢
$ 11.5¢ 91,00C $ 11.5¢ 7.07 16,00 $ 11.5¢
$ 11.3¢ 30,037 % 11.3¢ 8.12 19,59: $ 11.3¢
$ 13.7( 36,69¢ $ 13.7C 9.11 —
162,73¢ 40,59
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On January 21, 2011 , the Board of Directors of @lmenpany adopted the 2011 Lomgfm Incentive Stock Option Plan (the "2011 PI
which was approved by the shareholders at the 2gti2011Annual Meeting. The 2011 Plan authorizes the isseiaf incentive options f
up to 350,000 shares of the Company's common sfdkkhares granted under this plan may be exeddisginning ongear after the date
the grant at a rate of 20 percent annually on auatme basis and unexercised options expire tamsyfeom the grant date.

The Company granted options to purchase 100,00@sluéh its common stock at an exercise price of 38 10 its CEO on January 24, 2011
The per share weighted-average fair value of theksbptions granted during 2011 was $7.93 . ThelB&choles model for this grant v
based on a risk-free interest rate of 3.34 percamt expected life of seven years, an expectedilylaf 0.49 and a dividend yield d.1(C
percent .

On February 9, 2012 , the Company granted optioqmitchase 36,740 shares of its common stock exatise price of $11.36 participant
in the 2011 Plan and an additional 75,000 optiomsewgranted on August 21, 201@ the President of Palmer in connection with
employment agreement with the Company at an exengige of $12.73 . The fair value of the optiorargs were $5.03 and $5.44
respectively. The fair value of the grants werénested using the Black-Scholes option-pricing mdaseded on a risk-free interest rate2di4
percent and 1.80 percent , respectively, an exgegiatility of 0.53 and 0.51 , respectively, wiloth grants using an expected lifesgivel
years and a dividend yield 2.10 percent .

On February 7, 2013, the Company granted optioqmitohase 40,594 shares of its common stock akertise price of $13.7per share 1
participants in the 2011 Plan. The stock optionl$ weist in 20 percent increments annually on a dative basis, beginning ongsar after th
date of grant. In order for the options to vesg ¢#mployee must be in the continuous employmetite@fCompany since the date of the g
Any portion of the grant that has not vested wdlfbrfeited upon termination of employment. The @amy may terminate any portion of
grant that has not vested upon an employee's éaitucomply with all conditions of the award or @11 Plan. Shares representing grant:
have not yet vested will be held in escrow by tleen@any. An employee will not be entitled to anyingtrights with respect to any shares
yet vested, and the shares are not transferabke.p&h share weight-average fair value of this stock option grant #&s30 . The Black-
Scholes model for this grant was based on a risi-interest rate of 2.00 percent , an expectealifeven years, an expected volatilityodb:
and a dividend yield of 1.80 percent .

Prior to the 2011 Plan, the Company had staxk option plans, neither of which have optionailable for future issuance after April 30, 2C
Under the 1998 Plan covering officers and key eyg®s, options may be exercised beginning one Yeardate of grant at a rate 2 percer
annually on a cumulative basis, and unexercisetmpiexpire ten years from the grant date. Underli®94 NorEmployee Directors' Pla
options were exercisable at the date of grant.edhasued under both stock option plans come flares held in treasury with the Company.

The 2011 Plan and the 1998 Plan are incentive stptibn plans, therefore there are no income taxsequences to the Company whe
option is granted or exercised. In 2013 , 2012 2@8#1, options for 15,247 , 11,800 and 19,2D@res were exercised by employees
directors for an aggregate exercise price of $188,06124,000 and $176,00@espectively. The proceeds were generated frah zceived (
$138,000 and repurchase of 1,752 shares from emgdognd directors totaling $25,000 in 2013 , frashcreceived of $124,000 in 20&8c
from cash received of $162,000 and from the re@selof 1,045 shares from employees and directtabn $14,000 in 2011. At the 2013
2012 and 2011 respective year ends, options tchpeec40,591 , 29,000 and 20,800 shares with weighterage exercise prices of $11,26
$10.84 and $9.96 respectively, were fully exercisable. Compensatamst charged against income before taxes forofhtéons wa
approximately $249,000 for 2013, $228,000 for 26hd $111,000 for 2011 . As of December 28, 20thegre was $668,006f unrecognize
compensation cost related to unvested stock optomsted under the Company's stock option plane.Wéighted average period over wt
the stock option compensation cost is expecte@ t@bognized is 2.68 years.
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The Company has a stock awards plan in effect aeber 28, 2013 . A summary of plan activity fol2Q 2012 and 2013 is as follows:

Weighted Average
Grant Date Fair

Shares Value

Outstanding at January 1, 2011 48,34( $ 10.45
Granted January 24, 2011 13,42( % 11.5¢
Granted February 9, 2011 13,30 $ 13.3¢
Vested (12,290 $ 12.81
Forfeited (19,199 $ 9.62

Outstanding at December 31, 2011 43,57: $ 11.3¢
Vested (11,099 $ 12.6(
Forfeited —

Outstanding at December 29, 2012 32,47 % 10.9¢
Vested (8,160 $ 11.0¢
Forfeited (5,060 $ 10.2(

Outstanding at December 28, 2013 19,25: ¢ 11.1F

The Compensation & Longierm Incentive Committee of the Board of Directofghe Company approves stock grants under the Gowr'
2005 Stock Awards Plan to certain management erapkowf the Company. The stock awards vest in 26epeincrements annually on
cumulative basis, beginning one yedter the date of grant from shares held in treasith the Company. In order for the awards to yt#
employee must be in the continuous employment @Qbmpany since the date of the award. Any pomiban award that has not veste
forfeited upon termination of employment. The Companay terminate any portion of the award thatiatsvested upon an employee's fai
to comply with all conditions of the award or the0% Stock Awards Plan. An employee is not entitedny voting rights with respect to ¢
shares not yet vested, and the shares are nofetralole. There were no grants issued in 20C®dmpensation expense on the grants isst
being charged against earnings equally beforeifarés, if any, over a period of 60 monfinem the dates of the grants, with the offset rdec
in Shareholders' Equity. Compensation cost chaag@ihst income for the awards was approximatelyGE&R, $52,00@et of income taxes,
$0.01 per share for 2013, $110,000 , $70,000 fietcome taxes, or $0.01 per share for 2012 and DB , $105,000et of income taxes,
$0.02 per share, for 2011 . As of December 28, 20th@re was $143,006f total unrecognized compensation cost relatedniested stoc
grants under the 2005 Stock Awards Plan. The wedlsverage period over which the stock grant cosgt@m cost is expected to
recognized is 1.96 years.

On April 27, 2012 , the Company issued to eachtohon-employee directors 1,59Bares of its common stock from shares held irstng
with the Company (an aggregate of 7,990 sharesy#&88 shares shares in 2011 . Such shares wageslits the directors in lieu of $20,000
their annual cash retainer fees for 2012 and $05df0their annual cash retainer fees for 2011. 2011, two noremployee directo
resigned/retired from the Board of Directors ranglin the forfeiture of 1,248 shares.

On April 25, 2013, the Company permitted each nmpleyee director to elect up to 10086 their annual retainer in restricted stock.
number of restricted shares issued is determingtidopverage of the high and low common stock pitéhe day prior to the Annual Meet
of Shareholders or the date prior to the appointeithe Board. In 2013, non-employee director®einexd an aggregate of 9,4%hares ¢
restricted stock in lieu of total retainer fees$dpP8,000. The shares granted to the directors are notteggis under the Securities Act of 1!
and are subject to forfeiture in whole or in pgrbn the occurrence of certain events.

On September 30, 2013, the Company closed on agrwritten public offering of 2,000,000 shares af gdommon stock at a price $15.7¢
per share. The underwriters also exercised thdiompo purchase and close upon an additional Wsbares of common stock at a pric
$15.75 per share. The Company received net procafids underwriting discounts and estimated expgnsf approximately $34,233,00The
Company intends to use the net proceeds from tieeirmd to invest approximately $3,500,000new equipment for the CRI Tolling facili
The Company used $18,061,000 of the stock saleepdscto pay off the outstanding balance on thedireeedit.

41




Note 8 Income Taxes

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effe€temporary differences between the carrying amowfitassets and liabilities for financ
reporting purposes and the amounts used for indam@urposes. Significant components of the Comgathgferred tax liabilities and as:

are as follows at the respective year ends:

(Amounts in thousands) 2013 2012
Deferred tax assets:
Inventory valuation reserves $ 794 % 85:
Allowance for doubtful accounts 10C 162
Inventory capitalization 3,08¢ 2,23¢
Environmental reserves 224 22¢
Interest rate swap 12¢ 11¢
Back charge accrual 203 72
Deferred compensation 97 12C
State net operating loss carryforwards 14z 66
Other 258 27¢
Total deferred tax assets 5,03( 4,13t
Deferred tax liabilities:
Tax over book depreciation and amortization 8,021 8,04¢
Prepaid expenses 74¢ 663
Other 57 a9C
Total deferred tax liabilities 8,821 8,79¢
Net deferred tax liabilities $ (3,797 $ (4,664
Significant components of the provision for incotares are as follows:
(Amounts in thousands) 2013 2012 2011
Current:
Federal 1,68¢ $ 1,771 $ 2,67(
State 17¢€ 281 162
Total current 1,86t 2,052 2,83:
Deferred:
Federal (1,32)) 114 10¢
State (14€) (60) 13
Total deferred (1,467 54 121
Total 39¢ $ 2,10¢ $ 2,95:
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The reconciliation of income tax computed at theSUfederal statutory tax rates to income tax egpest

2013 2012 2011

(Amounts in thousands) Amount % Amount % Amount %
Tax at U.S. statutory rates $ 734 34.(% $ 2,15¢ 34.(% $ 2,97¢ 34.C%
State income taxes, net of federal tax

benefit (23 1.1)% 11¢ 1.€% 13: 1.E%
Bargain gain on CRI acquisition (36€) (17.0% — — % — — %
Manufacturing exemption (13¢) (6.9% (180 (2.9% (162 (1.9%
Stock issuance costs 101 4.7 % — — % — — %
Stock option compensation 85 3% 38 0.€% 38 0.4%
Other, net 5 0.2% (26) (0.5)% (32) (0.9%
Total $ 39¢ 184% $ 2,10¢ 332% $ 2,95: 33.7%

Income tax payments of approximately $2,393,00@,1%#2,000 and $3,143,000 were made in 2013 , 2022811, respectively. Tt
Company had state net operating loss carryforwef@pproximately $45,503,000 at December 28, 204Bich will expire between the ye
2017 to 2032, and $43,143,000 at December 29, 2@lrce the likelihood of recognizing the tax effetthese carryforwards is remote, t
have not been recognized in the consolidated finhatatements.

The Company and its subsidiaries are subject to fddgral income tax as well as income tax of midtstate jurisdictions. The Company is
longer subject to U.S. federal or state incomeeteaminations for years before 2009. The Compamgsral income tax return for 2007 \
examined by the Internal Revenue Service in 2009 faderal income tax and interest liabilities résgl from this examination were t
material. The Company's continuing practice isetcognize interest and/or penalties related to ircta® matters in the provision for inca
taxes. The Company had no accruals for uncertaipdaitions including interest and penalties atehd of 2013 or 2012 .

Note 9 Benefit Plans and Collective Bargaining Agements

The Company has a 401(k) Employee Stock Ownerskdp Rhe "401(k)/ESOP Plan") covering all nonion employees. Employees n
contribute to the 401(k)/ESOP Plan up to 100 pdroéitheir salary with a maximum of $17,500 for 301Under the Economic Growth ¢
Tax Relief Reconciliation Act, employees who are &9 or older may contribute an additional $5,560year for a maximum of $23,006r
2013. Contributions by the employees are invested i@ onmore funds at the direction of the employemydver, employee contributic
cannot be invested in Company stock. Contributiopghe Company are made in cash and then usedebyGh(k)/ESOP Plan Trustee
purchase Company stock. The Company contributdsebalf of each eligible participant a matching citmttion equal to a percentage whic
determined each year by the Board of Directors. Za#3 , 2012 and 2011 the maximum was four percdte matching contribution
allocated after each payroll. Matching contribu@f approximately $550,000 , $390,000 and $345y08&@ made for 2013 , 2012 and 2011
respectively. The Company may also make a diseratjo contribution, which if made, would be distibd to all eligible participan
regardless of whether they contribute to the 4GE&DP Plan. No discretionary contributions were enedthe 401(k)/ESOP Plan in 2013
2012 or 2011 . The Company also contributes torusponsored defined contribution retirement planst@outions relating to these ple
were approximately $882,000 , $739,000 and $688(@0R2013 , 2012 and 2011 , respectively.

The Company has threeollective bargaining agreements at its Bristolndessee facility. The number of employees of then@am)
represented by these unions is 249 , or 37 peafeht Company's total employees. They are repteddyy two locals affiliated with the AFL-
CIO and ondocal affiliated with the Teamsters. The Companysiders relationships with its union employees acshtisfactory. Collecti
bargaining contracts will expire in January 201% &arch 2015. The Company is currently in negaiiai with the union regarding 1
collective bargaining contract that expired Feby2(14.

Note 10 Leases

The Company leases a warehouse facility in Dal®porgia, property for a manufacturing facility inrd@ge, Texas, office space
Spartanburg, South Carolina and Glen Allen, Virgimind various manufacturing and office equipmenéath of its locations, all unc
operating leases. The amount of future minimumeess/ments under the operating leases are as ®olRL4 - $370,000 ; 2015 - $229,000
2016 - $120,000 ; 2017 - $60,000 ; and 2018 - $b,0Rent expense related to operating leases w4000 , $470,000 and $140,000
2013, 2012 and 201 Irespectively. The Company does not have any deifise are classified as capital leases for antheperiods present
in the consolidated financial statements.
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Note 11 Commitments and Contingencies

The Company is from time-time subject to various claims, other possible llegdions for product liability and other damagaad othe
matters arising out of the normal conduct of thenPany's business. The Metals Segment recorded elgmanse of $512,000 , $330,0ax
$100,000 for 2013, 2012 and 2011 , respectivelyspecific customers' product claims.

In November 2012, after almost twelm®nths of collection efforts, the Specialty Chertsicaegment filed suit against a former custome
past due invoices totaling $134,000hat former customer, in turn, filed a varietyaafunterclaims against the Specialty Chemicals &
and alleged $3,000,000 in damages. The Compargdsétis case during 2013 with no cash outlay.

In November 2013, a Metals Segment customer filédagainst Bristol Metals, LLC in Louisiana stateurt alleging damages from breacl!
warranty, among other claims. The plaingftlaim for damages does not state a dollar amdinet.Company filed a counterclaim against
customer for $135,000f past due invoices and successfully removed #se ¢o the United States District Court for the diedDistrict o
Louisiana, where the case is currently pending.

In January 2014, a Metals Segment customer filé#dagiainst Palmer and another unrelated defendaitkas state court alleging breac
warranty, among other claims. The plainsftlaim for damages does not state a dollar am®aliner has yet to be served with the lav
while the parties discuss settlement. This mattieea out of products manufactured and sold by Bafmior to the Compang’acquisition ¢
Palmer. As such, the sellers of Palmer are conta#lgtbound in the SPA to indemnify the Companyday and all costs, including attorneys
fees, which may arise out of this matter.

Other than the environmental contingencies disclssélote 5 and the matters discussed in this Natananagement is not currently awar
any other asserted or unasserted matters whicld bawe a significant effect on the financial coiaditor results of operations of the Company

Note 12 Earnings Per Share

The following table sets forth the computation aiz and diluted earnings per share:

2013 2012 2011
Numerator:
Net income $ 1,760,56. $ 4,23491. $ 5,797,16!
Denominator:
Denominator for basic earnings per share - weightelage shares 6,941,79 6,341,85! 6,313,411
Effect of dilutive securities:
Employee stock options and stock grants 5,61( 52,48¢ 48,67(
Denominator for diluted earnings per share - weidhdverage shares 6,947,40 6,394,34. 6,362,08:
Earnings per share:
Basic $ 0.2 % 067 $ 0.9z
Diluted $ 025 $ 0.6¢6 $ 0.91

The diluted earnings per share calculations excthdeeffect of potentially dilutive shares when thelusion of those shares in the calculs
would have an anti-dilutive effect. The Company hesighted average shares of common stock of 16102013 , 231,200 in 2012nc
139,484 in 2011 , which were not included in thetéd earnings per share calculation as their effes anti-dilutive.

Note 13 Industry Segments

The Company operates in twwincipal industry segments: metals and speciditgndcals. The Company identifies such segmentsdbax
products and services. The Metals Segment consiisiynalloy Metals, Inc. a wholly-owned subsidiampich owns 100 percerdf Bristol
Metals, LLC, Ram-Fab, LLC and Palmer of Texas Tarlks., both whollyewned subsidiaries of the Company. The Metals Set
manufactures pipe from stainless steel and otHeysalfabricates piping systems from carbon, chrosteinless steel and other alloys,
produces fiberglass and steel storage tanks. Thal legment's products, many of
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which are custom-produced to individual orders asguired for corrosive and highurity processes, are used principally by the chaf,
petrochemical, pulp and paper, mining, power gdim@rdincluding nuclear), water and wastewaterttresnt, liquid natural gas, brewery, fc
processing, petroleum, pharmaceutical and otheusimés. Products include pipe, piping systemstag® tanks and a variety of ot
components. The Specialty Chemicals Segment censfsiManufacturers Soap and Chemical Company, dlywbwned subsidiary of tt
Company which owns 100 perceasftManufacturers Chemicals, LLC and CRI Tolling, CLa wholly owned subsidiary of the Company.
Specialty Chemicals Segment manufactures a widietyaof specialty chemicals and dyes for the carpbemical, paper, metals, mini
agricultural, fiber, paint, textile, automotive tpgeum, cosmetics, mattress, furniture, janitoaiadl other industries.

Segment operating income is the segment's tot@niey less operating expenses, excluding intergsnse and income taxes. ldentifit

assets, all of which are located in the Unitede3tadire those assets used in operations by eatlesed he Metals Segment's identifiable a:

include goodwill of $16,898,000 in 2013 and 20Had the Specialty Chemicals Segment's identifiab#ets include goodwill of $1,355,000
2013 and 2012 . Centralized data processing armliatinog expenses are allocated to the $@gments based upon estimates of their perce

of usage. Unallocated corporate expenses includ&rommental charges of $17,000 , $46,000 and $8,002013 , 2012and 201

respectively. Corporate assets consist principdllyash, certain investments, and equipment.

The Metals Segment has one domestic customer ¢ticatiated for approximately eleven percehthe Metals Segment's revenues in 2
These revenues were for the Bechtel project whidihnet recur in the future. The Company believiaattit will be able to grow base stainl
steel pipe sales to completely offset the los$eéé¢ revenues in 2014. A different customer aceauftr ten perceriaf the Metals Segmen
revenues in 2011 . There were no customers refgmegemore than ten perceof the Metals Segment's revenues for 2012. The i&lp¢
Chemicals Segment has one domestic customer thaumted for approximately 40 percent of revenue2@i 3, 28 percerif revenues fc
2012 , and 24 percent of revenues in 20Hbwever, this customer is a large global compamg the purchases by this customer are de
from several different business units that opeaatenomously from each other. Even so, loss ofdhstomer's revenues would have a ma
adverse effect on the Specialty Chemicals Segmehtree Company.

In order to establish stronger business relatigpsstthe Metals Segment uses only a few raw matsujgbliers. Seven suppliers furnish about
percent of total dollar purchases of raw materialth one supplier furnishing 24 percertiowever, the Company does not believe that ths
of this supplier would have a materially adverdeafon the Company as raw materials are readdylavle from a number of different sourc
and the Company anticipates no difficulties iniflifg its requirements. For the Specialty Chenscdegment, most raw materials are gene
available from numerous independent suppliers @ulita50 percent of total purchases are from its depensuppliers. While some re
material needs are met by a sole supplier or onfeva suppliers, the Company anticipates no diffiesl in fulfilling its raw materie
requirements.
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Segment Information:

(Amounts in thousands)
Net sales
Metals Segment
Specialty Chemicals Segment

Operating (loss) income
Metals Segment
Specialty Chemicals Segment

Less unallocated corporate expenses
Operating income
Acquisition related costs
Interest expense
Change in fair value of interest rate swap
Gain on bargain purchase, net of taxes
Other income, net
Income before income taxes

Identifiable assets
Metals Segment
Specialty Chemicals Segment
Corporate

Depreciation and amortization
Metals Segment
Specialty Chemicals Segment
Corporate

Capital expenditures
Metals Segment
Specialty Chemicals Segment
Corporate

Geographic sales
United States
Elsewhere
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2013 2012 2011
164,23. $ 146,28! 127,72
56,51¢ 51,37« 42 84¢
220,75( $ 197,65¢ 170,57!
(732 $ 6,13¢ 9,25:
5,74% 4,84: 2,221
5,011 10,98: 11,47:
3,197 3,19: 2,66¢
1,81¢ 7,78¢ 8,80¢
264 881 —
1,357 601 141
(747) 114 —
(1,077) — —
(14€) (149 (85)
2,15¢ $ 6,341 8,75(
124,720 $ 117,34(
28,04 21,94¢
10,49¢ 9,21¢
163,26( $ 148,50°
4251 $ 2,77€ 2,07:
65¢ 43¢ 41¢
204 18¢ 167
511 $ 3,39¢ 2,65¢
431: $ 3,551 2,097
1,397 1,06€ 93C
57 122 15¢
5,76 $ 4,74C 3,18¢
212,81( $ 188,29; 159,82
7,93¢ 9,367 10,75¢
220,75( $ 197,65¢ 170,57!




Note 14 Quarterly Results (Unaudited)

The following is a summary of quarterly operatidois2013 and 2012 :

Second
(Amounts in thousands except for per share data) First Quarter Quarter Third Quarter Fourth Quarte
2013
Net sales $ 57,83¢ $ 56,27 $ 54,397 $ 52,24«
Gross profit (loss) 6,90¢ 7,12¢ 5,50z (33%)
Net income (loss) 1,46 1,91: 1,461 (3,079
Per common share
Basic 0.2t 0.3C 0.2: (0.3¢)
Diluted 0.2: 0.3C 0.2t (0.3¢)
2012
Net sales $ 47,37: 3 46,87¢ $ 50,27 $ 53,13¢
Gross profit 5,091 5,261 5,68: 5,89:
Net income 1,33 1,09( 842 96&
Per common share
Basic 0.21 0.17 0.1z 0.1t
Diluted 0.21 0.17 0.1z 0.1f

Note 15 Interest Rate Swaps

As discussed in Note 3, as a result of the CRI ia@ttqan and in conjunction with the term loan olid in August 2013, to mitigate -
variability of the interest rate risk, the Compamtered into the CRI swap on August 9, 2013 wilcitrrent bank. The CRI swap has an ir
notional amount of $4,033,250 with a fixed intenegte of 4.83 percent and a term of t@ars that expires on August 19, 2023. The not
amount of the swap decreases as monthly princgahpnts are made. Also, as discussed in Note 8result of the Palmer acquisition an
conjunction with the term loan obtained in AuguBi2 to mitigate the variability of the interesteraisk, the Company entered into the Pa
swap on August 21, 2012 with its current bank. Paémer swap has an initial notional amount of $2@,600 with a fixed interest rate 874
percent , and a term of ten years that expires wguét 21, 2022 The notional amount of the interest rate swapabses as monthly princi|
payments are made.

Although the swaps are expected to effectively atffgariable interest in the borrowing, hedge actiognwill not be utilized. Therefor
changes in their fair value are recorded in curassets or liabilities, as appropriate, with cqrogsling offsetting entries to other expense.
Company recorded an $80,000 liability for the faatue of the CRI swap as of December 28, 2013. Gtvmpany recorded a $301,088se
and a $450,000 liability for the fair value of thalmer swap at December 28, 2013 and Decembe029, Bespectively.

Note 16 Acquisitions

Acquisition of Color Resources, LLC

The Company completed the purchase of the busasssts of Color Resources, LLC ("CRI") and theding and land located in Fountain |
South Carolina where CRI was the sole tenant (@RI “Facility”). CRI Tolling, a South Carolina linat liability company and whollgwnec
subsidiary of the Company, will continue CRbusiness as that of a toll manufacturer thatigesvoutside manufacturing resources to g
and regional chemical companies. On August 9, 208$nalloy purchased the CRI Facility for a totalrghase price of $3,450,0000r
August 26, 2013 the Company purchased certain assets and assteniéh operating liabilities of CRI through CRI Ilieg for a tota
purchase price of $1,100,000 he assets purchased from CRI included accoectivable, inventory, certain other assets, anépetnt, ne
of assumed payables. The Company plans to usecthesiion of CRI and the CRI Facility to expand jroduction capacity from M(
Cleveland, Tennessee facility to further peneteadisting markets, as well as develop new onesudhiaty those in the energy industry. (
Tolling will operate as a division of the CompasiBpecialty Chemicals Segment, which includes M@& Tompany viewed both the build
and operating assets of CRI together as one bssitapable of providing a return to ownership bpagding the segment's produc
capacity.
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Accordingly, the acquisition meets the definitidnadbusiness and the transaction is structuredwayait that meets the definition of a busir
combination under in accordance with FASB Accounttandards Codification 80Business Combinations

The transaction is being accounted for using thguiaition method of accounting for business comtiames in accordance with gener:
accepted accounting principles in the United Stafedmerica. Under this method, the total consitderatransferred to consummate
acquisition is allocated to the identifiable targibnd intangible assets acquired and liabilitesueed based on their respective fair valu
of the closing date of the acquisition. The acdigisi method of accounting requires extensive usestimates and judgments to allocate
consideration transferred to the identifiable thtegand intangible assets, if any, acquired ardliies assumed.

The purchase price for the acquisition of CRI am&l €RI Facility was funded through a new term l@ath the Companys bank which i

discussed in Note 3 along with an increase in v @any’s line of credit.

A summary of sources and uses of proceeds fordipeisition of CRI and the CRI Facility is as follew

Sources of funds:

Proceeds from term loan $ 4,033,25
Proceeds from line of credit 516,75(
Total sources of funds $ 4,550,001
Uses of funds:

Acquisition of CRI Facility $ 3,450,001
Acquisition of certain CRI assets, net of assuniegailities 1,100,001
Amount received by Company for pro-rated propeaties at close $ (22,000
Total uses of funds $ 4,528,001

The total consideration transferred was allocate@RI's net tangible and identifiable assets based dnfdie value as of August 26, 201
The preliminary allocation of the total considenatito the fair value of the assets acquired arilii@s assumed as of August 26, 2013 i

follows:

Purchase
accounting and

As recorded by Purchased CRI fair value As recorded by
CRI Facility adjustments the Company
Accounts receivable, net $ 623,53¢ $ — 3 — 3 623,53¢
Inventories, net 232,77: — — 232,77:
Prepaid expenses 11,69¢ — — 11,69¢
Building and land — 3,450,001 650,00( 4,100,001
Equipment, net 614,99¢ — 1,028,07; 1,643,07
Accounts payable (365,89 — — (365,899
Accrued liabilities (17,109 — — (17,109
Deferred tax liability — — (600,75() (600,75()
$ 1,100,000 $ 3,450,000 $ 1,077,322 $ 5,627,32
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Due to severe financial difficulties CRI was expeding prior to the acquisition, the Company wale ab purchase the land, building i
equipment at below market value. Therefore, theallv&ir value of the assets acquired by the Camypaxceeded the amount paid. Upor
determination that the Company was going to recmi gain related to the bargain purchase of CRItha CRI Facility, the Compa
reassessed its assumptions and measurement dfigddatassets acquired and liabilities assumedamtluded that the preliminary valuat
procedures and resulting measures were appropbageto the bargain purchase accounting rulesgediore gain, net of taxes, was recogni
during year ended December 28, 2013 as follows:

Fair value of net assets acquired $ 5,627,33.
Total consideration paid (4,550,00)
Bargain purchase gain $ 1,077,33.

The amount of CRI's revenues and pag-earnings included in the Consolidated StatesnehiOperations for the year ended Decembe
2013 was $1,824,000 for revenues and $144,000réstap earnings. The following unaudited pro formaomfation is provided to preser
summary of the combined results of the Compamgerations with CRI as if the acquisition hadusged on January 1, 2012. The unauc
pro forma financial information is for informatiolngurposes only and is not necessarily indicatifvevioat the results would have been hac
acquisition been completed on the date indicatedab

Pro Forma (Unaudited)

2013 2012
Pro forma revenues $ 223,969,000 $ 204,850,00
Pro forma net income 1,230,001 3,599,001
Earnings per share:
Basic $ 0.1¢ $ 0.57
Diluted $ 0.1¢ $ 0.5¢

The pro-forma calculation excludes non-recurringjugsition costs of $255,000 during 2013. These edjiares included $113,00fr
professional audit fees associated with the auddiisiorical financial statements and the valuatidrassets acquired, $70,0608lated to bar
fees associated with the swap agreement, $53,0@®af fees and other various charges of $19,0Dese expenses were all recorded ¢
corporate level and are included as a separatédimein the consolidated statement of operations.

Acquisition of Palmer of Texas

On August 21, 2012the Company completed the purchase of all obtitstanding shares of capital stock of Palmer. Baisna manufactur
of liquid storage solutions and separation equipnfen the petroleum, municipal water, wastewatdrernical and food industries. T
Company viewed the Palmer acquisition as an extelemplement to the Metals Segment as both corapaservice many of the sa
markets and the Company has the ability to drivienBaefficiencies in purchasing and operationsnfeals results of operations since
acquisition date are reflected in the Company'ssclidated statements of operations, and the Pahoguisition added approximatehdC
employees at December 29, 2012. Effective Janugrg@13, Lee-Var, Inc. changed its name to Palrh&emas Tanks, Inc.

The purchase price for the acquisition was $25@ X5, The adjustment for working capital increatiesl purchase price to $26,951,200
addition, the amount of maintenance expenditures tve 18 month period following closing and the final co$taoproduction expansi
capital project currently underway could also resunlpurchase price adjustments. Currently, the @amy does not expect to realize
material purchase price adjustments from theseitemos. The sellers of Palmer will also have thditghtio receive earreut payments rangil
from $2,500,000 to $10,500,000 if the business acitieves targeted levels of Adjusted EBITDA, andel in the SPA, over a threeal
period following closing; and the Company will hatee ability to claw-back portions of the purch@siee over a twoyear period followin
closing if Adjusted EBITDA falls below baseline kg. Palmer had recorded liabilities of approxiryai®l.2 million related to certa
contingencies for which the former Palmer sharedisichave agreed to indemnify the Company. Accolgirtpe Company has carried o
these liabilities in its consolidated financialtstaents and has recorded an asset of approxing&ttedymillionin prepaid expenses reflecting
indemnification against these potential paymentstiny 2013, several of the identified contingentis were resolved and the amour
prepaid expenses for these indemnified contingsrigereased to $336,000 and the end of 2013.
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At the end of each year (based on the acquisitaie)dor the next three years, if Palmer's AdjusEBHTDA for the year is below $5,825,000
there will not be an earn-out paid for that yehAdjusted EBITDA for the year is greater than 5800 but less than $6,825,00ie seller
of Palmer will be paid $2,500,000 for that yearAtfjusted EBITDA exceeds $6,825,000 for the ydae,darn-out would be $3,500,008t the
conclusion of the three -year earn-out period,ha event that the cumulative Adjusted EBITDA foe tharneut period is more thi
$17,475,000 , the sellers of Palmer will receiveadditional earreut payment, if any, as follows. In the event ttret cumulative Adjuste
EBITDA for the earn-out period is greater than $¥5,000 but less than $20,475,000 , the Comparymeaike an additional eammt paymer
so that the total cumulative earn-out paymentsttier three -year earn-out period equals $7,500,08Ghe cumulative Adjusted EBITD
exceeds $20,475,000 , the Company will make artiaddl earn-out payment so that the total cumuéagarn-out payments for the thrgea
period equals $10,500,000 . At acquisition, the fany forecasted earn-out payments totaling $8,800,&hich was discounted to a pres
value of $8,152,000 using its incremental borrowiaig of two percent . The first year earn-out 5$0,000before the downward adjustm
for indemnification claims) was paid in 2013, leayian earn-out liability balance of $6,000,0iCthe end of 2013. The various assump
and projections used in the earn-out projectionseweviewed at December 28, 20d@&h no additional adjustments required. Any fu
changes to the projected eaut payments as a result of our quarterly reviewfonécasted Adjusted EBITDA would be reflected a
adjustment to earnings in that period.

The purchase price for the Palmer acquisition wasléd through an increase in the Company's cucrenit facility and a new term loan w
the Company's bank which is discussed in Note 3.

The total purchase price was allocated to Palmet'sangible and identifiable assets based on #stimated fair values as of August 21, 2012
An intangible asset representing the fair valu®alimer's customer base acquired by the Companyalaed at $9,000,000which is bein
amortized over a 15/ear period using an accelerated amortization ntethbe excess of the consideration transferred thefair value of th
net tangible and identifiable assets and intangiskeets is reflected as goodwill. The Company besieghe amount of goodwill resulting fri
the purchase price allocation is attributable te workforce of the acquired business (which is eliible for separate recognition as
identifiable asset) and the expected synergistiefiks of being able to leverage Palmer's expertigie the Company's existing manufactui
and fabrication processes. All of the goodwill vedilscated to the Metals Segment. Since the Companshased the stock of Palmer, gooc

is not deductible for tax purposes. The currerdgcaition of the total consideration paid to the faitue of the assets acquired and liabil
assumed is as follows:

Purchase accounting

As recorded by and fair value As recorded by
Palmer adjustments Synalloy
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,389,05. $ — 1,389,05.
Accounts receivable, net 4,969,03! — 4,969,03!
Inventories, net 5,678,36! — 5,678,36:
Prepaid expenses 75,80« 1,536,00! 1,611,80.
Net fixed assets 4,799,69: 2,691,37! 7,491,06;
Goodwill — 15,897,94 15,897,94
Intangible asset - customer base — 9,000,001 9,000,00!
Contingent consideration — (8,152,03) (8,152,03)
Other liabilities assumed (6,833,31) (3,156,71) (9,990,02)
$ 10,078,63 $ 17,816,57 $ 27,895,20

The purchase accounting and fair value adjustmamnpifepaid expenses represents the indemnificgiomided by the sellers of Palmer
certain liabilities assumed at acquisition, as rioeatd earlier in this note, plus the Controlleegention bonus. The adjustment for net f
assets increases the book value of the properant @nd equipment to their estimated fair valueofashe acquisition date. Conting
consideration is the present value of projectech-eat payments to the prior owners of Palmer. Theonitgj of the adjustments to ott
liabilities assumed represents current and defen@ame taxes inherent with the acquisition.

The amount of Palmer's revenues andtpreearnings included in the consolidated statesnehbperations for the year ended Decembe
2012 was $12,619,000 for revenues and $977,00prétax earnings. The following unaudited pro formaoinfiation is provided to preser
summary of the combined results of the Companyésaifns with Palmer as if the acquisition had o@dion January 2, 201The unaudite
pro forma financial information is for informatigeurposes only and is not necessarily indicativevioat the results would have been hac
acquisition been completed on the date indicatedab
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Pro Forma (Unaudited)

2012 2011
Pro forma revenues $ 220,955,000 $ 202,689,00
Pro forma net income 5,537,001 6,478,00!
Earnings per share:
Basic $ 087 $ 1.0z
Diluted 0.87 1.0z

The pro-forma calculation excludes non-recurringjugsition costs of $881,000 during 2012. These edjiares included $355,00fr
professional audit fees associated with due ditgepreparation and audit of historical financialtements and intangible asset identifice
and valuation, $337,000 related to bank fees astmmtivith the swap agreement, $93,000 of legal &5 000of travel costs and other varic
charges of $71,000 These expenses were all recorded at the corptaett and are included as a separate line iterthénconsolidate
statement of operations.

Note 17 Payment of Dividends

On November 7, 2013 , the Board of Directors of @mmpany voted to pay an annual dividend of $(Q26 share which was paid
December 3, 2013 to holders of record on NovemBeP@13 for a total of $2,260,000 . In 2012 , themPany paid a $0.28ash dividend c
December 10, 2012 for a total of $1,596,000 an20ihl , the Company paid a $0.25 cash dividend areDéer 5, 2011or a total payment
$1,580,000 . The Board presently plans to review at the endashdiscal year the financial performance and eapiteded to support futt
growth to determine the amount of cash dividendnif, which is appropriate.

Note 18 Subsequent Events

On February 20, 2014 , the Compensation & Ldegm Incentive Committee of the Board of Directofghe Company approved stock op
grants under the 2011 Plan. Options for a totdl3790 shares, with an exercise price of $1¢6t6share, were granted under the 2011 Pl
certain management employees of the Company. Dok sptions will vest in 20 perceiricrements annually on a cumulative basis, begg
one year after the date of grant. In order fordhgons to vest, the employee must be in the cantis employment of the Company since
date of the grant. Any portion of the grant thas hat vested will be forfeited upon terminationesfiployment. The Company may termir
any portion of the grant that has not vested uporraployee's failure to comply with all conditioatthe award or the 2011 Plan. Shi
representing grants that have not yet vested wilhéld in escrow by the Company. An employee witl e entitled to any voting rights w
respect to any shares not yet vested, and thesshegenot transferable. The per share weightentage fair value of this stock option grant
$6.70 . The Black-Scholes model for this grant based on a risk-free interest rate of two percantexpected life of sevemars, an expect
volatility of 0.52 and a dividend yield of 1.80 pent . Compensation expense totaling $92,80 be recorded against earnings equally
the following 60 months from the date of grant wie offset recorded in Shareholders' Equity.

On January 2, 2014, the Credit Agreement was angetalextend the maturity date of the line of crdmitoneadditional year to August Z
2016. This amendment also modified certain findmm&enants in the agreement including the Minimlamgible Net Worth requirement
defined in the Credit Agreement) and the maximunowmb of capital expenditures (as defined in thed@rdgreement). No other provisions
the agreement were modified.
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Management's Annual Report On Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management of the Company is responsible for piregahe Company's annual consolidated financiakestants and for establishing :
maintaining adequate internal control over finahm@orting for the Company. Management has evatu#tte effectiveness of the Compa
internal control over financial reporting as of Batber 28, 2013 based on criteria establishelhternal Control —Integrated Framewol
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatadrtke Treadway Commission ("COSO"). As permitbgdguidance provided by the si
of the SEC, the scope of management's assessménteofal control over financial reporting as of d@eber 28, 2013 has excluded
operations of CRI Tolling, LLC, from its assessmehinternal controls over financial reporting asiecember 28, 2013, because CRI
acquired by the Company, through its whadlned subsidiary CRI Tolling, in August 2013. CRilling constituted 0.8% of consolidated
sales for the year ended December 28, 2013, aftl df 2onsolidated total assets as of December@83.2

Based on this evaluation, management believestiltatCompany's internal control over financial rejpgr as of December 28, 2013 \
effective.

The Company's independent registered public acoayiitm that audited the Company's consolidatedricial statements included in 1
annual report has issued an attestation repoti@eftectiveness of the Company's internal comtvel financial reporting.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders
Synalloy Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balaheets of Synalloy Corporation and subsidigtles “Company”)as of December 28, 20
and December 29, 2012, and the related consolids¢eiments of operations, shareholders’ equitycast flows for each of the years in the thyear
period ended December 28, 2013. We also have dutltiee Companyg internal control over financial reporting as ofde@mber 28, 2013, based
criteria established irnternal Control-Integrated Framework (19923sued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatiohghe Treadws
Commission (“COSO”). The Comparsymanagement is responsible for these consoliditadcial statements, for maintaining effectiveeimia
control over financial reporting, and for its assaent of the effectiveness of internal control ofieancial reporting, included in the accompan:
Managemens Annual Report on Internal Control Over Finan&alporting. Our responsibility is to express an mpiron these consolidated finan
statements and an opinion on the Company’s inteoratol over financial reporting based on our gidi

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstais of the Public Company Accounting OversighafBoUnited States). Those standards re
that we plan and perform the audits to obtain nealle assurance about whether the consolidatedcielastatements are free of material misstate
and whether effective internal control over finahcieporting was maintained in all material respe@ur audits of the consolidated finan
statements included examining, on a test basideaee supporting the amounts and disclosures iodhsolidated financial statements, assessir
accounting principles used and significant estisiateade by management, and evaluating the overadlotidated financial statement presentation.
audit of internal control over financial reportimgluded obtaining an understanding of internaltegrover financial reporting, assessing the riskt t
material weakness exists, and testing and evafugtimdesign and operating effectiveness of intermatrol based on the assessed risk. Our audit
included performing such other procedures as wesidered necessary in the circumstances. We betfieteour audits provide a reasonable basi
our opinions.

A companys internal control over financial reporting is aogess designed to provide reasonable assuranceliregahe reliability of financit
reporting and the preparation of financial statetmidor external purposes in accordance with acdéogrgrinciples generally accepted in the Un
States of America. A comparsyinternal control over financial reporting inclgdinose policies and procedures that (1) pertathéanaintenance
records that, in reasonable detail, accurately faimty reflect the transactions and dispositionstttd assets of the company; (2) provide reaso
assurance that transactions are recorded as necésggermit preparation of financial statementsatordance with accounting principles gene
accepted in the United States of America, and rihaipts and expenditures of the company are beeue only in accordance with authorization
management and directors of the company; and (B)ige reasonable assurance regarding preventitimely detection of unauthorized acquisiti
use, or disposition of the company’s assets thaltldoave a material effect on the financial statetsie

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or d¢tisstatements. Also, projections of any evadun
of effectiveness to future periods are subjech®risk that controls may become inadequate beaafuskanges in conditions, or that the degre
compliance with the policies or procedures may rimiate.

As described in Management’s Annual Report on hakeControl over Financial Reporting, the Compangianagement has excluded CRI Toll
LLC (“CRI"), from its assessment of internal controls over fai@reporting as of December 28, 2013, becausevzRlacquired by the Compan)
August 2013. We have also excluded CRI from theead our audit of internal control over financiaporting. CRI constituted 0.8% of consolidz
net sales for the year ended December 28, 20134.8f6 of consolidated total assets as of Decembe2@13.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial stateteereferred to above present fairly, in all materigspects, the financial position of Syna
Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 283 20l December 29, 2012, and the results of thpgrations and their cash flows for each of
years in the thre-year period ended December 28, 2013, in conformitly accounting principles generally accepted ia thited States of Americ
Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, inra#terial respects, effective internal control dweancial reporting as of December 28, 2013, b
on criteria established imternal Control-Integrated Framework (1998sued by COSO. Also, in our opinion, the relatedricial statement sched
listed in Item 15(a)2, when considered in relatiothe basic consolidated financial statementsrtasea whole, presents fairly in all material ress
the information set forth therein.

/ s/ Dixon Hughes Goodman LLP

Charlotte, North Carolina
March 11, 2014
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Item 9 Changes in and Disagreements with Accountaston Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None

Item 9A Controls and Procedures
Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Based on the evaluation required by 17 C.F.R. 8&e@#0.13a-15(b) or 240.18b(b) of the Company's disclosure controls and guaces (e
defined in 17 C.F.R. Sections 240.13a-15(e) and1B415(e)), the Company's chief executive officer ahigicfinancial officer concluded tr
such controls and procedures, as of the end gi¢hied covered by this annual report, were effectiv

Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Management's Annual Report on Internal Control ovigrancial Reporting is set forth at the conclusanthe Company's consolida
statements set forth in Item 8 of this FormKLOFhe scope of the Company's efforts to complyhwuiite Section 404 Rules with respect to fi
year 2013 included all of the Company's operatimthsr than the operations associated with the Aug1s2013 acquisition of substantially
of the assets of CRI. In accordance with the S|BpGHished guidance, because the Company acquiese thperations during the fiscal y
the Company excluded these operations from itstsfim comply with Section 404 Rules with respecfiscal year 2013. The Compan!
currently evaluating and documenting the intermadtmls over financial reporting at CRI and wilclade them in their internal control test
in 2014.

The Attestation Report of the Company's independegistered public accounting firm on the Compangternal control over financi
reporting is included in the Report of IndependRegistered Public Accounting Firm set forth in 1t8rof this Form 10-K.

There has been no change in the Company's inteonélol over financial reporting during the lastcfal quarter that has materially affectec
is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Caang's internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B Other Information

Not applicable

PART IlI

Item 10 Directors, Executive Officers and CorporateéGovernance

The information set forth under the captions "Psgd -Election of Directors," "Executive Officers," afilection 16(a) Beneficial Owners|
Reporting Compliance" in the Company's definitiveqy statement to be used in connection with itedal Meeting of Shareholder to be t
April 24, 2014 (the "Proxy Statement") is incorpedhherein by reference.

Code of Ethics. The Company's Board of Directors &@dopted a Code of Ethics that applies to the Goyip Chief Executive Officer, Ch
Financial Officer and corporate and divisional colérs. The Code of Ethics is available on the @any's website
www.synalloy.com Any amendment to, or waiver from, this Code dii&s will be posted on the Company's website.

Audit Committee. The Company has a separately datg standing Audit Committee of the Board of Bioes established in accordance \
Section 3(a)(58)(A) of the Securities Exchange #c1934. The members of the Audit Committee arehany A. Callander, Murray H. Wrig
and James W. Terry.

Audit Committee Financial Expert. The Company's iBloaf Directors has determined that the Company dtdgast one "audit commit
financial expert," as that term is defined by 1t467(d)(5) of Regulation 8-promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Cosiorisservin
on its Audit Committee. Mr. Anthony A. Callander etg the terms of the definition and is independastindependence is defined for a
committee members in the rules of the NASDAQ Glddalrket. Pursuant to the terms of Item 407(d) ofRation SK, a person who
determined to be an "audit committee financial eXp&ill not be deemed an expert for any purpose assult of being designated or identi
as an "audit committee financial expert" pursuanttém 407(d), and such designation or identifatdoes not impose on such person
duties, obligations or liability that are greatban the duties, obligations or liability imposed such person as a member of the A
Committee and Board of Directors in the absencaioh designation or identification. Further, theigeation or identification of a person a
"audit committee
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financial expert" pursuant to Iltem 407(d) doesaféegct the duties, obligations or liability of anther member of the Audit Committee or Bc
of Directors.

Item 11 Executive Compensation

The information set forth under the captions "Boafd Directors and Committees Compensation Committee Interlocks and Ins
Participation,” "Director Compensation,” "Discussiof Executive Compensation” and "Compensation Citteen Report" in the Pro;
Statement is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Omers and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The information set forth under the captions "Baialf Owners of More Than Five Percent of the ComymCommon Stock" and "Security
Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Managgfnia the Proxy Statement is incorporated by mefee.

Equity Compensation Plan Information. The followiadle sets forth aggregated information as of Dexr 28, 2013 about all of the
Company's equity compensation plans.

Number of
securities
remaining
Number of available for future
securities to be issuance under
issued upon equity
exercise of Weighted average compensation
outstanding exercise price of plans (excluding
options, warrants  outstanding options securities reflected
and rights warrants and rights  in column (a)) @
Plan Category (@) (b) (c)
Equity compensation plans approved by securitgdrsl 162,73t % 11.9¢ 412,33t
Equity compensation plans not approved by sechotglers — — —
Total 162,73t ¢ 11.9¢ 412,33t

(1) Represents shares remaining available for issuamder the 2005 Stock Awards Plan and the 2011

Non-employee directors are paid an annual retainedbf®0, and each director has the opportunityeotab receive 100% of the retaine
restricted stock. For 2013, n@mployee directors received an aggregate of $1280he annual retainer in restricted stock. Thenber o
restricted shares is determined by the averagkeohigh and low sale price of the Company's statkhe day prior to the Annual Meeting
Shareholders. For 2013, five nemployee directors each received an aggregatelbl $hares. Issuance of the shares granted tardutods it
not registered under the Securities Act of 1933 thedshares are subject to forfeiture in wholengpart upon the occurrence of certain ev
The above table does not reflect these sharesdissumn-employee directors.
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Item 13 Certain Relationships and Related Transactins

The information set forth under the captions "Boafdirectors and Committees — Related Party Tretimas" and "-Director Independenc
in the Proxy Statement is incorporated thereindfgrence.

Item 14 Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information set forth under the captions "Iretegent Registered Public Accounting Firnrees Paid to Independent Registered P
Accounting Firm" and "— Audit Committee Pre-Approva Audit and Permissible NoAudit Services of Independent Registered Pi

Accounting Firm" in the Proxy Statement is incomed herein by reference.
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PART IV

Item 15 Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a) The following documents are filed as a part of teigort
1. Financial Statements: The following consolidatedficial statements of Synalloy Corporation arevidet! in Part Il, Item !
Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 28, 2@llBerember 29, 2012
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the yeagded December 28, 2013, December 29, 2012 anehibes 31, 2011
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equitthfayears ended December 28, 2013, December 29,&@ December 31, 2011
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the yeaded December 28, 2013, December 29, 2012 anehiitess 31, 2011
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

2. Financial Statements Schedules: The following clidated financial statements schedule of SynalloypGration is included in Ite
15:

Schedule Il - Valuation and Qualifying Accounts fbe years ended December 28, 2013, December 29,&@ December 31, 2011

All other schedules for which provision is madethie applicable accounting regulations of the Séesrand Exchange Commiss
are not required under the related instructiorsrerinapplicable, and therefore have been omitted.

3. Listing of Exhibits
See "Exhibit Index"

Schedule Il Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

Column A Column B Column C Column D Column E
Balance at Charged to
Beginning of (Reduction of) Balance at End of
Description Period Cost and Expenses  Deductions Period

Year ended December 28, 2013
Deducted from asset account:
Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 1,313,000 $ (192,000 $ (42,000 $ 1,079,00

Year ended December 29, 2012
Deducted from asset account:
Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 1,203,000 $ 928,000 $ 818,00 $ 1,313,00!

Year ended December 31, 2011

Deducted from asset account:

Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 435,000 $ 793,000 $ 25,000 $ 1,203,00!
Charged to cost and expenses for 2012 is compoised

(1) the amount due from Palmer's prior owners @1$800 for the amount of pre-acquisition receivalietstanding at 120 days after
acquisition which were indemnified by the selleseg Note 1); and

(2) $107,000 charged against earnings.
Deductions represent uncollected accounts andtdveldinces written off against reserve, net of vedes.
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Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 16{dhe Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registhas duly caused this report tc
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theredatyp authorized.

SYNALLOY CORPORATION
By /s/ Craig C. Bram March 11. 2014
Craig C. Bram Date
Chief Executive Officer
By /s/ Richard D. Sieradzki
Richard D. Sieradzki March 11, 2014
Chief Financial Officer and Date
Principal Accounting Officer
Registrant

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bblpthe following persons on behalf of
Registrant and in the capacities and on the daieated.

By /s/ Carroll D. Vinson
Carroll D. Vinson
Chairman of the Board

By /s/ Anthony A. Callander
Anthony A. Callander
Director

By /s/ Murray H. Wright
Murray H. Wright
Director

By /s/ James W. Terry, Jr.
James W. Terry, Jr.
Director

By /s/ Henry L. Guy
Henry L. Guy

Director

By /s/ Craig C. Bram
Craig C. Bram

Chief Executive Officer and Director
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the period ended April 13, 2007
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Synalloy Corporation 1998 Long-Term Incentive St&t&n, incorporated by reference to the first qera2001 Form
10-Q
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Amendment 1 to the Synalloy Corporation 2005 Staelards Plan incorporated by reference to Registddrm 10-K
for the year ended December 29, 2007

2011 Long-Term Incentive Stock Option Plan, incogted by reference to Registrant's Proxy Statefioerthe 2011
Annual Meeting of Shareholders

2011 Short-Term Cash Incentive and Options Plarorpporated by reference to Registrant's Form 10+KHe year
ended December 31, 2011

2012 Short-Term Cash Incentive and Options Plamgrporated by reference to Registrant's Form 10+KHe year
ended December 29, 2012

2013 Short-Term Cash Incentive and Options Plan

Agreement between Registrant's Bristol Metals, IduBsidiary and the United Steelworkers of Amerioadl 4586,
dated December 10, 2010, incorporated by referenBegistrant's Form 10-K for the year ended Janlip011
Agreement between Registrant's Bristol Metals, lduBsidiary and the United Association of Journeyiaueh
Apprentices of the Plumbing and Pipe Fitting Indusif the United States and Canada Local Union338, dated
February 16, 2009, incorporated by reference tadRegt's Form 10-K for the year ended January0112

Agreement between Registrant's Bristol Metals, lduBsidiary and the Teamsters Local Union No. 548diMarch 5,
2010, incorporated by reference to Registrant'snFB-K for the year ended January 1, 2011

Loan Agreement, dated as of June 30, 2010, bet®Regristrant and Branch Banking and Trust (“BB&TT)¢orporated
by reference to Registrant's Form 10-K for the yaated January 1, 2011

First Amendment to First Amended and Restated lAgmneement, dated August 21, 2012, between Regtstrah
Branch Banking and Trust ("BB&T"), incorporated bsference to Registrant's Form 10-K for the yealeenDecember
29, 2012

First Amendment to First Amended and Restated lAgreement, dated October 22, 2012, between Reugisiral
Branch Banking and Trust (“BB&T"), incorporated bsference to Registrant's Form 10-K for the yealeenDecember
29, 2012

Second Amendment to First Amended and Restated Agegement, dated August 9, 2013, between Regtstrah
Branch Banking and Trust ("BB&T")

Third Amendment to First Amended and Restated LAgneement, dated January 2, 2014, between Redistnan
Branch Banking and Trust ("BB&T")

Employment Agreement dated January 24, 2011, betRegistrant and Craig C. Bram, incorporated bgregice to
Registrant's Form 10-K for the year ended Janua2p11

Amended Employment Agreement dated January 24, 2@t®een Registrant and Craig C. Bram, incorpdrbte
reference to Registrant's Form 10-K for the yeaedrnDecember 31, 2011

Amended Employment Agreement dated January 24, 2#t®&een Registrant and Craig C. Bram, incorpdrbte
reference to Registrant's Form 10-K for the yeaedrDecember 29, 2012

Amended Employment Agreement dated June 1, 201&gke Registrant and Craig C. Bram, incorporateceligrence
to Registrant's Form 8-K for the filed June 28,201
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10.2( Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of August 2, 20nong Jimmie Dean Lee, James Varner, Stev@iBtate and
Synalloy Corporation, incorporated by referenc®égistrant's Form 8-K filed on August 24, 2012

10.2] Modification, Renewal, Increase and RestatemeRrofmissory Note dated January 2, 2014, betweersRegi and
Branch Banking and Trust ("BB&T")

21 Subsidiaries of the Registrant
23 Consent of Dixon Hughes Goodman LLP, independegistered public accounting firm for Registrant
31.1 Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certifications of ChiekEutive Officer
31.z Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of the Chi@fancial Officer
32 Certifications Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350
101.INS* XBRL Instance Document
101.SCH* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema
101.CAL* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase
101.LAB* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase

* In accordance with Regulation S-T, the XBRL-relatgdrmation in Exhibit 101 to this Annual Report Borm 10-K
shall be deemed “furnished" and not “filed."
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1.

SYNALLOY CORPORATION
2013 ShortTerm Cash Incentive and Options Plan

Purpose This Short-Term Cash Incentive and Options Ptae (Incentive Plan”)is intended to provide key executive employee
Synalloy Corporation (the “Companyiyhich term shall include Synalloy Corporation amay eof its affiliates or subsidiaries) 1
opportunity to participate in the Compasyprofitability, future prosperity and growth. Tharpose of the Incentive Plan is to provide <
and longterm incentive for gain through outstanding sentwéhe Company and its shareholders, and to ass#tracting and retainil
executives of ability and initiative.

Administration. The Incentive Plan shall be administered by tleen@anys Compensation & Long Term Incentive Committee
“Committee”). The same restrictions set forth ie tBompany’s 2011 Long-Term Incentive Stock OptitenRthe “Stock Option Plai,’
previously approved by the CompasyBoard of Directors and shareholders, applicabl€dmmittee members shall also apply undel
Incentive Plan. To the extent this Incentive Plifeds from or is inconsistent with the Stock OptiBlan, the terms and provisions of
Stock Option Plan shall govern. The Committee dhalle complete authority and discretion to interpheprovisions of this Incentive Pl
consistent with law and the Stock Option Plan, respribe the form of instruments evidencing thelstptions that may be granted ur
this Incentive Plan and pursuant to the Stock @pRtan, to adopt, amend, and rescind general agciadpules and regulations for
administration, and to make all other determinatioecessary or advisable for the administratioth@fincentive Plan. No member of
Committee shall be liable for any action or deterattion in respect thereto, if made in good faitig ahall be entitled to indemnification
the Company with respect to all matters arisingnfriois service on the Committee to the fullest ext#lowable under the Compasy’
charter documents and applicable law.

Eligibility . Any salaried employee of the Company who in tldgment of the Committee occupies a managementigogi which his @
her efforts contribute to the profit and growthtieé Company may be eligible to participate in theehtive Plan. The named participant
this Incentive Plan shall be recommended by thesidiv Presidents and the CEO, and approved by timendittee. The key metric usec
measure management performance in a particulasidivior the Company as a whole, as the case maig bet income before incot
taxes or “NIBIT” as more fully described in the Cpamy’s Proxy Statement. The NIBIT target ranges desgritezein are derived from {
Company’s annual budget approved by the ComaByard of Directors and are exclusive of and dated prior to allocation of the ce
and stock option incentives payable to all exeastiparticipating in the Incentive Plan. Exhibitdthis Incentive Plan, as may be amer
from time to time by the Committee, sets forth #mmual NIBIT target range and named participaassigned percentage of the cash
stock option incentives. The Committee, upon recematation from the Compars/'CEO, shall have the discretion to determine tai
extent, if any, persons employed on a part-timeomsulting basis will be eligible to participatetire Incentive Plan.

Cash Incentive Pool At the beginning of the year, for each division¢luding Corporate, the division Presidents wilkmtify the
executives who they recommend to participate inhedizision’s cash incentive pool with input from the CEO, ahd CEO wil
recommend the executives who will participate ia @orporate divisio' cash incentive pool. Additionally, each recomnezhgarticipar
will be allocated a percentage of the divismash incentive pool. The recommended allocatiaiishe completed at the beginning
each year by the division Presidents, with inpud aeview from the CEO. The CEO will prepare theoramended allocation for t
Corporate division. These recommendations will bensitted to the Committee no later than two weetisrgo the February Board
Director's meeting. The Committee will review and approweead or reject the recommendations of the divi§logsidents and the CE
The CEQ's incentive calculation will be handled aeely from the Corporate division and will be eapyed by the Committee.

A. NIBIT Allocations. At the beginning of each year, the Company’s BazfrDirectors will approve the upcoming yeabudget th:
shall include the NIBIT target range for each diisand for the Company as a whole (each, a “TdRgetge”). The applicable Targ
Range for each division, as approved by the Boafirectors, is set forth on Exhibit Attached hereto. Each division cash incel
pool shall equal a designated percentage of NIBHiewed by that division, or in the case of the @@oate division, achieved by 1
Company as a whole. Upon the division PresidendsGiBO’s recommendation, the Committee will establishpgbicentage of NIBI
that will comprise the cash incentive pool for eadfision and the Company as a whole (each, anetitice Pool Percentageyhe
applicable Incentive Pool Percentages for eachsidivi are set forth below. Each Target Range witlude three levels wi
corresponding Incentive Pool Percentages: (i) Belanget; (i) On Target; and, (iii) Above Target.héfever NIBIT falls (Belo
Target, On Target, or Above Target), the IncenBe®l Percentage for that applicable Target Randleapply to all dollars of prof
beginning with the first dollar, computed using #pplicable Incentive Pool Percentage.

B. Cash Incentive Pool Percentages (excludingntorg adjustmentsyee Exhibits A and B attached hereto for completaits.




Division Below Target On Target Above Target

General Metals Segment 1.50% 3.50% 5.50%
K. Pennington - Metals Segment 1.00% 1.50% 2.00%
Palmer 2.50% 5.00% 7.00%
MCC 2.50% 5.00% 7.50%
Corporate 1.25% 2.00% 3.00%
CEO 1.00% 2.00% 2.75%

C. Downward Adjustments to the Cash Incentive P&ach division President, upon approval by the ClEA3 the authority to reduce
individual executives cash incentive bonus for material underperforrmaagainst personal goals. Additionally, at the apec
division level, the Corporate division level and fbe CEO and other Company executives that maigdmtified individually, eac
cash incentive pool may be reduced for poor perémee in two areas as detailed below: Safety anehtavy Turns.

i. For every lost time accident during the year, thghcincentive pool for that division will be reddday 5%. The cash incentive p
for the Corporate division and the CEO will be reeld as well by taking the division with the largesmber of lost time accidel
and multiplying the number of lost time accidentses 5. For example, if BRISMET has the largest benof accidents at 3, th
the Corporate division and the CEO’s cash incentiv@ will be reduced by 15%.

ii. An inventory turn target will be established fockalivision, where applicable, and will be setliooh_Exhibit A. These inventol
turn targets will be established by the CEO andsitim Presidents and approved by the Committehelfinventory turns come
less than the target, the applicable divissonash incentive pool shall be reduced by 10%hédf ihventory turns for the ent
company are less than the targeted inventory tuhesy the cash incentive pool for the Corporatésdim and the CEO will k

reduced by 10% as well.

D. Inventory Profits or LossesThe NIBIT calculations shall exclude any inveptprofits or losses applicable to the BRISMET dion
as set forth in this section. NIBIT calculations fbe BRISMET division will be reduced on a dolfar dollar basis by the amount
inventory profits in that division, and the appriape Target Range will be selected based on sutticesl NIBIT calculation. Likewis
NIBIT calculations for the BRISMET division will bincreased on a dollar for dollar basis by the amhaif inventory losses in tk
division. The Committee will determine the corr@eirget Range before inventory losses are addedtbaitle NIBIT calculation ar
the correct Target Range after inventory lossesadded back to the NIBIT calculation. Under no winstances shall any applica
executive move more than one Target Range as b oéshis inventory loss add back. For examplegh#& CEO is in the Below Targ
Range before inventory losses are added back,matieiAbove Target Range after inventory lossesadded back, the CEO shall
permitted to move up one Target Range only intoQheTarget Range. The CEO shall not be permittetignexample to move up t
Target Ranges into the Above Target Range.




Stock Options (Londerm Incentives) To the extent stock options are available underStock Option Plan previously approved by
shareholders, stock options of Company stock velidsued as provided herein. All terms, conditiand restrictions set forth in the St
Option Plan shall apply to any and all stock opgidssued pursuant to this Incentive Plan. Thosewies eligible to receive bor
payments from the cash incentive pool under thigtive Plan Stock options are eligible to recestaxk options. Stock options will
issued in only those years where On Target or Abarget NIBIT is achieved in a particular divisiar, Company as a whole, depenc
upon the position of a particular executive. Naktoptions will be issued when NIBIT is Below Tatge

Stock Options ScheduleStock options shall be granted based on the sthdublow. The percentages set forth below reptes
percentage of each particular executive’s baseys@la., base salary exclusive of bonuses) foryier under consideration.

Position Below Target On Target Above Target
CEO —% 25.00% 37.50%
CFO —% 25.00% 30.00%
DIV PRES/GM —% 20.00% 30.00%
SEC/HR —% 15.00% 22.50%
Others —% 10.00% 15.00%

Mid-Year Acquisition AdjustmentsThe Company, from time to time, may acquire aepthusiness or operating division nyidar, whicl
acquisition will not be budgeted or accounted fortie Target Ranges that are established at thimrheg of the fiscal year. Upt
consultation with the CEO and division Presidetits, Committee shall amend the applicable TargegBaito account for any and all mid-
year acquisitions. Specifically, the Committee witidate the applicable Target Ranges to accourthépr«-forma NIBIT expected froi
each acquisition for the remainder of the curresderdar year. The Company’s practice is to allocateudgeted ontme expense
associated with a mid-year acquisition to the Craf®o division only. In determining the actual yead NIBIT calculation for tF
Corporate division and the CEO, the Committee adll back the ontime costs associated with each acquisition incudwring the ye:
in question but not previously budgeted. The amadfrdnetime expenses to be added back will be approvethdyCommittee and w
include only those expenses that were incurreddiseat result of completing the acquisition. I thvent these orténe expenses exte
from one calendar year to the next, the accrueetiome expenses associated with the acquisition feash year will be added back to
applicable year's NIBIT calculations for the Coratar division and the CEO.

General ProvisionsNeither the adoption of this Incentive Plan rterdperation, nor any document describing or rafgrto this Incentiv
Plan, or any part thereof, shall confer upon anplegee any right to continue in the employ of thav@any or any subsidiary, or shal
any way affect the right and power of the Companietminate the employment of any employee at ang tith or without assigning
reason therefor to the same extent as the Compaght hrave done if this Incentive Plan had not badopted. In light of the importance
promoting long-term relationships and a ldlegmn commitment to the ongoing success of the Compa order to receive any payment
stock options under this Plan, an employee mustrhployed by the Company on the last day of theiegqiple fiscal year; provide
however, that if termination of employment occussaaresult of death, disability (unable to work 1@ consecutive months), or retirerr
(with a minimum of 5 years of employment with then@pany), payment of the cash bonus and/or the gfamitions will be determined
otherwise provided in this Incentive Plan but shmdl prorated to reflect that portion of the pri@ay in which the employee was
employee of the Company. Eligible employees muse lentered into a confidentiality and noompetition agreement in a form accept
to the CEO of the Company in order to receive amyeffits under this Incentive Plan. Payments untderlhcentive Plan will be made
or about March 15th of the year following the Comga fiscal year end. This Incentive Plan shall beegogd by the laws of the state
South Carolina.

Duration and Amendment of the Incentive Pldimless previously terminated by the Committee, Iticentive Plan shall be effective
the fiscal year specified in the Incentive Plane Tommittee may alter, amend, or terminate thigndtige Plan, including any exhik
attached hereto, at any time. Any stock optionstgih prior to the termination of this Incentive #Plshall remain valid thereafter
accordance with their terms and the Stock Optiam Pl




BB&T

SECOND AMENDMENT
TO
FIRST AMENDED AND RESTATED LOAN AGREEMENT

9520406872
Account Number

This Second Amendment to First Amended and Restatad Agreement (this “Amendment”) is made asAafjust 9, 2013by and amon
BRANCH BANKING AND TRUST COMPANY , a North Carolina banking corporation (“Bankid the following entities (collectively, t
“Borrowers”):

Synalloy Corporation , a Delaware corporation (“Synalloy”);

Metchem, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Metchem”);

Synalloy Fabrication, LLC, a South Carolina limited liability company (formgramed SFR, LLC) (“Synalloy Fabrication”);

Ram-Fab, LLC , a South Carolina limited liability company (“Rarab”);

Synalloy Metals, Inc., a Tennessee corporation (“Synalloy Metals”);

Bristol Metals, LLC , a Tennessee limited liability company (“Bristgl”)

Manufacturers Soap & Chemical Company, a Tennessee corporation (“Manufacturers Soap”);

Manufacturers Chemicals, LLC , a Tennessee limited liability company (“Manufaens Chemicals”); and

Palmer of Texas Tanks, Inc.a Texas corporation (“Palmer”);

Syntrans, LLC , a Texas limited liability company (“Syntrans™na

CRI Tolling, LLC , a South Carolina limited liability company (“CRolling”)
for purposes of amending (without novation, accood satisfaction) certain aspects and provisionthefFirst Amended and Restated L
Agreement dated as of August 21, 2012; as adjdioedld Palmer pursuant to the Palmer Joinder Ageeenated as of August 21, 2012
the among the parties hereto; and as amendeddat efftemporary extension of the amount availableet drawn under the revolving Line
Credit pursuant to the First Amendment to First Aded and Restated Loan Agreement dated as of Gckhe2012 (all of the foregoil
sequentially, cumulatively and collectively, theddn Agreement”).

Recitals

In addition to the Term Loan and the Revolving Litlee Borrowers have requested the Bank and th& Bas agreed, subject to the term
this Amendment to (a) extend a new term loan tdBhowers (the “CRI Acquisition Loan'lh the principal amount of $4,033,250; (b) am
the definition of “EBITDA” in the Loan Agreement; and (c) provide for certather matters as set forth herein. The purposédefGR

Acquisition Loan shall be to facilitate the acqtiisi by Synalloy of the real estate known as thd [@Rd and building, and by CRI Tolling
equipment assets of CRI along with related closivgfs and expenses (collectively, the “CRI Acqigsiy.

Agreement

Section 1. Defined Terms from Loan Agreement

Capitalized terms used in this Amendment withoutiniteon retain (except, to the extent applicabéess amended hereby) the mean
respectfully assigned to such terms in the LoareAgrent.
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SECOND AMENDMENT
TO
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Section 2. Recitals and Loan Agreement Incorporatetierein by Reference

Each and all of opening paragraphs, the Recitiseraents, information and other provisions of thigeement above constitute an inte
part of this Amendment among the parties and abetoonsidered binding upon the parties notwitttitantheir being underneath the heau
“Recitals” above. In addition, the statements, recitals, tegosditions and agreements of and in the Loan émgent are hereby incorpora
herein by this reference thereto as if set fortteimein full.

Section 3. CRI Acquisition Term Loan

(&) Generall

(b)

()

(d)

At the request of the Borrowers and for the purpas®d as contemplated by the Recitals above, thk 8aes hereby exte
the CRI Acquisition Loan to the Borrowers as a able rate term loan in the principal amount of $3,250. The Borrowes’
obligations to repay the CRI Acquisition Loan amterest and other matters shall be evidenced bytreowers’ promissory not
nominated as the BB&T Promissory Note dated the déthis Amendment in the original principal amboh$4,033,250 (theCRI
Acquisition Loan Note”)and maturing August 1, 2023, when the entire ungmidcipal balance then outstanding on the
Acquisition Loan under the CRI Acquisition Loan Mqilus accrued interest thereon shall be paidlin fu

Advances

The CRI Acquisition Loan shall be advanced to tloerBwers in two (2) installments as more partidylaet forth herein.

0] The first advance shall be in the amount of $3@@5,0on the date hereof to finance the real propgotyion of the CF
Acquisition. This first advance shall be made te&lpy for this purpose, provided that all Borrovetiall nonetheless be ¢
remain joint and several co-Borrowers as to sustaack notwithstanding that this advance is madytwlloy only.

(i) The second advance shall be in the balance amd 848,250 on a date not later than September GD3 2o finance tt
equipment portion of the CRI Acquisition (togetlaad as evidenced by the CRI Acquisition Loan Ntite,"CRI Acquisitior
Loan Advances”)This first advance shall be made to CRI Tollingragon behalf of the Borrowers for this purposeviec
that all Borrower shall nonetheless be and renwiint pnd several cBorrowers as to such advance notwithstanding tiig
advance is made to CRI Tolling only.

As a“Loar’ and“Note’ Under the Existing Loan Docume

The CRI Acquisition Loan shall, along with the Tetroan and the Line of Credit, constitute a “Lodot purposes of the Lo
Agreement and the Loan Documents (collectively watiy other “Loans’now or hereafter applicable thereunder). All of
obligations of the Borrowers, whether of paymenperformance, under the Line of Credit, the Ternai,ahe CRI Acquisition Loz
and any additional Loans, all notes or other imagnts evidencing the same, the Loan AgreementAitmendment, the other Lo
Documents constitute the joint and several oblayetiof the Borrowers in nature secured and enjofirgassurances, guaranties
all other benefits of the Loan Documents. To theeixnecessary to effectuate the foregoing, thenl&greement and each of the Li
Documents are hereby amended as necessautatis mutandis consistent with the foregoing and all other mattget forth in thi
Amendment.

Good and Sufficient Consideration

Each of the Borrower acknowledges and agrees ligatxtension by the Bank to the Borrowers, borrgwon a joint an
several basis, of each of the Term Loan, the Lin€redit and the CRI Acquisition Loan, is for thdlfand complete betterment
each of the other Borrowers due to the same bairfgrtherance of their enterprises as an entiraty their entity, commercial a
other relationships and affiliations. The foregoiognstitutes good and valuable consideration fer lorrowing by each of t
Borrowers of such Loans and the Borrowers to herepyesent and warrant as such to the Bank acggydin

Section 4. Conditions Precedent
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SECOND AMENDMENT
TO
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(@) _Closing and Initial CRI Acquisition Loard®ance for Real Property

The closing of the extension of the CRI Acquisitiboan and the extension of the first of the two GRiquisition Loal
Advances (for real property) shall be conditionpdmuthe receipt by the Bank of all items and thesfsection of all conditions set fol
in the commitment letter agreement (the “Commitmegtter”) from and between the Bank and the Borrowers datgdl®, 2013, a
in form and content satisfactory to the Bank, idahg without limitation the following:

USA Patriot Act Verification Information: Information or documentation, including but notilied to the legal name, address,
identification number, drives' license, and date of birth (if the Borrower isiradividual) of the Borrowers sufficient for the Blato
verify the identity of the Borrowers in accordameigh the USA Patriot Act. Borrowers shall notify Bapromptly of any change in
such information.

Note(s): The Note(s) evidencing the Loans(s) duly execuiethb Borrowers.

Security Agreement(s): Security Agreement(s) in which Borrowers and anleotowner (a “Debtor”)of personal proper
collateral shall grant to Bank a first priority seity interest in the tangible and intangible pe@doproperty specified therein.
Bank has or will have a security interest in anlfateral which is inferior to the security interestanother creditor, Borrowers m
fully disclose to Bank any and all such securitierasts, and Bank must specifically approve any security interest which w
continue during the Loan.)

Mortgages: First and exclusive mortgage (the “Mortgaget) the CRI Property, subject only to such liens andumbrances
shall be permitted by the Bank in writing. The Bastlall be provided (a) a current survey of the €Riperty; and (b) such ott
information and documentation of the CRI Propesgyte Bank may request.

Negative Pledge AgreementNo pledge agreement on the CRI Property.

UCC Financing Statements:To the extent not already in place, copies of UG@ikcing Statements duly filed in Borrowers’
other owners state of incorporation, organization or residersg® in all jurisdictions necessary, or in thenigi of the Ban
desirable, to perfect the security interests guhritethe Security Agreement(s), and certified cepid Information Reques
identifying all previous financing statements omaw for the Borrowers or other owner, as apprae@rieom all jurisdiction
indicating that no security interest has previolmsgn granted in any of the collateral describetiénSecurity Agreement(s), unl
prior approval has been given by the Bank.

Corporate Resolution: Entity resolutions duly adopted by each of the Bwemrs authorizing the execution, delivery,
performance of this Amendment, the CRI Acquisitiman Note and any other applicable Loan Documemtsran a form provide
by or acceptable to Bank.

Articles of Incorporation: A copy of the Articles of Incorporation and all ethcharter documents of each of Synalloy, Metc
Synalloy Metals, Manufacturers Soap and Palmerfilgitl with and certified by the Secretary of Statkthe State of ea
corporations incorporation.

By-Laws: A copy of the Bykaws of Synalloy, Metchem, Synalloy Metals, Mantfaers Soap and Palmer, certified by
Secretary of each corporation as to their compésteiand accuracy.

Declaration of Limited Liability Company : A declaration or resolution from the members/nugna of Synalloy Fabricatic
Ram+ab, Bristol and Manufacturers Chemicals authogizire execution, delivery, and performance of tbarLDocuments on
in a form provided by or acceptable to Bank.

Articles of Organization : A copy of the Articles of Organization and alhet organizational documents of Synalloy Fabricg
Ram#ab, Bristol and Manufacturers Chemicals, all fiwdh and certified by the Secretary of State ofhedimited liability
companies organization.

Operating Agreement : A copy of the Operating Agreement of Synalloy kedtion, RamFab, Bristol and Manufacture
Chemicals, certified by each limited liability coampes members/managers as to its completenessamdey.
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Certificate of Incumbency: A certificate of the Secretary or members/managérhe Borrowers certifying the names and
signatures of the officers or members/managerseoBorrowers authorized to sign the Loan Documents.

Certificate of Existence: A certification of the Secretary of State (or otlggwvernment authority) of the State of the Borrasiver
Incorporation or Organization as to the existencgamd standing of the Borrowers and their chadteruments on file.

Opinion of Counsel: An opinion of counsel for the Borrowers satisfagttr the Bank and the Bank’s counsel.

Assignment of Life Insurance Policy(ies)To the extent not already on file with the Banle #ssignment of life insurance policy
(ies) as collateral in the approximate amount ofo$@,000 by an insurance company acceptable toBHre, covering th
individuals with respect to which policies are mnetly assigned to the Bank and such additionalviddals as the Bank m
reasonably request.

Additional Documents: Receipt by the Bank of other approvals, opiniomgjacuments as the Bank may reasonably request.

(b) Closing and Initial CRI Acquisition Loand#&ance for Equipment

The extension of the second of the two CRI Acquisit.oan Advances (for equipment) shall be condiid upon (i) th
satisfaction of the conditions referenced in Sectd¢a) above; and (ii) the receipt by the Bank lbftams and the satisfaction of
conditions as follows, all in form and content skictory to the Bank: The second such CRI Acquisitioan Advance shall be me
in a single advance in the amount of $548,250 data on or prior to September 30, 2013 and eactoer represents, warrants :
agrees that it shall satisfy the following condigdor the extension of such second CRI Acquisitioan Advance on or prior to st
date: Prior to the making by the Bank to the Borwswof such second of the two CRI Acquisition Ldalvances (for equipment), t
Bank shall have been furnished (a) copies of onmane bills of sale from CRI to CRI Tolling settifigrth in reasonable detail t
equipment being transferred to CRI Holding; (b)tsequipment shall constitute substantially allle# equipment located at the (
Project on the date hereof and be such as to etf@I@RI Project to continue in operations as aoptated by the Borrowers and
such additional assurances as the Bank may redgaeajpire (such as evidence of insurance, etcyy@sdd the Bank for comparal
equipment purchase credit facilities.

Section 5. Amendment to Definition of “EBITDA”

The sentence in the first indented paragraph ofi@eé of the Loan Agreement, defining the term TEBA” is hereby restated toead a
follows:

EBITDA is defined as the sum of (a) net incomedoch period plus (b) an amount which, in the defteation of net income for su
period, has been deducted for (i) interest expéinstuding the interest component under capitatéeabligations) (ii) total feder.
state and other income taxes (iii) depreciation amertization expense and (iv) nogcurring acquisition expenses, all as detern
with GAAP.

Any references to “EBITDA"set forth in the Loan Agreement, the other Loan uboents and any related agreement, instrumentg;
document or other papers shall henceforth be deamethidedmutatis mutandisto reflect the above revision.

Section 6. Swaps.
(@) Section 8.09 of the Loan Agreement is her&lsyated to read as follows:

8.09 Should an Event of Default, Termination Evensimilar event or condition (howsoever nominatedgur under ar
Swap Agreement(s).

(b) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the hoagreement, any Guaranty or any other Loan Docuijren person ¢
entity that does not qualify as an Eligible ContrBarticipant (as defined in the Commodity ExchaAgg as amended)
does not otherwise qualify as an indirect propr&iip pursuant to the rules of the Commodity FiguFeading Commissic
shall be deemed a party to any guaranty of any Svgapement
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with the Bank entered into or modified on or affmtober 12, 2012, and shall not be liable for amgisobligations to BB&
arising from such Swap Agreement. Such exclusiall slave no effect on any other obligations of aogh person or ent
to BB&T under this Guaranty.

Section 7. SecurityFor the avoidance of doubt, all of the obligatiaishe Borrowers, whether of payment or performanceler the Line «
Credit, the Term Loan, the CRI Acquisition Loan amy additional Loans shall be and continue follaypihe effectiveness of this Amendmr
to be (along with the other obligations referentieerein), secured by and enjoying the benefitshef pledges, mortgages, deeds of t
collateral and other matters and security set famttthe Loan Documents, including without limitatidghe Mortgages and the Secu
Agreement and the other agreements, instrumelitgsfiand other papers set forth_on Attachmetat this Amendment.

Section 8. Bringdown of Representations and Warranmgs. The Borrowers represent and warrant to Bank theimeed accuracy ai
completeness, as of the date hereof, of all reptadens made in the Loan Documents (including authlimitation Section 2 of the Lo
Agreement) and as to Palmer the same by virtudh@fRalmer Joinder Agreement referenced above,d¢akio account this Amendme
constituting one of the Loan Documents.

Section 9. Feeln consideration for the matters set forth in thimendment, the Borrowers shall pay to the Bankie@mporaneously with tl
date hereof, a one-time fee in the amount of 20266

Section 10. Indemnification

The Borrowers hereby jointly and severally agreartd do hereby indemnify and defend the Bank fitkades, their successors and assigns
their respective directors, officer, employees ahdreholders, and do hereby hold each of them basnifom and against, any loss, liabi
lawsuit, proceeding, cost expense or damage (imguckasonable ilouse and outside counsel fees, whether suit isghtoor not) arisin
from or otherwise relating to the closing, disbunsat, administration, or repayment of the CRI Asgiion Loan and the othe